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PART I
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 under
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include statements
with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, assumptions, estimates, intentions and future performance, and involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may be beyond our control, and which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that
could be forward-looking statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements through our use of words such as “may,” “can,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “should,”
“indicate,” “would,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “expect,” “seek,” “estimate,” “continue,” “plan,” “point to,” “project,” “predict,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “potential” and
other similar words and expressions of the future.
There are a number of important factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement made by us. These factors
include, but are not limited to:
•our history of operating losses;
•our current and future capital requirements and our ability to satisfy our capital needs;
•our ability to complete required clinical trials of our product candidates and obtain approval from the FDA or other regulatory agents in different jurisdictions;
•our ability to internally develop new product candidates, intellectual property, and other product candidates we may acquire and/or license;
•our ability to maintain or protect the validity of our patents and other intellectual property;
•our ability to retain key executive members;
•the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, including on our clinical development plans and timelines;
•interpretations of current laws and the passages of future laws;
•acceptance of our business model by investors;
•the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses and capital requirements; and
•our ability to adequately support growth.
The foregoing does not represent an exhaustive list of matters that may be covered by the forward-looking statements contained herein or risk factors that we are faced with that
may cause our actual results to differ from those anticipate in our forward-looking statements. Please see “Risk Factors” for additional risks which could adversely impact our
business and financial performance.
All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary notice. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date of this report or the date of the document incorporated by reference into this report. We have no obligation, and expressly disclaim
any obligation, to update, revise or correct any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. We have expressed our
expectations, beliefs and projections in good faith and we believe they have a reasonable basis. However, we cannot assure you that our expectations, beliefs or projections will
result or be achieved or accomplished.
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Item 1. BUSINESS
All references in this report to “Corbus,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” mean Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless we state otherwise, or
the context otherwise indicates.
Overview
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (the “Company” or “Corbus”) is focused on the development of immune modulators that will have application in disease states spanning
from immuno-oncology to fibrosis. Corbus’ current pipeline includes anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies that block activation of TGFβ and small molecules that activate or
inhibit the endocannabinoid system. The company plans to expand its pipeline in immuno-oncology through internal efforts and business development.
The pipeline includes the following programs:
1.Anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) for the treatment of cancer and fibrosis that inhibit the activation of Transforming growth factor β (TGFβ). CRB-601 is an
anti-αvβ8 mAb being developed as a potential treatment for solid tumors in combination with existing therapies, including checkpoint inhibitors. The solid tumor program
is scheduled for an IND submission to the FDA in the first half of 2023. CRB-602 is a discovery stage anti-αvβ6/αvβ8 mAb currently being explored in disease
indications including oncology and fibrosis.
2.Second generation cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1) inverse agonists designed to treat obesity and related metabolic diseases. In animal models of diet-induced
obesity, our compounds induce weight loss both as a monotherapy and in combination with a GLP-1 receptor agonist. The program is progressing through preclinical
studies and regulatory pathway evaluation.
3.Lenabasum, a novel, synthetic, oral molecule that selectively activates cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2). We completed a Phase 3 study in dermatomyositis in June
2021 which did not meet its primary endpoint. We expect topline data from the National Institutes of Health-sponsored Phase 2 study of lenabasum in systemic lupus
erythematosus in the first half of 2022. The Company does not plan to conduct additional clinical studies for Lenabasum and will seek licensing partners to fund future
development.

CORBUS PIPELINE
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Our Business Development Strategy
Our goal is to develop novel therapies focusing on the nexus between immune regulated processes and cancer. To achieve this we are focused on the following key strategies:
•Initiate a clinical program in immuno-oncology for CRB-601 in the first half of 2023. We will evaluate strategic partnerships in indications and geographies where we
believe the partner can add significant development and commercialization capabilities.
•Expand our immuno-oncology pipeline through a business development acquisition strategy.
The Company is focused on developing therapies targeting “immune resistant cancers” which are marked by an absent dialogue between the cancer cell and the immune cells
that are normally responsible for tumor cell detection and destruction. In the setting of immune resistance cancers, activated T cells are unable to exert their influence on cancer
cells and currently approved immunotherapy is ineffective. Corbus will focus on therapeutic targets that block the recruitment of cells that suppress immune surveillance,
therapies that overcome ineffective tumor specific antigen presentation, those that block the release of soluble factors that are immune suppressive and therapies that address
dysregulated immune check points.
Immuno-Oncology
Inhibiting TGFβ activation through anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies
We are developing CRB-601, an anti αvβ8 integrin blocking mAb for the treatment of various solid tumors (Figure 1). The Company in-licensed the intellectual property for
CRB-601 from Dr. Stephen Nishimura’s laboratory at the University of California, San Francisco.
The αvβ8 integrin is a key regulator of TGFβ that is coopted in many late-stage metastatic cancers to function as a pro-cancer cytokine. TGFβ is normally stored in the
extracellular matrix as an inactive latent pro-protein complex. TGFβis held in an inactive state in association with latency associate peptide (LAP) and is presented on cell
surfaces by latent transforming growth factor β binding proteins(e.g. LTBP1, GARP), these three components comprising the large latent complex (LLC). Upon binding of the
LAP-TGFβ complex to the αvβ8integrin TGFb is released and now capable of activating the TGFb receptor and the associated SMAD signaling pathway that leads to a related
transcription translation program of TGFb target genes. CRB-601 was specifically designed to bind at the TGFβ activation site on αvβ8 (Figure 1), thereby blocking αvβ8dependent activation.
TGFβ is a multifunctional cytokine involved in many cellular processes, including cell growth and differentiation, immune response, wound healing, and tissue repair. In
cancer, TGFβ mediates immune evasion (Figure 2) and plays a key role in promoting cancer cell growth and metastasis via its immunosuppressive effects in the tumor
microenvironment. TGFβ when overexpressed in the tumor milieu is linked to poor clinical outcomes and resistance to checkpoint inhibitors. Similarly, avb8 integrin appears to
be the only TGFβ activating integrin expressed on regulatory T-cells, highlighting the key contribution of this integrin to immunosuppression. As well, tumor cells can evade
host immunity by activating TGFb via integrin avb8. While checkpoint inhibitors (CPIs) have led to dramatic improvements in survival rates for certain cancer patients, there is
still a significant proportion of patients who do not respond to this class of medicine. It is the vision of Corbus to augment the effects of CPIs by regulating immunological
mechanisms that can be used to enhance sensitivity to CPIs or potentially even demonstrate monotherapy anti-tumor activity. This strategy is consistent with the proposed
mechanism of action of CRB-601 and provides an opportunity to modulate a well-established cancer target in TGFb via a novel and differentiated approach.
CRB-601 shows greater potency than ligand trap antibodies potentially related to its ability to block at the point of TGFβ activation (Figure 3). CRB-601-m, a murine IgG form
used for in vivo studies, showed single agent activity in the Lewis lung carcinoma syngeneic model. CRB-601-m showed dose related effects on tumor volume and tumor
weight: two independent measures validating that inhibition of αvβ8 function as a strategy for suppressing tumor growth (Figure 4).
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Figure 1: CRB-601 anti-integrin mAB

Figure 2: Immune Evasion

6

Figure 3: CRB-601 Binding Affinity
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Figure 4: CRB-601 effects in Syngeneic Lung Cancer Tumor Model

avβ6/αvβ8 mAb for the Treatment of Fibrosis
CRB-602 is an anti-αvβ6/αvβ8 mAb that blocks the activation of TGFβ with potential application for the treatment of fibrotic diseases. Both αvβ6 and αvβ8 are expressed on
epithelial cells in fibrotic diseases. In fibrotic conditions, TGFβ signaling becomes dysregulated and leading to excess collagen deposition in the absence of acute tissue injury.
The intellectual property for CRB-602 was in-licensed from Milky Way BioPharma, LLC (‘Milky Way”), a subsidiary of Panorama Research Inc. The Company is continuing
to explore development pathways for its anti-integrin mAb program targeting fibrosis.
Endocannabinoid Pipeline
CB1 Inverse Agonists for the Treatment of Metabolic and Fibrotic Diseases
Corbus has developed cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1) inverse agonists designed to treat obesity and related metabolic diseases. In animal models of diet-induced obesity,
our compounds induce weight loss both as a monotherapy and in combination with a GLP-1 agonist. The program is preclinical stage and we are evaluating potential clinical
development and regulatory paths forward.
The CB1 is a receptor that is highly expressed in the nervous system and is also expressed in multiple cell lines outside the nervous system. Testing of CB1 antagonists and
CB1 inverse agonists in animal studies has shown improvement in models of metabolic diseases, including diet-induced obesity, diabetes, diabetic nephropathy, diabetic
retinopathy, metabolic syndrome, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, fibrotic diseases including (lung, cardiac, renal disease, and liver fibrosis), and other diseases including ascites,
cognitive defects, Prader-Willi syndrome, and smoking cessation. CB1 is also known to have reciprocal functional activities with the incretins glucose-dependent insulinotropic
polypeptide, or GIP, and glucagon-like peptide-1, or GLP-1. This is of importance because recent data show that GLP-1 and GIP/GLP-1 receptor agonists semaglutide and
tirzepatide reduce obesity and blood sugar in humans. In animal studies, GLP-1 receptor agonists are reported to have greater metabolic effects when used in combination with
CB1 inhibitors than when used as monotherapies. Beneficial effects of the combination of GIP/GLP-1 receptor agonists and CB1 inverse agonists have been observed on body
weight, fat mass, insulin action, dyslipidemia, and hepatic steatosis in obese diabetic mice.
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We have evaluated CRB-556 in the diet induced obesity model in mice. The data demonstrated the drug induced dose-dependent weight loss in mice with an effect similar to
Rimonobant an earlier generation CB1 inverse agonist (Figure 5).
Figure 5: CRB 556 effect in diet induced obesity model in mice

Lenabasum
We completed a Phase 3 study in dermatomyositis in June 2021 which did not meet its primary or secondary endpoints. Post-hoc subgroup analyses suggest potential
lenabasum clinical activity as measured by nominal TIS improvement in DM patients with baseline muscle weakness and by nominal CDASI improvement in DM patients with
skin involvement but no muscle weakness at baseline. In 2020, lenabasum did not meet the primary endpoints in a Phase 3 systemic sclerosis study and a Phase 2 cystic fibrosis
study. We expect topline data from the National Institutes of Health-sponsored Phase 2 study of lenabasum in systemic lupus erythematosus in the first half of 2022. The
Company does not plan to conduct additional clinical studies for Lenabasum and will seek licensing partners to fund future development.
Lenabasum selectively binds to CB2, which is preferentially expressed on activated immune cells, fibroblasts and other cell types, including muscle and bone cells. Lenabasum
reduces inflammation and limits fibrosis, without immunosuppression. Lenabasum inhibits production of inflammatory cytokines and eicosanoids, and stimulates the production
of mediators (Specialized Pro-resolving Lipid Mediators) that resolve inflammation. It inhibits transformation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts and production of fibrotic
growth factors and collagen. These biologic effects have been demonstrated in cells, animal models, and humans.
Research and Development
We incurred expenses of approximately $36,445,000 and $98,267,000 for research and development activities for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
These expenses include cash and non-cash expenses relating to the development of our clinical and pre-clinical programs for lenabasum. Research and development expenses
are incurred for the development of our drug candidates and consist primarily of payroll and payments to contract research and development companies. To date, these costs are
related to generating pre-clinical data and the cost of manufacturing drug product for clinical trials and conducting clinical trials.
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Intellectual Property
Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for our technologies, products and processes, including
proprietary protection for our lenabasum program, our second generation CB1 inverse agonists program, and our Anti-integrin mAbs program.
Lenabasum Program
We have filed patent applications directed to lenabasum, compositions and methods for treating disease using lenabasum. If granted, the resulting patents would expire on dates
ranging from 2031 to 2040, subject to extension under certain circumstances. The patent application filings are directed to:
•Compositions including an improved ultrapure version of lenabasum and uses of the compositions for the treatment of fibrotic conditions and inflammatory conditions;
•The use of lenabasum in the treatment of fibrotic diseases;
•Lenabasum formulations and uses of the formulations for the treatment of disease; and
•Lenabasum polymorphs and uses of the polymorphs for the treatment of the disease.
On August 6, 2019, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) issued U.S. Patent No. 10,369,131 to the Company with claims covering the use of pharmaceutical
compositions comprising lenabasum for the treatment of dermatomyositis. The patent provides exclusivity in the U.S. for this use of lenabasum to February 12, 2034.
On December 18, 2018, USPTO issued U.S. Patent No. 10,154,986 to the Company with claims covering pharmaceutical compositions of lenabasum. The patent provides
exclusivity in the U.S. for these lenabasum compositions to February 12, 2034.
On October 3, 2018, the USPTO issued U.S. Patent No. 10,085,964 to the Company with claims covering the use of pharmaceutical compositions comprising lenabasum for the
treatment of all fibrotic diseases, encompassing Corbus’ lead indications systemic sclerosis, cystic fibrosis and others. The patent provides exclusivity in the U.S. for this use of
lenabasum to February 12, 2034.
On October 31, 2017, the USPTO issued U.S. Patent No. 9,801,849 to the Company with claims covering the use of pharmaceutical compositions comprising lenabasum, for
the treatment of all inflammatory diseases. The patent provides exclusivity in the U.S. for this use of lenabasum to February 12, 2034.
On November 27, 2017, the USPTO issued U.S. Patent No. 9,820,964 to the Company with claims covering the use of pharmaceutical compositions comprising lenabasum for
the treatment of all fibrotic diseases, encompassing the Company’s lead indications systemic sclerosis, cystic fibrosis and others. The patent provides intellectual property
protection in the United States for this use of lenabasum to February 12, 2034.
On July 6, 2021, the USPTO issued U.S. Patent No. 11,052,066 to the Company with claims covering pharmaceutical compositions of lenabasum and their use in treating
fibrotic and inflammatory diseases, encompassing the Company’s lead indications systemic sclerosis, cystic fibrosis and others. The patent provides intellectual property
protection in the United States for this use of lenabasum to February 12, 2034.
Lenabasum has been granted Orphan Drug Designation for cystic fibrosis, dermatomyositis and systemic sclerosis in the U.S. and in the European Union and for systemic
sclerosis in Japan. In addition, in systemic sclerosis and in cystic fibrosis, lenabasum has been granted a Fast Track Designation by the FDA. Orphan designation for lenabasum
may be pursued for other inflammatory diseases in the U.S., Europe, and Japan. Orphan drug status provides seven years of market exclusivity in the U.S. and ten years in
Europe and Japan beginning on the date of drug approval.
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Second Generation CB1 Inverse Agonists Program
On September 20, 2018, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Jenrin Discovery, LLC which provides us with an exclusive worldwide license to develop and
market cannabinoid compounds covered by the Jenrin issued patents and patent applications that cover the composition and method of use of selective cannabinoid receptor
modulators. The Jenrin intellectual property portfolio includes sixteen granted United States patents, one pending United States application and twenty-two granted or pending
foreign patents and applications. This portfolio includes U.S. Patent No. 8,680,131, which granted with claims covering the cannabinoid receptor blocker CRB-4001 and
methods of using the same for treating obesity related disorders, diabetes, various inflammatory disorders, various cardiometabolic disorders, various hepatic disorders, and/or
various cancers. The licensed intellectual property portfolio provides intellectual property protection in the United States for CRB-4001 and these uses to July of 2033, not
including any potential patent term extension.
Anti-Integrin Monoclonal Antibodies Program
The Company entered into a license agreement (the “UCSF License Agreement”) with the Regents of the University of California (“The Regents”) effective May 26, 2021.
Pursuant to the UCSF License Agreement, the Company received an exclusive license to certain patent applications relating to humanized antibodies against integrin αvβ8, one
of which the Company is referring to as CRB-601, along with non-exclusive licenses to certain related know-how and materials. The licensed patent applications, if granted, are
projected to expire in 2041.
CRB-602 is an anti-αvβ6/αvβ8 mAb that blocks the activation of TGFb with potential application for the treatment of fibrotic diseases. Both αvβ6 and αvβ8 are expressed on
epithelial cells in fibrotic diseases. In fibrotic conditions, TGF-ß signaling becomes dysregulated and leading to excess collagen deposition in the absence of acute tissue injury.
The intellectual property for CRB-602 was in-licensed from Milky Way BioPharma, LLC (‘Milky Way”), a subsidiary of Panorama Research Inc. The Company is continuing
to explore development pathways for its anti-integrin mAb program targeting fibrosis.
Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for our technologies and to operate without infringing the
proprietary right of others and to prevent others from infringing our proprietary rights. We strive to protect our intellectual property through a combination of patents and
trademarks as well as through the confidentiality provisions in our contracts. With respect to our candidates, we endeavor to obtain and maintain patent protection in the U.S.
and internationally on all patentable aspects of each product candidate. We cannot be sure that the patents will be granted with respect to any patent applications we may own or
license in the future, nor can we be sure that any patents issued or licensed to us in the future will be useful in protecting our technology. For this and more comprehensive risks
related to our intellectual property, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property Rights.”
In addition to patent protection, we rely on trade secrets and know-how to develop and maintain our competitive position. For example, aspects of our proprietary technology
platform are based on unpatented trade secrets and know-how related to the manufacturing of our product candidates. Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect.
We seek to protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants,
scientific advisors, contractors and commercial partners. These agreements are designed to protect our proprietary information and, in the case of the invention assignment
agreements, to grant us ownership of technologies that are developed through a relationship with a third party. We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our
data and trade secrets by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology systems. While we have confidence
in these individuals, organizations and systems, agreements or security measures may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our
trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our contractors use intellectual property owned by others in their
work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.
We also seek and will continue to seek trademark protection in the United States and outside of the United States where available and when appropriate. We use and intend to
use these registered marks in connection with our pharmaceutical research and development as well as our product candidates.
Manufacturing and Supply of CRB-601, Lenabasum and Our Other Product Candidates
CRB-601 is a monoclonal antibody and we are in the process of scaling up a manufacturing process under good manufacturing practice (“GMP”) to produce batches of drug
substance and drug product for pre-clinical and clinical studies. Drug substance for CRB-601 will be produced by a contract manufacturer through recombinant DNA
technology utilizing genetically engineered host cells, upstream cell culture processes and downstream purification methods as required to manufacture the finished product.
Lenabasum is a synthetic molecule and we have developed and validated a GMP manufacturing process.
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We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities and rely on third-party contract manufacturing organizations to supply Corbus with drugs for pre-clinical and clinical studies.
Competition
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by a rapid pace of new innovation and discoveries, fierce competition and strong defense of intellectual
property. We face competition from major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, governmental agencies and public and private research
institutions, among others.
Competitors to CRB-601 who are also targeting the TGFβ pathway in cancer include Bristol Meyers, Merck KGaA, Pfizer Sanofi, Argenx, Morphic, Pliant and Scholar Rock.
Regulatory Matters
Government Regulation
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure
of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the applicable requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or after
approval, may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an
approval, a clinical hold, warning letters, product recalls or withdrawals from the market, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions,
fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement, or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect
on us.
Any product development activities related to products that we may develop or acquire in the future will be subject to extensive regulation by various government authorities,
including the FDA, other federal, state and local agencies and comparable regulatory authorities in other countries, which regulate the design, research, clinical and non-clinical
development, testing, manufacturing, storage, distribution, import, export, labeling, advertising and marketing of pharmaceutical products and devices. Generally, before a new
drug can be sold, considerable data demonstrating its quality, safety and efficacy must be obtained, organized into a format specific to each regulatory authority, submitted for
review and approved by the regulatory authority. The data are often generated in two distinct development states: pre-clinical and clinical.
Development of Drugs in the United States
Products that we may develop or acquire in the future must be approved by the FDA before they may be legally marketed in the United States. For new chemical entities, the
pre-clinical development stage generally involves synthesizing the active component, developing the formulation and determining the manufacturing process, and drug stability
as well as carrying out non-human toxicology, pharmacology and drug metabolism studies that support subsequent clinical testing. These pre-clinical laboratory and animal
tests are often performed under the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practices regulations. A drug’s sponsor must submit the result of the pre-clinical tests, together with manufacturing
information, analytical data and any available clinical data or literature and a proposed clinical protocol to the FDA as part of an IND application, which is a request for
authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational drug or biological product to humans. Similar filings are required in other countries.
The clinical stage of development can generally be divided into three sequential phases that may overlap, Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials. In Phase 1, generally,
small numbers of healthy volunteers are initially exposed to single escalating doses and then multiple escalating doses of the product candidate. The primary purpose of these
studies is to assess the metabolism, pharmacologic action and general safety of the drug. Phase 2 trials typically involve studies in disease-affected patients to determine the dose
required to produce the desired benefits, common short-term side effects and risks. Phase 2 studies are typically well-controlled, closely monitored, and conducted in a
relatively small number of patients, usually involving no more than several hundred subjects. Phase 3 trials are intended to gather the additional information about effectiveness
and safety that is needed to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to provide an adequate basis for physician labeling. Phase 3 studies usually include
from several hundred to several thousand subjects and are closely controlled and monitored. In addition to these Phase 1-3 trials, other trials may be conducted to gather
additional safety, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic information., Pharmaceutical products with active ingredients equal or similar to those already approved by the FDA
often have more streamlined development programs than compounds entirely new to the agency, often skipping Phase 1 and 2 trials.
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A clinical plan must be submitted to the FDA prior to commencement of a clinical trial. If the FDA has concerns about the clinical plan or the safety of the proposed studies,
they may suspend or terminate the study at any time. Studies must be conducted in accordance with good clinical practice and reporting of study progress and any adverse
experiences is required. Studies are also subject to review by independent institutional review boards responsible for overseeing studies at particular sites and protecting human
research study subjects. An independent institutional review board may also suspend or terminate a study once initiated. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that submission of an
IND will result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to begin, or that once begun, issues will not arise that could cause the trial to be suspended or terminated.
Post-approval studies, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. Sometimes, these studies are used to gain additional
experience from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic condition. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 studies. In other
situations, post-approval studies aim to gain additional indications for a medication or develop new dosage forms for a medication.
Special Protocol Assessment
The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act directs the FDA to meet with sponsors, pursuant to a sponsor’s written request, for the purpose of reaching agreement on the design
and size of clinical trials intended to form the primary basis of an efficacy claim in an NDA. If an agreement is reached, the FDA will reduce the agreement to writing and make
it part of the administrative record. This agreement is called a special protocol assessment, or SPA. While the FDA’s guidance on SPAs states that documented SPAs should be
considered binding on the review division, the FDA has latitude to change its assessment if certain exceptions apply. Exceptions include public health concerns emerging that
were unrecognized at the time of the protocol assessment, identification of a substantial scientific issue essential to the safety or efficacy testing that later comes to light, a
sponsor’s failure to follow the protocol agreed upon, or the FDA’s reliance on data, assumptions or information that are determined to be wrong.
Review and Approval in the United States
Following pivotal or Phase 3 trial completion, data are analyzed to determine safety and efficacy. Data are then filed with the FDA in a New Drug Application, or an NDA,
along with proposed labeling for the product and information about the manufacturing and testing processes and facilities that will be used to ensure product quality. In the
United States, FDA approval of an NDA must be obtained before marketing a pharmaceutical product. The NDA must contain proof of safety, purity, potency and efficacy,
which entails extensive pre-clinical and clinical testing.
The FDA will likely re-analyze the clinical trial data, which could result in extensive discussions between the FDA and us during the review process. The review and evaluation
of applications by the FDA is extensive and time consuming and may take several years to complete. The FDA may conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing
facilities for the new product to determine whether they comply with current good manufacturing practice requirements and may also audit data from clinical and pre-clinical
trials.
There is no assurance that the FDA will act favorably or quickly in making such reviews and significant difficulties or costs may be encountered in our efforts to obtain FDA
approvals. The FDA may require that certain contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling, or may condition the approval of the NDA on other
changes to the proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specifications, or a commitment to conduct post-marketing testing or clinical trials and surveillance
programs to monitor the safety of approved products that have been commercialized. Further, the FDA may place conditions on approvals including the requirement for a risk
evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, to assure the safe use of the drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed
REMS; the FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to
assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. Any of these limitations on approval or marketing could restrict the
commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of products. Product approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance with regulatory standards or if problems
occur.
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Orphan Drug Designation
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally a disease or condition that
affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Orphan product designation must be requested before submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan drug
designation, the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan product designation does not convey any advantage in
or shorten the duration of regulatory review and approval process. In addition to the potential period of exclusivity, orphan designation makes a company eligible for grant
funding of up to $400,000 per year for four years to defray costs of clinical trial expenses, tax credits for clinical research expenses and potential exemption from the FDA
application user fee.
If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to
orphan drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same indication for seven years, except in limited
circumstances, such as (i) the drug’s orphan designation is revoked; (ii) its marketing approval is withdrawn; (iii) the orphan exclusivity holder consents to the approval of
another applicant’s product; (iv) the orphan exclusivity holder is unable to assure the availability of a sufficient quantity of drug; or (v) a showing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan exclusivity by a competitor product. If a drug designated as an orphan product receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what is
designated, it may not be entitled to orphan drug exclusivity. We have received orphan drug designation for lenabasum for cystic fibrosis, systemic sclerosis, and
dermatomyositis. There can be no assurance that we will receive orphan drug designation for our products.
Drug Development in Europe
In the European Union, our future products may also be subject to extensive regulatory requirements. Similar to the U.S., the marketing of medicinal products is subject to the
granting of marketing authorizations by regulatory agencies. Also, as in the U.S., the various phases of pre-clinical and clinical research in the European Union are subject to
significant regulatory controls.
Review and Approval in the European Union
In the European Union, approval of new medicinal products can be obtained through one of three processes: the mutual recognition procedure, the centralized procedure and the
decentralized procedure. We intend to determine which process we will follow, if any, in the future.
Mutual Recognition Procedure: An applicant submits an application in one European Union member state, known as the reference member state. Once the reference member
state has granted the marketing authorization, the applicant may choose to submit applications in other concerned member states, requesting them to mutually recognize the
marketing authorizations already granted. Under this mutual recognition process, authorities in other concerned member states have 55 days to raise objections, which must then
be resolved by discussion among the concerned member states, the reference member state and the applicant within 90 days of the commencement of the mutual recognition
procedure. If any disagreement remains, all considerations by authorities in the concerned member states are suspended and the disagreement is resolved through an arbitration
process. The mutual recognition procedure results in separate national marketing authorizations in the reference member state.
Centralized Procedure: This procedure is currently mandatory for products developed by means of a biotechnological process and optional for new active substances and other
“innovative medicinal products with novel characteristics.” Under this procedure, an application is submitted to the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medical Products.
Two European Union member states are appointed to conduct an initial evaluation of each application. These countries each prepare an assessment report that is then used as
the basis of a scientific opinion of the Committee on Proprietary Medical Products. If this opinion is favorable, it is sent to the European Commission, which drafts a decision.
After consulting with the member states, the European Commission adopts a decision and grants a marketing authorization, which is valid throughout the European Union and
confers the same rights and obligations in each of the member states as a marketing authorization granted by that member state.
Decentralized Procedure: The most recently introduced of the three processes for obtaining approval of new medicinal processes in the European Union, the decentralized
procedure is similar to the mutual recognition procedure described above, but with differences in the timing that key documents are provided to concerned member states by the
reference member state, the overall timing of the procedure and the possibility of, among other things, “clock stops” during the procedure.
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Post-Marketing Requirements
Following approval of a new product, a pharmaceutical company and the approved product are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA and other federal and state
regulatory authorities, including, among other things, monitoring and recordkeeping activities, reporting to applicable regulatory authorities of adverse experiences with the
product, providing the regulatory authorities with updated safety and efficacy information, product sampling and distribution requirements, and complying with promotion and
advertising requirements, which include, among others, standards for direct-to-consumer advertising, restrictions on promoting drugs for uses or in patient populations not
described in the drug’s approved labeling (known as “off-label use”), and limitations on industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities. Although physicians may
prescribe legally available drugs for off-label uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such off-label uses. Modifications or enhancements to the products or labeling or
changes of site of manufacture are often subject to the approval of the FDA and other regulators, which may or may not be received or may result in a lengthy review process.
The FDA regulations require the products be manufactured in specific approved facilities and in accordance with current good manufacturing practices, and NDA holders must
list their products and register their manufacturing establishments with the FDA. These regulations also impose certain organizational, procedural and documentation
requirements with respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved
drugs are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with current good manufacturing practice and other laws. NDA
holders using contract manufacturers, laboratories or packagers are responsible for the selection and monitoring of qualified firms. These firms are subject to inspections by the
FDA at any time, and the discovery of violative conditions could result in enforcement actions that interrupt the operation of any such facilities or the ability to distribute
products manufactured, processed or tested by them.
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Other Regulatory Matters
Manufacturing, sales, promotion and other activities following product approval are also subject to regulation by numerous regulatory authorities in addition to the FDA,
including, in the United States, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, other divisions of the Department of Health and Human Services, the Drug
Enforcement Administration, the Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Federal Trade Commission, the Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the Environmental
Protection Agency, and state and local governments. These regulations include:
•the federal healthcare program anti-kickback law which prohibits, among other things, persons from soliciting, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly,
to induce either the referral of an individual, for an item or service or the purchasing or ordering of a good or service, for which payment may be made under federal
healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;
•federal false claims laws which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from
Medicare, Medicaid, or other government reimbursement programs that are false or fraudulent. The government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting
from a violation of the federal healthcare program anti-kickback law or related to off-label promotion constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal false
claims laws;
•the Federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act within the ACA, and its implementing regulations, require that certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biological and
medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report information
related to certain payments or other transfers of value made or distributed to physicians and teaching hospitals, or to entities or individuals at the request of, or designated on
behalf of, the physicians and teaching hospitals and to report annually certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;
and
•the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH,
and its implementing regulations, imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. Among
other things, HITECH makes HIPAA’s privacy and security standards directly applicable to “business associates”—independent contractors or agents of covered entities
that receive or obtain protected health information in connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered entity. HITECH also created four new tiers of civil
monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates and possibly other persons, and gave state attorneys
general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with
pursuing federal civil actions.
•applicable child-resistant packaging requirements under the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act.
•The Lanham Act and federal antitrust laws.
•state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party
payer, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each
other in significant ways and often are not preempted by federal laws, thus complicating compliance efforts.
Distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, traceability, and storage and
security requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products
The handling of any controlled substances must comply with the U.S. Controlled Substances Act and the Controlled Substances Import and Export Act. In the U.S., our product
candidate, lenabasum, is currently classified as Schedule I controlled substance as defined in the Controlled Substance Act (“CSA”).
Schedule I controlled substances are pharmaceutical products subject to specific regulations under the CSA, that establishes, among other things, certain registration,
manufacturing quotas, security, recordkeeping, reporting, import, export and other requirements administered by the DEA. All parties responsible for the manufacturing,
distribution and testing the drug in clinical studies must apply for and obtain a license from the DEA before they are permitted to perform these activities with lenabasum.
Furthermore, these parties must have the security, control, recordkeeping, reporting and inventory mechanisms required by the DEA to prevent drug loss and diversion. All
licensed facilities are required to renew their registrations annually if they intend to continue to work with our drug. The DEA conducts periodic inspections of certain registered
establishments that handle controlled substances. We have been working with our manufacturers, distributors, exporters and clinical sites to obtain the necessary licenses to
work with lenabasum. The parties responsible for the manufacturing, distribution and export of lenabasum have already applied for and have been granted DEA licenses and a
number of institutions responsible for conducting our current clinical studies have also been granted DEA licenses.
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Individual states have also established controlled substance laws and regulations. Though state-controlled substances laws often mirror federal law because the states are
separate jurisdictions, they may separately schedule drugs, as well. While some states automatically schedule a drug based on federal action, other states schedule drugs through
rulemaking or a legislative action. The requirement for state registrations could also result in delay of the manufacturing, distribution of lenabasum or in the completion of our
current clinical studies. We and our manufacturing vendors and clinical sites must also obtain separate state registrations, permits or licenses in order to be able to obtain,
handle, and distribute controlled substances for clinical trials or commercial sale, and failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements could lead to enforcement and sanctions
by the states in addition to those from the DEA or otherwise arising under federal law.
Third-Party Payer Coverage and Reimbursement
Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any of our drug candidates that ultimately may obtain regulatory approval. In both the United
States and foreign markets, our ability to commercialize our product candidates successfully, and to attract commercialization partners for our product candidates, depends in
significant part on the availability of adequate financial coverage and reimbursement from third-party payers, including, in the United States, governmental payers such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs, managed care organizations, and private health insurers. Medicare is a federally funded program managed by the CMS, through local fiscal
intermediaries and carriers that administer coverage and reimbursement for certain healthcare items and services furnished to the elderly and disabled. Medicaid is an insurance
program for certain categories of patients whose income and assets fall below state defined levels and who are otherwise uninsured that is both federally and state funded and
managed by each state. The federal government sets general guidelines for Medicaid and each state creates specific regulations that govern its individual program. Each payer
has its own process and standards for determining whether it will cover and reimburse a procedure or particular product. Private payers often rely on the lead of the
governmental payers in rendering coverage and reimbursement determinations. Therefore, achieving favorable CMS coverage and reimbursement is usually a significant gating
issue for successful introduction of a new product. The competitive position of some of our products will depend, in part, upon the extent of coverage and adequate
reimbursement for such products and for the procedures in which such products are used. Prices at which we or our customers seek reimbursement for our product candidates
can be subject to challenge, reduction or denial by the government and other payers.
The United States Congress and state legislatures may, from time to time, propose and adopt initiatives aimed at cost containment, which could impact our ability to sell our
product candidates profitably. For example, the two-year spending law signed by the President of United States on February 9, 2018 includes a provision raising the
manufacturer discount to 70% in 2019 in the Medicare Part D coverage gap, also known as the “donut hole.” Under prior law, manufacturers were required to provide a 50%
discount on prescription drugs purchased in the donut hole. Manufacturers of branded drugs will face much higher liabilities from donut hole payments beginning in 2019,
estimated at multiple billions of dollars for some of the largest companies.
The cost of pharmaceuticals continues to generate substantial governmental and third-party payer interest. We expect that the pharmaceutical industry will experience pricing
pressures due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of managed care organizations and additional legislative proposals. Our results of operations
could be adversely affected by current and future healthcare reforms.
Some third-party payers also require pre-approval of coverage for new or innovative devices or drug therapies before they will reimburse healthcare providers that use such
therapies. While we cannot predict whether any proposed cost-containment measures will be adopted or otherwise implemented in the future, the announcement or adoption of
these proposals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain adequate prices for our product candidates and operate profitably.
In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary
widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national
health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal
product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no
assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for
any of our products. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally tend to be significantly lower.
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Employees
We had 41 full-time employees at December 31, 2021. All our employees are engaged in administration, finance, clinical, manufacturing, regulatory and business development
functions. We believe our relations with our employees are good. In addition, we utilize and will continue to utilize consultants, clinical research organizations and third parties
to perform our pre-clinical studies, clinical studies, manufacturing and regulatory functions.
Corporate Information
Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as JB Therapeutics Inc.), was incorporated on April 24, 2009 under the laws of the State of Delaware. On April 11, 2014, JB
Therapeutics, Inc. completed a merger with Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. and changed its name to Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Upon the consummation of the
merger, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. which continues to operate the business of Corbus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 500 River Ridge Drive, Norwood, Massachusetts 02062, and our telephone number is (617) 963-0100. Our
website address is www.corbuspharma.com.
We make available free of charge on or through the Investor Relations link on our website, www.corbuspharma.com, access to press releases and investor presentations, as well
as all materials that we file electronically with the SEC, including our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports, filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such
materials with, or furnishing them to, the SEC. During the period covered by this Form 10-K, we made all such materials available through our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after filing such materials with the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet website, www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and information statements
and other information that we file electronically with the SEC.
This report and the information incorporated herein by reference contain references to trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by us or other companies. Solely for
convenience, trademarks, service marks and trade names referred to in this report and the information incorporated herein, including logos, artwork, and other visual displays,
may appear without the ® or ™ symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our
rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks, service marks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, service
marks or trademarks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies. Other trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in
this report are the property of their respective owners.
18

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
An investment in our common stock is speculative and illiquid and involves a high degree of risk including the risk of a loss of your entire investment. You should carefully
consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information contained in this report and our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The risks set forth below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties may exist that could also adversely affect our business, operations and
financial condition. If any of the following risks actually materialize, our business, financial condition and/or operations could suffer. In such event, the value of our common
stock could decline, and you could lose all or a substantial portion of the money that you pay for our common stock.
Risk Related to our Company and our Business
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital
We are a biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history.
We are a biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. All of our product candidates that we do not intend to out-license are in the discovery stage or pre-clinical
development stage. We must complete clinical studies and other development activity and receive regulatory approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, before commercial
sales of a product can commence. The likelihood of success of our business plan must be considered in light of the problems, substantial expenses, difficulties, complications
and delays frequently encountered in connection with developing and expanding early-stage businesses and the regulatory and competitive environment in which we operate.
Pharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking, involves a substantial degree of risk and is a capital-intensive business.
Accordingly, you should consider our prospects in light of the costs, uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of
development, especially clinical pharmaceutical companies such as ours. Potential investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties that a company with a limited
operating history will face. In particular, potential investors should consider that we cannot assure you that we will be able to:
•successfully implement or execute our current business plan, and we cannot assure you that our business plan is sound;
•successfully manufacture our clinical products and establish commercial drug supply;
•successfully complete the preclinical and clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approval for the marketing of our drug candidates;
•secure market exclusivity and/or adequate intellectual property protection for our drug candidates;
•attract and retain an experienced management and advisory team;
•secure acceptance of our drug candidates in the medical community and with third party payors and consumers;
•launch commercial sales of our drug candidates, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and
•raise sufficient funds in the capital markets to effectuate our business plan.
If we cannot successfully execute any one of the foregoing, our business may not succeed and your investment will be adversely affected.
We have incurred operating losses in each year since our inception and expect to continue to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future. We may never become
profitable or, if we achieve profitability, be able to sustain profitability.
We expect to incur substantial expenses without corresponding revenues unless and until we are able to obtain regulatory approval and successfully commercialize any of our
drug candidates. To date, we have not generated any revenue from our drug candidates and we expect to incur significant expense to complete our preclinical and clinical
program for our drug candidates in the United States and elsewhere. We may never be able to obtain regulatory approval for the marketing of our drug candidates in any
indication in the United States or internationally. Even if we are able to commercialize our drug candidates, there can be no assurance that we will generate significant revenues
or ever achieve profitability. Our net losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 were approximately $45,640,000 and $111,269,000, respectively.
As of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $349.7 million.
We may elect to pursue FDA approval for our drug candidates, which will result in significant additional research and development expenses. As a result, we expect to continue
to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future, and these losses will increase. We are uncertain when or if we will be able to achieve or sustain profitability. If we achieve
profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Failure to become and remain profitable would impair our ability to sustain
operations and adversely affect the price of our common stock and our ability to raise capital.
19

Our cash, cash equivalents, or investments will only fund our operations for a limited time and we will need to raise additional capital to support our development and
commercialization efforts.
We are currently operating at a loss and expect our operating costs will increase significantly as we incur further costs related to preclinical development and the clinical trials
for our drug candidates. As of December 31, 2021, we held cash, cash equivalents, and investments of approximately $97.6 million.
On July 28, 2020, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with our subsidiary, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as borrower, us, as guarantor,
each lender party thereto (the “Lenders”), K2 HealthVentures LLC (“K2HV”), an unrelated third party, as administrative agent for the Lenders, and Ankura Trust Company,
LLC, an unrelated third party, as collateral agent for the Lenders, pursuant to which K2HV may provide us with term loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to a
$50,000,000.
On August 7, 2020, we entered into an Open Market Sale AgreementSM (the “August 2020 Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”), as sales agent, pursuant to which
we may issue and sell, from time to time, through Jefferies, shares of our common stock. We will pay Jefferies a commission of 3.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each
sale of common stock and have agreed to provide Jefferies with customary indemnification and contribution rights. We have also agreed to reimburse Jefferies for certain
specified expenses. As of August 7, 2020, we were authorized to offer and sell up to $150 million of our common stock pursuant to the August 2020 Sale Agreement. As of
December 31, 2021 we have sold 40,937,861 shares of our common stock for gross proceeds totaling $82,086,000, less issuance costs incurred of approximately $2,463,000.
We expect the cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and investments of approximately $98.3 million at December 31, 2021 to be sufficient to meet our operating and capital
requirements into 2024, based on planned expenditures.
We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings and strategic collaborations. Debt financing, if obtained, may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, and could increase our expenses and
require that our assets secure such debt.
Equity financing, if obtained, could result in dilution to our then existing stockholders and/or require such stockholders to waive certain rights and preferences. If such financing
is not available on satisfactory terms, or is not available at all, we may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate the development of business opportunities and our
operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected. We can provide no assurances that any additional sources of financing will be available to us on
favorable terms, if at all. In addition, if we are unable to secure sufficient capital to fund our operations, we may choose to pursue, as an alternative, strategic collaborations that
could require us to share commercial rights to our drug candidates with third parties in ways that we currently do not intend or on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we
choose to pursue additional indications and/or geographies for our drug candidates or otherwise expand more rapidly than we presently anticipate we may also need to raise
additional capital sooner than expected.
Our Loan and Security Agreement contains restrictive and financial covenants that may limit our operating flexibility.
Our Loan Agreement with K2HV for up to $50,000,000 is secured by a lien covering substantially all of our personal property, excluding intellectual property.
The Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants. including restrictive covenants by the Company and Borrower limiting additional
indebtedness, liens, mergers and acquisitions, dispositions, investments, distributions, subordinated debt, transactions with affiliates and fundamental changes. We therefore
may not be able to engage in any of the foregoing types of transactions unless we obtain the consent of K2 Health Ventures or prepay the outstanding amount under the Loan
Agreement. The Loan Agreement also contains certain financial covenants, including requirements to maintain unrestricted cash in the amount of $10,000,000 or the amount of
all principal loans outstanding if certain regulatory and developmental milestones do not occur.
The restrictions and covenants in the Loan Agreement, as well as those contained in any future debt financing agreements that we may enter into, may restrict our ability to
finance our operations and engage in, expand or otherwise pursue our business activities and strategies. Our ability to comply with these covenants and restrictions may be
affected by events beyond our control, and breaches of these covenants and restrictions could result in a default under the loan agreement and any future financing agreements
that we may enter into.
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Risks Related to Product Development, Regulatory Approval, Manufacturing and Commercialization
Our success is dependent upon successful development of our drug candidates in our pipeline or that we may acquire. If we are unable to generate revenues from any
product candidates, our ability to create stockholder value will be limited.
We do not generate revenues from any FDA approved drug products. Our current business currently depends on the successful development, regulatory approval, and
commercialization of our pre-clinical drug candidates, which may never occur.
We are currently conducting pre-clinical testing for CRB-601. We note that most drug candidates never reach the clinical development stage and even those that do have only a
small chance of successfully completing clinical development and gaining regulatory approval. Notably, we advanced our product candidate lenabasum to a phase 3 study. In
June 2021, we announced that the primary endpoint in our DETERMINE phase 3 study of lenabasum for treatment of dermatomyositis was not met. We will continue to face
risks related to the uncertainty of clinical trials and success in early phases of pre-clinical and clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful.
The coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic or the widespread outbreak of any other communicable disease could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
We face risks related to health epidemics or outbreaks of communicable diseases, for example, the outbreak around the world of the highly transmissible and pathogenic
coronavirus, COVID-19. The outbreak of such communicable diseases, including COVID-19 and variants, could result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect
general commercial activity and the economies and financial markets of many countries.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China and on March 11, 2020 was declared a pandemic by the World
Health Organization. The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our preclinical and expected clinical trial operations will depend on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the duration of the outbreak, the severity of COVID-19, including its variants, and the effectiveness of actions to
contain and treat COVID-19, including the effectiveness of vaccines and the ability of governments and healthcare providers to administer vaccines quickly and effectively
To limit the spread of COVID-19, governments have taken various actions from time to time including the issuance of travel restrictions, complete or partial prohibitions of nonessential activities, restrictions or shutdowns of non-essential businesses, stay-at-home orders and social distancing guidelines. Such events may result in a period of business,
supply and drug product manufacturing disruption, and in reduced operations, any of which could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Some of our business partners and manufacturing operations are conducted internationally and may be impacted by the global spread of COVID-19. Although we have not
experienced any material disruptions to these manufacturing operations or any material delays in shipping our commercial and clinical active pharmaceutical ingredient to our
clinical trial sites to date, the continued impact resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak where we have operations, or if the COVID-19 outbreak in these areas were to increase
in severity, and the measures taken by the governments of countries affected could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations by limiting our
ability to manufacture or ship materials or forcing temporary closure of facilities that we rely upon.
The global spread of COVID-19 has created significant volatility and uncertainty in global financial markets and may materially affect us economically and such conditions
continue to persist. While the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, a widespread pandemic could result in
significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. In addition, a recession or
market correction resulting from the spread of COVID-19 could materially affect our business and the value of our common shares.
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The continued spread of COVID-19 globally, and the resulting travel restrictions in place by governments to help stop the spread of COVID-19, could adversely impact our
future clinical trial operations, including the ability of our patients, principal investigators and site staff to travel to our clinical trial sites, and our ability to recruit and retain
principal investigators and site staff who, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 if an outbreak occurs in their geography. We cannot predict
whether clinical testing sites will withdraw from participation in any of our studies temporarily or permanently. In addition, if the patients enrolled in our clinical trials become
infected with COVID-19, we may have more adverse events and deaths in our clinical trials as a result. We may also face difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials if the
patient populations that are eligible for our clinical trials are impacted by the coronavirus disease. Vulnerable patients, including patients with autoimmune disorders like the
patients enrolled in our clinical trials, may be at a higher risk of contracting COVID-19 and may experience more severe symptoms from the disease, adversely affecting our
chances for regulatory approval or requiring further clinical studies.
The COVID-19 outbreak may also affect the ability of our staff and the parties we work with to carry out our non-clinical, clinical, and drug development and manufacturing
activities. We rely on clinical sites, investigators and other study staff, consultants, independent contractors, contract research organizations and other third-party service
providers to assist us in managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying out our nonclinical studies and clinical trials. We also rely on consultants, independent contractors,
contract development and manufacturing organizations, and other third-party service providers to assist us in managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying out our API
production, formulation, and drug manufacturing activities. COVID-19 may affect the ability of any of these external people, organizations, or companies to devote sufficient
time and resources to our programs or to travel to perform work for us.
Potential negative impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak on the conduct of current or future clinical studies include delays in gaining feedback from regulatory agencies, starting
new clinical studies, and recruiting subjects to studies that are enrolling. Although we have implemented remote data monitoring procedures for our clinical trials, the potential
negative impacts also include inability to have study visits at study sites, incomplete collection of safety and efficacy data, and higher rates of drop-out of subjects from ongoing
studies, delays in site entry of study data into the data base, delays in monitoring of study data because of restricted physical access to study sites, delays in site responses to
queries, delays in data-base lock, delays in data analyses, delays in time to top-line data, and delays in completing study reports. New or worsening COVID-19 disruptions or
restrictions could have the potential to further negatively impact our non-clinical studies, clinical trials, and drug manufacturing activities.
As a result of the factors described above, the expected timeline for data readouts of our drug manufacturing activities, non-clinical studies, clinical trials, and certain regulatory
filings may be negatively impacted, which would adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and to commercialize our product candidates, increase our
operating expenses and have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.
Our pre-clinical and clinical trials may be unsuccessful, which would materially harm our business. Even if our initial trials are successful, we will be required to conduct
additional trials to establish the safety and efficacy of our drug candidates before a New Drug Application, or NDA, can be filed with the FDA for marketing approval of any of
our drug candidates.
Drug testing is expensive, is difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. Success in early phases of pre-clinical and
clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. A failure of one or more of
our trials can occur at any stage of testing. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the drug testing process that could delay or prevent our
ability to receive regulatory approval or commercialize our drug candidates. The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, approval, sale, marketing,
advertising and promotion, pricing, export, import and distribution of drug products are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United
States and other countries, which regulations differ from country to country. We are not permitted to market any of our drug candidates as prescription pharmaceutical products
in the United States until we receive approval of an NDA from the FDA or in foreign markets until we receive the requisite approval from comparable regulatory authorities in
such countries. In the United States, the FDA generally requires the completion of pre-clinical and clinical trials of each drug to establish its safety and efficacy and extensive
pharmaceutical development to ensure its quality before an NDA is approved. Regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions impose similar requirements. Of the large number of
drugs in development, only a small percentage result in the submission of an NDA to the FDA and even fewer are eventually approved for commercialization. We have never
submitted an NDA to the FDA or any comparable applications to other regulatory authorities. If our development efforts for our drug candidates, including regulatory approval,
are not successful for our planned indications, or if adequate demand for our drug candidates is not generated, our business will be harmed.
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Receipt of necessary regulatory approval is subject to a number of risks, including the following:
▪pre-clinical testing may not yield results that justify progressing to clinical testing;
▪the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities or institutional review boards, or IRBs, may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials
▪we may not be able to provide acceptable evidence of the safety and efficacy of our drug candidates;
▪the results of our clinical trials may not be satisfactory or may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA, the European Medicines
Agency, or EMA, or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities for marketing approval;
▪the dosing of our drug candidates in a particular clinical trial may not be at an optimal level;
▪patients in our clinical trials may suffer adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to our drug candidates;
▪the data collected from clinical trials may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States
or elsewhere;
▪the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for
clinical and commercial supplies;
▪the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient
for approval; and
▪the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may decide that the clinical trial endpoints we have chosen, the statistical analysis plans that we use, or any other
parameter that we rely on to show the safety and efficacy of our drugs, are not parameters that can be used to support approval of our products.
Failure to obtain regulatory approval for any of our drug candidates for the foregoing or any other reasons will prevent us from commercializing such product candidate as a
prescription product, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired. We cannot guarantee that regulators will agree with the endpoints that we have chosen to
use in our clinical trials, our assessment of the results of our clinical trials or that such trials will be considered by regulators to have shown safety or efficacy of our product
candidates. The FDA, EMA and other regulators have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data is
insufficient for approval and require additional clinical trials, or pre-clinical or other studies. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from pre-clinical and
clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval of a product candidate.
We have only limited experience in filing the applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals and expect to rely on consultants and third party contract research
organizations, or CROs, with expertise in this area to assist us in this process. Securing FDA approval requires the submission of pre-clinical, clinical and/or pharmacokinetic
data, information about product manufacturing processes and inspection of facilities and supporting information to the FDA for each therapeutic indication to establish a
product candidate’s safety and efficacy for each indication. Our drug candidates may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that
may preclude our obtaining regulatory approval or prevent or limit commercial use with respect to one or all intended indications.
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive, often takes many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon, among other things, the
type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved, the jurisdiction in which regulatory approval is sought and the substantial discretion of regulatory authorities.
Changes in the regulatory approval policy during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for a
submitted product application may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Regulatory approval obtained in one jurisdiction does not necessarily mean that a
product candidate will receive regulatory approval in all jurisdictions in which we may seek approval, but the failure to obtain approval in one jurisdiction may negatively
impact our ability to seek approval in a different jurisdiction. Failure to obtain regulatory marketing approval for any of our drug candidates in any indication will prevent us
from commercializing such product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.
23

If we are not able to obtain any required regulatory approvals for our drug candidates, we will not be able to commercialize our product candidates and our ability to
generate revenue will be limited.
Drug testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. Our drug
candidates are in various stages of discovery, preclinical, and clinical testing. Preclinical tests are performed at an early stage of a product's development and provide
information about a drug candidate's safety and effectiveness on laboratory animals. Preclinical tests can last years. If a product passes its preclinical tests satisfactorily and we
determine that further development is warranted, we would file an IND application for the product with the FDA, and if the FDA gives its approval, we would begin Phase 1
clinical tests. If Phase 1 test results are satisfactory and the FDA gives its approval, we can begin Phase 2 clinical tests. If Phase 2 test results are satisfactory and the FDA gives
its approval, we can begin Phase 3 pivotal studies. Once clinical testing is completed and a NDA is filed with the FDA, it may take more than a year to receive FDA approval.
The results of pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. We cannot assure you that the FDA will view the
results as we do or that any future trials of our drug candidates will achieve positive results. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety
and efficacy traits despite having progressed through pre-clinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier trials. Any future clinical trial results
for our drug candidates may not be successful.
In all cases, we must show that a drug candidate is both safe and effective before the FDA, or drug approval agencies of other countries where we intend to sell the product, will
approve it for sale. Our research and testing programs must comply with drug approval requirements both in the United States and in other countries, since we are developing
our drug candidates with the intention to, or could later decide to, commercialize them both in the U.S. and abroad. A product may fail for safety or effectiveness at any stage of
the testing process. A major risk we face is the possibility that none of our products under development will come through the testing process to final approval for sale, with the
result that we cannot derive any commercial revenue from them after investing significant amounts of capital in multiple stages of preclinical and clinical testing. In addition, a
number of factors could contribute to a lack of favorable safety and efficacy results for our drug candidates. For example, our trials could result in increased variability due to
varying site characteristics, such as local standards of care, differences in evaluation period and surgical technique, and due to varying patient characteristics, including
demographic factors and health status.
Even if we receive regulatory approval for our drug candidates, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize any of our products, and the revenue that we
generate from sales, if any, may be limited.
If approved for marketing, the commercial success of our drug candidates will depend upon their acceptance by the medical community, including physicians, patients and
health care payors. The degree of market acceptance of our drug candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:
▪demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy;
▪relative convenience, pill burden and ease of administration;
▪the prevalence and severity of any adverse effects;
▪the willingness of physicians to prescribe our drug candidates and of the target patient population to try new therapies;
▪safety, tolerability and efficacy of our drug candidates compared to competing products;
▪the introduction of any new products that may in the future become available to treat indications for which our drug candidates may be approved;
▪new procedures or methods of treatment that may reduce the incidences of any of the indications in which our drug candidates may show utility;
▪pricing and cost-effectiveness;
▪the inclusion or omission of our drug candidates in applicable treatment guidelines;
▪the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;
▪limitations or warnings contained in FDA-approved labeling;
▪our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement from government health care programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, private
health insurers and other third-party payors; and
▪the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third-party coverage or reimbursement.
If any of our drug candidates are approved, but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, health care payors and patients, we may not generate sufficient
revenue and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. Our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our drug candidates
may require significant resources and may never be successful.
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In addition, even if we obtain regulatory approvals, the timing or scope of any approvals may prohibit or reduce our ability to commercialize our drug candidates successfully.
For example, if the approval process takes too long, we may miss market opportunities and give other companies the ability to develop competing products or establish market
dominance. Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render our drug candidates not
commercially viable. For example, regulatory authorities may approve our drug candidates for fewer or more limited indications than we request, may not approve the prices we
intend to charge for our drug candidates, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials, or may approve our drug candidates with
labels that do not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a particular indication. Further, the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities may place conditions on approvals, such as risk management plans and a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, to assure the safe use of the
drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS; the FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if
required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries
and other risk minimization tools. The FDA may also require a REMS for an approved product when new safety information emerges. Any of these limitations on approval or
marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of our drug candidates. Moreover, product approvals may be withdrawn for noncompliance with regulatory standards or if problems occur following the initial marketing of the product. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial
success of our drug candidates.
Even if we obtain marketing approval for our drug candidates, we will be subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant
additional expense. Additionally, our drug candidates could be subject to labeling and other restrictions and withdrawal from the market and we may be subject to penalties
if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our drug candidates.
Even if we obtain United States regulatory approval of our drug candidates for an indication, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on their indicated uses or
marketing or the conditions of approval, or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly and time-consuming post-approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and
post-market surveillance to monitor safety and efficacy. Our drug candidates will also be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements governing the manufacturing, labeling,
packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of adverse events and other post-market information. These
requirements include registration with the FDA, continued compliance with current Good Clinical Practices regulations, or cGCPs, for any clinical trials that we conduct postapproval, continued compliance with the CSA and ongoing review by the DEA. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review
and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, requirements relating to quality
control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents.
With respect to sales and marketing activities by us or any future partner, advertising and promotional materials must comply with FDA rules in addition to other applicable
federal, state and local laws in the United States and similar legal requirements in other countries. In the United States, the distribution of product samples to physicians must
comply with the requirements of the U.S. Prescription Drug Marketing Act. Application holders must obtain FDA approval for product and manufacturing changes, depending
on the nature of the change. We may also be subject, directly or indirectly through our customers and partners, to various fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation,
the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, U.S. False Claims Act, and similar state laws, which impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing, and scientific/educational grant
programs. If we participate in the U.S. Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, the Federal Supply Schedule of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, or other government drug
programs, we will be subject to complex laws and regulations regarding reporting and payment obligations. All of these activities are also potentially subject to U.S. federal and
state consumer protection and unfair competition laws. Similar requirements exist in many of these areas in other countries.
In addition, if any of our drug candidates are approved for an indication, our product labeling, advertising and promotion would be subject to regulatory requirements and
continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products. In particular, a product may not be promoted for
uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for any of our drug candidates, physicians may
nevertheless legally prescribe such products to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. However, if we are found to have promoted such off-label
uses, we may become subject to significant liability and government fines. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged
improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees of
permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed.
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If we or a regulatory agency discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency or problems with the facility
where the product is manufactured, or if we or our manufacturers fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, we may be subject to the following administrative or
judicial sanctions:
▪restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market, or voluntary or mandatory product recalls;
▪issuance of warning letters or untitled letters;
▪injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;
▪suspension of any ongoing clinical trials;
▪refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us, or suspension or revocation of product license approvals;
▪suspension of, or imposition of restrictions on, operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or
▪product seizure or detention or refusal to permit the import or export of product.
The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our drug candidates and generate revenue. Adverse regulatory action, whether
pre- or post-approval, can also potentially lead to product liability claims and increase our product liability exposure.
We have entered into, and may in the future enter into, collaboration agreements for the licensing, development and ultimate commercialization of some of our drug
candidates. In such cases, we will depend greatly on our third-party collaborators to license, develop and commercialize such drug candidates, and they may not meet our
expectations.
We may enter into co-development and commercialization partnerships for our drug candidates where appropriate. The process of identifying collaborators and negotiating
collaboration agreements for the licensing, development and ultimate commercialization of some of our drug candidates may cause delays and increased costs. We may not be
able to enter into collaboration agreements on terms favorable to us or at all. Furthermore, some of those agreements may give substantial responsibility over our drug
candidates to the collaborator. Some collaborators may be unable or unwilling to devote sufficient resources to develop our drug candidates as their agreements require. They
often face business risks similar to ours, and this could interfere with their efforts. Also, collaborators may choose to devote their resources to products that compete with ours. If
a collaborator does not successfully develop any one of our products, we will need to find another collaborator to do so. The success of our search for a new collaborator will
depend on our legal right to do so at the time and whether the product remains commercially viable.
If we enter into collaboration agreements for one or more of our drug candidates, the success of such drug candidates will depend in great part upon our and our collaborators’
success in promoting them as superior to other treatment alternatives. We believe that our drug candidates can be proven to offer disease treatment with notable advantages over
drugs in terms of patient compliance and effectiveness. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to prove these advantages or that the advantages will be
sufficient to support the successful commercialization of our drug candidates.
We face competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. We have competitors in a number of
jurisdictions, many of which have substantially greater name recognition, commercial infrastructures and financial, technical and personnel resources than we have. Established
competitors may invest heavily to quickly discover and develop novel compounds that could make our drug candidates obsolete or uneconomical. Any new product that
competes with an approved product may need to demonstrate compelling advantages in efficacy, cost, convenience, tolerability and safety to be commercially successful. Other
competitive factors, including generic competition, could force us to lower prices or could result in reduced sales. In addition, new products developed by others could emerge
as competitors to our drug candidates. If we are not able to compete effectively against our current and future competitors, our business will not grow and our financial
condition and operations will suffer.
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Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our drug candidates and affect the
prices we may obtain.
In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that
could prevent or delay marketing approval for our drug candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell our drug candidates.
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We do not
know whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes
on the marketing approvals of our drug candidates, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay
or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
In the United States, under the Medicare Modernization Act, or MMA, Medicare Part D provides coverage to the elderly and disabled for outpatient prescription drugs by
approving and subsidizing prescription drug plans offered by private insurers. The MMA also authorizes Medicare Part D prescription drug plans to use formularies where they
can limit the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. The Part D plans use their formulary leverage to negotiate rebates and other price concessions from
drug manufacturers. Also under the MMA, Medicare Part B provides coverage to the elderly and disabled for physician-administered drugs on the basis of the drug’s average
sales price, a price that is calculated according to regulatory requirements and that the manufacturer reports to Medicare quarterly.
Both Congress and the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), the agency that administers the Medicare program, from time to time consider legislation, regulations,
or other initiatives to reduce drug costs under Medicare Parts B and D. For example, under the 2010 Affordable Care Act, drug manufacturers are required to provide a 50%
discount on prescriptions for branded drugs filled while the beneficiary is in the Medicare Part D coverage gap, also known as the “donut hole.” There have been legislative
proposals to repeal the “non-interference” provision of the MMA to allow CMS to leverage the Medicare market share to negotiate larger Part D rebates. Further cost reduction
efforts could decrease the coverage and price that we receive for our drug candidates and could seriously harm our business. Private payors often follow Medicare coverage
policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates, and any reduction in reimbursement under the Medicare program may result in a similar reduction in
payments from private payors.
The 2010 Affordable Care Act is intended to broaden access to health insurance and reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending. Further, the Affordable Care Act
imposes a significant annual fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products. It also increased the amount of the rebates drug manufacturers
must pay to state Medicaid programs, required that Medicaid rebates be paid on managed Medicaid utilization, and increased the additional rebate on “line extensions” (such as
extended release formulations) of solid oral dosage forms of branded products. The law also contains substantial provisions affecting fraud and abuse compliance and
transparency, which may require us to modify our business practices with healthcare practitioners, and incur substantial costs to ensure compliance.
In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. For example, the Budget Control Act of 2011 included,
among other things, provisions that have led to 2% across-the-board reductions in Medicare payment amounts. Several states have adopted or are considering adopting laws that
require pharmaceutical companies to provide notice prior to raising prices and to justify price increases. We expect that additional healthcare reform measures will be adopted in
the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, and in turn could significantly reduce the
projected value of certain development projects and reduce our profitability.
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Our future growth depends, in part, on our ability to enter into and succeed in markets outside of the United States, where we may choose to rely on third party
collaborations and will be subject to additional regulatory and commercial burdens, risks and other uncertainties.
Our future profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to gain approval of and commercialize our drug candidates in non-U.S. markets. In some or all of these non-U.S.
markets, we intend to enter into licensing and contractual collaborations with third parties to handle some or all of the tasks and responsibilities necessary to succeed. Our
activities in non-U.S. markets are subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including:
▪our ability to enter into favorable licensing and contractual arrangements with our partners;
▪our ability to select partners who are capable of achieving success at the tasks they agree to perform;
▪obtaining timely and sufficient favorable approval terms for our drug candidates;
▪obtaining favorable pricing and reimbursement;
▪our inability to directly control commercial activities because we are relying on third parties;
▪the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;
▪different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceptance in the marketplace;
▪import or export licensing requirements;
▪longer accounts receivable collection times;
▪longer lead times for shipping;
▪language barriers for technical training;
▪reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries;
▪foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and
▪the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.
International sales of our drug candidates could also be adversely affected by the imposition of governmental controls, political and economic instability, and trade restrictions
and changes in tariffs, any of which may adversely affect our results of operations.
If we market our drug candidates in a manner that violates healthcare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate government price reporting laws, we may be subject to civil or
criminal penalties.
The FDA enforces laws and regulations which require that the promotion of pharmaceutical products be consistent with the approved prescribing information. While physicians
may prescribe an approved product for a so-called “off label” use, it is unlawful for a pharmaceutical company to promote its products in a manner that is inconsistent with its
approved label and any company which engages in such conduct may be subject to significant liability. Similarly, industry codes in the European Union and other foreign
jurisdictions prohibit companies from engaging in off-label promotion and regulatory agencies in various countries enforce violations of the code with civil penalties. While we
intend to ensure that our promotional materials are consistent with our label, regulatory agencies may disagree with our assessment and may issue untitled letters, warning
letters or may institute other civil or criminal enforcement proceedings. In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of state and
federal healthcare fraud and abuse laws have been applied in recent years to restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. These laws include the U.S.
Anti-Kickback Statute, U.S. False Claims Act and similar state laws. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the safe harbors, it is possible that some of our
business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of these laws.
The U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce, or in return for,
purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any healthcare item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed
healthcare programs. This statute has been interpreted broadly to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and
formulary managers on the other. Although there are several statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution, the
exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchasing or recommending may be subject to
scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Our practices may not, in all cases, meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kickback liability.
Moreover, recent health care reform legislation has strengthened these laws. For example, the Health Care Reform Law, among other things, amends the intent requirement of
the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and criminal health care fraud statutes; a person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it.
In addition, the Health Care Reform Law provides that the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the U.S. Anti-Kickback
Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the U.S. False Claims Act. Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to
be presented, a false claim for payment to the federal government or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid.
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Over the past few years, pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of alleged promotional and marketing activities,
such as: allegedly providing free trips, free goods, sham consulting fees and grants and other monetary benefits to prescribers; reporting to pricing services inflated average
wholesale prices that were then used by federal programs to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted to Medicare or
Medicaid for non-covered, off-label uses; and submitting inflated best price information to the Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates. Most states
also have statutes or regulations similar to the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S. False Claims Act, which apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and
other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor. Sanctions under these federal and state laws may include substantial civil monetary penalties, exclusion
of a manufacturer’s products from reimbursement under government programs, substantial criminal fines and imprisonment.
We are, and will be, completely dependent on third parties to manufacture our drug candidates, and our commercialization of our drug candidates could be halted, delayed
or made less profitable if those third parties fail to obtain manufacturing approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, fail to provide us with
sufficient quantities of our drug candidates or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices.
We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the capability or infrastructure to manufacture the active pharmaceutical ingredients of our drug candidates, or the finished
drug products, for use in our clinical trials or for commercial product, if any. As a result, we will be obligated to rely on contract manufacturers if and when our drug candidates
are approved for commercialization.
We currently rely on a single contract supplier for manufacturing monoclonal antibodies. We have limited experience contracting third parties to manufacture monoclonal
antibodies and do not control the manufacturing processes of, and are completely dependent on, our two contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMPs for
manufacture of all active drug substances and finished drug products. These cGMP regulations cover all aspects of the manufacturing, testing, quality control and record keeping
relating to our drug candidates. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements
of the FDA or others, they will not be able to secure and/or maintain regulatory approval for their manufacturing facilities. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory
authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative
manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our drug candidates, if approved.
Our contract manufacturers will be subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies for compliance with cGMPs
and similar regulatory requirements. We will not have control over our contract manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards. Failure by any of our contract
manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure to grant approval to
market our drug candidates, delays, suspensions or withdrawals of approvals, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely
affect our business. In addition, we will not have control over the ability of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified
personnel. Failure by our contract manufacturers to comply with or maintain any of these standards could adversely affect our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for
or market our drug candidates.
If for any reason, these third parties are unable or unwilling to perform, we may not be able to terminate our agreements with them, and we may not be able to locate alternative
manufacturers or formulators or enter into favorable agreements with them and we cannot be certain that any such third parties will have the manufacturing capacity to meet
future requirements. If these manufacturers or any alternate manufacturer of finished drug product experiences any significant difficulties in its respective manufacturing
processes for our active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, or our finished products or should cease doing business with us, we could experience significant interruptions in the
supply of our drug candidates or may not be able to create a supply of our drug candidates at all. Were we to encounter manufacturing issues, our ability to produce a sufficient
supply of our drug candidates might be negatively affected. Our inability to coordinate the efforts of our third party manufacturing partners, or the lack of capacity available at
our third party manufacturing partners, could impair our ability to supply our drug candidates at required levels. Because of the significant regulatory requirements that we
would need to satisfy in order to qualify a new bulk or finished product manufacturer, if we face these or other difficulties with our current manufacturing partners, we could
experience significant interruptions in the supply of our drug candidates if we decided to transfer the manufacture of our drug candidates to one or more alternative
manufacturers in an effort to deal with the difficulties.
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Any manufacturing problem or the loss of a contract manufacturer could be disruptive to our operations and result in lost sales. Additionally, we rely on third parties to supply
the raw materials needed to manufacture our potential products. Any reliance on suppliers may involve several risks, including a potential inability to obtain critical materials
and reduced control over production costs, delivery schedules, reliability and quality. Any unanticipated disruption to a future contract manufacturer caused by problems at
suppliers could delay shipment of our drug candidates, increase our cost of goods sold and result in lost sales.
We cannot guarantee that our manufacturing and supply partners will be able to manufacture our drug candidates at commercial scale on a cost-effective basis. If the
commercial-scale manufacturing costs of our drug candidates are higher than expected, these costs may significantly impact our operating results. In order to reduce costs, we
may need to develop and implement process improvements. However, in order to do so, we will need, from time to time, to notify or make submissions with regulatory
authorities, and the improvements may be subject to approval by such regulatory authorities. We cannot be sure that we will receive these necessary approvals or that these
approvals will be granted in a timely fashion. We also cannot guarantee that we will be able to enhance and optimize output in our commercial manufacturing process. If we
cannot enhance and optimize output, we may not be able to reduce our costs over time.
There are risks associated with scaling up manufacturing to commercial scale. If our contract manufacturers are unable to manufacture our drug candidates on a
commercial scale, this could potentially delay regulatory approval and commercialization or materially adversely affect our results of operations.
There are risks associated with scaling up manufacturing to commercial volumes including, among others, cost overruns, technical problems with process scale-up, process
reproducibility, stability issues, and lot consistency. We have limited experience contracting with third parties to manufacture monoclonal antibodies and will need to be able to
successfully scale up and produce a batch of CRB-601 to commence clinical studies. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our drug candidates, there is no assurance that
our contract manufacturers will be able to manufacture the approved products to specifications acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory authorities, to produce them in
sufficient quantities to meet the requirements for the potential launch of the product or to meet potential future demand. If our manufacturers are unable to produce sufficient
quantities of approved products for commercialization, either on a timely basis or at all, our commercialization efforts would be impaired, which would have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
We expect that we will rely on third parties to assist us in conducting clinical trials for our drug candidates. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates and our business would be
substantially harmed.
We expect to enter into agreements with third-party CROs to assist us in conducting and managing our clinical programs, including contracting with clinical sites to perform our
clinical studies. We plan to rely on these parties for execution of clinical studies for our drug candidates and we will control only certain aspects of conducting the clinical
studies. Nevertheless, we will be responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific
standards, and our reliance on CROs and clinical sites will not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs will be required to comply with cGCPs, which are
regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA, the Competent Authorities of the Member States of the European Economic Area and comparable foreign regulatory
authorities for any products in clinical development. The FDA enforces these cGCP regulations through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial
sites. If we or our CROs fail to comply with applicable cGCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that, upon inspection, the FDA will
determine that any of our clinical trials comply with cGCPs. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with products produced under cGMP regulations and will require
a large number of test subjects. Our failure or the failure of our CROs or clinical sites to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay
the regulatory approval process and could also subject us to enforcement action up to and including civil and criminal penalties.
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Although we intend to design the clinical trials for our drug candidates in consultation with CROs, we expect that the CROs will manage and assist us with the clinical trials
conducted at contracted clinical sites. As a result, many important aspects of our drug development programs would be outside of our direct control. In addition, the CROs and
clinical sites may not perform all of their obligations under arrangements with us or in compliance with regulatory requirements. If the CROs or clinical sites do not perform
clinical trials in a satisfactory manner, or if they breach their obligations to us or fail to comply with regulatory requirements, the development and commercialization of our
drug candidates for the subject indications may be delayed or our development program materially and irreversibly harmed. We cannot control the amount and timing of
resources these CROs and clinical sites will devote to our program or our drug candidates. If we are unable to rely on clinical data collected by our CROs, we could be required
to repeat, extend the duration of, or increase the size of our clinical trials, which could significantly delay commercialization and require significantly greater expenditures.
If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs or clinical sites terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative CROs or clinical sites. If CROs
do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they
obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, any such clinical trials may be extended, delayed or
terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our drug candidates. As a result, our financial results and the commercial
prospects for our drug candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenue could be delayed.
Any termination or suspension of or delays in the commencement or completion of any necessary studies of our drug candidates for any indications could result in
increased costs to us, delay or limit our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects.
The commencement and completion of clinical studies can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related to:
▪the FDA failing to grant permission to proceed and placing the clinical study on hold;
▪subjects failing to enroll or remain in our trials at the rate we expect;
▪a facility manufacturing any of our drug candidates being ordered by the FDA or other government or regulatory authorities to temporarily or permanently shut down due
to violations of cGMP requirements or other applicable requirements, or cross-contaminations of product in the manufacturing process;
▪any changes to our manufacturing process that may be necessary or desired;
▪subjects choosing an alternative treatment for the indications for which we are developing our drug candidates, or participating in competing clinical studies;
▪subjects experiencing severe or unexpected drug-related adverse effects;
▪reports of similar technologies and products raising safety and/or efficacy concerns;
▪third-party clinical investigators losing their license or permits necessary to perform our clinical trials, not performing our clinical trials on our anticipated schedule or
employing methods consistent with the clinical trial protocol, cGCP requirements, or other third parties not performing data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate
manner;
▪inspections of clinical study sites by the FDA or IRBs finding regulatory violations that require us to undertake corrective action, result in suspension or termination of one
or more sites or the imposition of a clinical hold on the entire study, or that prohibit us from using some or all of the data in support of our marketing applications;
▪third-party contractors becoming debarred or suspended or otherwise penalized by the FDA or other government or regulatory authorities for violations of regulatory
requirements, in which case we may need to find a substitute contractor, and we may not be able to use some or any of the data produced by such contractors in support of
our marketing applications;
▪one or more IRBs refusing to approve, suspending or terminating the study at an investigational site precluding enrollment of additional subjects, or withdrawing its
approval of the trial; reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and
may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;
▪deviations of the clinical sites from trial protocols or dropping out of a trial;
▪adding new clinical trial sites;
▪the inability of the CRO to execute any clinical trials for any reason;
▪government or regulatory delays or “clinical holds” requiring suspension or termination of a trial; and
▪delays related to the impacts of COVID-19, including slowdowns in enrollment or our ability complete our clinical trials on our expected timeline.
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Product development costs for our drug candidates will increase if we have delays in testing or approval or if we need to perform more or larger clinical studies than planned.
Additionally, changes in regulatory requirements and policies may occur and we may need to amend study protocols to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to
resubmit our study protocols to the FDA and IRBs for reexamination, which may impact the costs, timing or successful completion of that study. If we experience delays in
completion of, or if we, the FDA or other regulatory authorities, any IRBs, or other reviewing entities, or any of our clinical study sites suspend or terminate any of our clinical
studies of our drug candidates, our commercial prospects may be materially harmed and our ability to generate product revenues will be delayed. Any delays in completing our
clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Any of
these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, termination or suspension of, or
a delay in the commencement or completion of, clinical studies may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our drug candidates. In addition, if one or more
clinical studies are delayed, our competitors may be able to bring products to market before we do, and the commercial viability of our drug candidates could be significantly
reduced.
We may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug designation or exclusivity for our product candidates.
We may seek orphan drug designation in the United States and in the European Union for our product candidates. Upon receipt of regulatory approval, orphan drug status will
provide us with seven years of market exclusivity in the United States under the Orphan Drug Act. However, there is no guarantee that the FDA will grant orphan drug
designation for any of our drug candidates for any future indication, which would make us ineligible for the additional exclusivity and other benefits of orphan drug designation.
Moreover, there can be no assurance that another company also holding orphan drug designation for the same indication or which may receive orphan drug designation in the
future will not receive approval prior to us, in which case our competitor would have the benefit of the seven years of market exclusivity, and we would be unable to
commercialize our product for the same indication until the expiration of such seven-year period. Even if we are the first to obtain approval for the orphan drug indication, there
are circumstances under which a competing product may be approved for the same indication during our seven-year period of exclusivity.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally a disease or condition that
affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making a drug available in the
Unites States for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an NDA. After the
FDA grants orphan drug designation, the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan designation does not convey
any advantage in or shorten the duration of regulatory review and approval process. In addition to the potential period of exclusivity, orphan designation makes a company
eligible for grant funding of up to $400,000 per year for four years to defray costs of clinical trial expenses, tax credits for clinical research expenses and potential exemption
from the FDA application user fee.
If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to
orphan drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same indication for seven years, except in limited
circumstances, such as (i) the drug’s orphan designation is revoked; (ii) its marketing approval is withdrawn; (iii) the orphan exclusivity holder consents to the approval of
another applicant’s product; (iv) the orphan exclusivity holder is unable to assure the availability of a sufficient quantity of drug; or (v) a showing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan exclusivity by a competitor product. If a drug designated as an orphan product receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what is
designated, it may not be entitled to orphan drug exclusivity. There can be no assurance that we will receive orphan drug designation for any of our drug candidates for any
additional indications, if we elect to seek such designation. Even if orphan designation is granted it may be withdrawn by the FDA for non-compliance with regulations.
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Third-party coverage and reimbursement and health care cost containment initiatives and treatment guidelines may constrain our future revenues.
Our ability to successfully market our drug candidates will depend in part on the level of reimbursement that government health administration authorities, private health
coverage insurers and other organizations provide for the cost of our products and related treatments. Countries in which our drug candidates are expected to be sold through
reimbursement schemes under national health insurance programs frequently require that manufacturers and sellers of pharmaceutical products obtain governmental approval of
initial prices and any subsequent price increases. In certain countries, including the United States, government-funded and private medical care plans can exert significant
indirect pressure on prices. We may not be able to sell our drug candidates profitably if adequate prices are not approved or coverage and reimbursement is unavailable or
limited in scope. Increasingly, third-party payors attempt to contain health care costs in ways that are likely to impact our development of products including:
▪failing to approve or challenging the prices charged for health care products;
▪introducing reimportation schemes from lower priced jurisdictions;
▪limiting both coverage and the amount of reimbursement for new therapeutic products;
▪denying or limiting coverage for products that are approved by the regulatory agencies but are considered to be experimental or investigational by third-party payors; and
▪refusing to provide coverage when an approved product is used in a way that has not received regulatory marketing approval.
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Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property Rights
It is difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we cannot ensure the protection of these rights.
Our success will depend, in part, on maintaining and obtaining additional patent protection for our technologies, products and processes, successfully defending these patents
against third-party challenges and successfully enforcing these patents against third party competitors. The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies can be highly
uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. Changes in either the patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws may diminish the value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowable in our pending
applications or, the enforceability of our existing and future patents. Our pending patent applications may never be approved by United States or foreign patent offices and the
existing patents and patent applications relating to our product candidates may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented by third parties and may not protect us against
competitors with similar products or technologies.
The degree of our current and future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain, because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our
rights, permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage, or provide us with any competitive advantage at all. For example, others have filed, and in the future are likely to
file, patent applications covering products and technologies that are similar, identical or competitive to our product candidates, or important to our business. We cannot be
certain that any patents or patent application owned by a third party will not have priority over patents and patent applications filed by us, or that we will not be involved in
interference, opposition or invalidity proceedings before United States or foreign patent offices.
We also rely on trade secrets to protect technology, especially in cases when we believe patent protection is not appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to
protect. While we require employees, academic collaborators, consultants and other contractors to enter into confidentiality agreements, we may not be able to adequately
protect our trade secrets or other proprietary or licensed information. Typically, research collaborators and scientific advisors have rights to publish data and information in
which we may have rights. If we cannot maintain the confidentiality of our proprietary technology and other confidential information, our ability to receive patent protection
and our ability to protect valuable information owned by us may be imperiled. Enforcing a claim that a third-party entity illegally obtained and is using any of our trade secrets
is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets than patents. Moreover, our
competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.
If we fail to maintain or obtain additional patent protection or trade secret protection for our product candidates or our technologies, third parties could use our proprietary
information, which could impair our ability to compete in the market and adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and attain profitability.
We may also rely on the trademarks we may develop to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors. We cannot guarantee that any trademark applications
filed by us or our business partners will be approved. Third parties may also oppose such trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event
that the trademarks we use are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to
devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Further, we cannot provide assurance that competitors will not infringe the trademarks we use, or that we will have
adequate resources to enforce these trademarks.
We have in-licensed a portion of our intellectual property, and if we fail to comply with our obligations under these arrangements, we could lose such intellectual property
rights or owe damages to the licensor of such intellectual property.
We are a party to a license agreement with Jenrin pursuant to which we licensed the exclusive worldwide rights to develop, manufacture and market drug candidates from
Jenrin. This agreement is important to our business, and we may enter into additional license agreements in the future. Certain of our in-licensed intellectual property covers, or
may cover and potential cannabinoid developmental candidates. Our existing license agreement imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various
diligence, milestone payment, royalty and other obligations on us. If there is any conflict, dispute, disagreement or issue of non-performance between us and our licensing
partners regarding our rights or obligations under the license agreements, including any such conflict, dispute or disagreement arising from our failure to satisfy payment
obligations under any such agreement, we may owe damages, our licensor may have a right to terminate the affected license, and our ability to utilize the affected intellectual
property in our product discovery and development efforts and our ability to enter into collaboration or marketing agreements for an affected product candidate may be
adversely affected.
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We are a party to a license agreement with The Regents pursuant to which we licensed the exclusive worldwide rights to develop, manufacture and market drug candidates from
The Regents. This agreement is important to our business, and we may enter into additional license agreements in the future. Certain of our in-licensed intellectual property
covers, or may cover, potential anti-integrin mAb developmental candidates. Our existing license agreement imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose,
various diligence, milestone payment, royalty and other obligations on us. If there is any conflict, dispute, disagreement or issue of non-performance between us and our
licensing partners regarding our rights or obligations under the license agreements, including any such conflict, dispute or disagreement arising from our failure to satisfy
payment obligations under any such agreement, we may owe damages, our licensor may have a right to terminate the affected license, and our ability to utilize the affected
intellectual property in our product discovery and development efforts and our ability to enter into collaboration or marketing agreements for an affected product candidate may
be adversely affected.
Our product candidates may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which could increase our costs and delay or prevent our development and commercialization
efforts.
Our success depends in part on avoiding infringement of the proprietary technologies of others. The pharmaceutical industry has been characterized by frequent litigation
regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Identification of third-party patent rights that may be relevant to our proprietary technology is difficult because patent
searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among patents, incomplete databases and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. Additionally, because
patent applications are maintained in secrecy until the application is published, we may be unaware of third-party patents that may be infringed by any of our product
candidates. There may be certain issued patents and patent applications claiming subject matter that we may be required to license in order to research, develop or
commercialize our product candidates, and we do not know if such patents and patent applications would be available to license on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
Any claims of patent infringement asserted by third parties would be time-consuming and may:
▪result in costly litigation;
▪divert the time and attention of our technical personnel and management;
▪prevent us from commercializing a product until the asserted patent expires or is held finally invalid or not infringed in a court of law;
▪require us to cease or modify our use of the technology and/or develop non-infringing technology; or
▪require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements.
Although no third party has asserted a claim of infringement against us, others may hold proprietary rights that could prevent our product candidates from being marketed. Any
patent-related legal action against us claiming damages and seeking to enjoin commercial activities relating to our product candidates or our processes could subject us to
potential liability for damages and require us to obtain a license to continue to manufacture or market our product candidates. We cannot predict whether we would prevail in
any such actions or that any license required under any of these patents would be made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, we cannot be sure that
we could redesign any product candidates or processes to avoid infringement, if necessary. Accordingly, an adverse determination in a judicial or administrative proceeding, or
the failure to obtain necessary licenses, could prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition and
operating results.
A number of companies, including several major pharmaceutical companies, have conducted research on anti-inflammatory, cancer, and anti-fibrosis therapies which resulted in
the filing of many patent applications related to this research. If we were to challenge the validity of these or any issued United States patent in court, we would need to
overcome a statutory presumption of validity that attaches to every issued United States patent. This means that, in order to prevail, we would have to present clear and
convincing evidence as to the invalidity of the patent’s claims.
If we were to challenge the validity of these or any issued United States patent in an administrative trial before the Patent Trial and Appeal Board in the United States Patent and
Trademark Office, we would have to prove that the claims are unpatentable by a preponderance of the evidence. There is no assurance that a jury and/or court would find in our
favor on questions of infringement, validity or enforceability.
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We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged
confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers.
As is commonplace in our industry, we employ individuals who were previously employed at other pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject in the future to claims that our employees or prospective employees are subject to a
continuing obligation to their former employers (such as non-competition or non-solicitation obligations) or claims that our employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise
used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful
in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
We are, and may become, subject to claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets that, regardless of
merit, could result in significant expense and loss of our intellectual property rights.
We have entered into and may enter in the future into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements to protect the proprietary positions of third parties, such as outside scientific
collaborators, CROs, third-party manufacturers, consultants, advisors, potential partners and other third parties. We may become subject to litigation where a third-party asserts
that we or our employees inadvertently or otherwise breached the agreements and used or disclosed trade secrets or other information proprietary to the third parties. Defense of
such matters, regardless of their merit, could involve substantial litigation expense and be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. We cannot predict
whether we would prevail in any such actions. Moreover, intellectual property litigation, regardless of its outcome, may cause negative publicity and could prohibit us from
developing, marketing or otherwise commercializing our product candidates. Failure to defend against any such claim could subject us to significant liability for monetary
damages or prevent or delay our developmental and commercialization efforts, which could adversely affect our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our management team and other employees.
Parties making claims against us may be able to sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater
resources. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse
effect on our ability to raise additional funds or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.
On November 18, 2021, Venn Therapeutics, LLC (“Venn”), filed a complaint (the “Complaint”) against us in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The
Complaint asserts claims for trade secret misappropriation under federal law and state law, a claim for breach of contract, and state law claims for unfair competition,
misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, and intentional interference with advantageous business relations. On November 24, 2021, Venn filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction, which requests that the court preliminarily enjoin us from using Venn’s trade secrets and/or confidential information without Venn’s consent, including by
conducting any further development work of our immunotherapy program based on CRB-601, until further order of the court. On January 7, 2022, we filed a motion to dismiss
the Complaint in its entirety and an opposition to Venn’s motion for a preliminary injunction.
We believe that the Complaint and Venn’s preliminary injunction motion are without merit and intend to vigorously defend the Company against these claims; however, there
can be no assurance that we will prevail in such proceedings.
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We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.
Although we are not aware of any asserted third-party claims challenging inventorship on our patents or ownership of our intellectual property, we may in the future be subject
to claims that former employees, strategic partners, commercial counterparties or other third parties associated with us or one of our predecessors in ownership have an interest
in our patents or other intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. While it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the
conception or development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we cannot fully control the enforcement of these policies by
third parties with which we contract, nor can we be certain that assignment agreements between us and our employees, between us and our counterparties, or between our
counterparties and their employees or between our predecessors of ownership and their employees and counterparties, will effectively protect our interests as to any party who
conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Among other issues, the assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, the
assignment agreements may be breached, or we may have disputes arise from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing our product
candidates. As we approach potential commercialization of our product candidates, we are more closely analyzing all facts that we believe might be used to assert an
inventorship claim against us. Determinations like these involve complex sets of fact and applications of sometimes-unsettled patent law, resulting in inherent uncertainties
regarding ownership rights. Determining the history of development of certain of our intellectual property is made more difficult by the fact that certain of our intellectual
property was developed by other companies for other indications before being acquired by us. Consequently, we cannot be sure that we have all of the documentary records
relevant to such an analysis. In the course of our analysis we identified a potential issue regarding incomplete inventorship on certain aspects of our lenabasum portfolio that
were developed prior to our acquisition of lenabasum. Since identifying this potential issue, we reached agreement with the relevant third-party co-inventors and received
assignments of such co-inventors’ rights in and to the relevant patents.
If claims challenging inventorship are made against us, we may need to resort to litigation to resolve those claims. If we fail in defending against any such claims, in addition to
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of valuable intellectual property rights or the right to assert those
rights against third-parties marketing competing products. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a
distraction to management and other employees.
General Company-Related Risks
We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.
As of December 31, 2021, we had 41 full-time employees. As our development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, we will need to expand the size of our
employee base for managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other resources. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of
management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integrate additional employees. In addition, our management may have to divert a disproportionate
amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. Our future financial performance and
our ability to commercialize our drug candidates and our ability to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage our future growth.
Future capital raises may dilute our existing stockholders’ ownership and/or have other adverse effects on our operations.
If we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our existing stockholders’ percentage ownership will be reduced and these stockholders may experience substantial
dilution. We may also issue equity securities that provide for rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our common stock. If we raise additional funds by issuing debt
securities, these debt securities would have rights senior to those of our common stock and the terms of the debt securities issued could impose significant restrictions on our
operations, including liens on our assets. If we raise additional funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements, we may be required to relinquish some rights to our
technologies or candidate products, or to grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
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If we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. In addition, the loss of
the services of certain key employees, including Yuval Cohen, our Chief Executive Officer, Rachael Brake, our Chief Scientific Officer, Craig Millian, our Chief Operating
Officer, and Sean Moran, our Chief Financial Officer would adversely impact our business prospects.
Our ability to compete in the highly competitive pharmaceuticals industry depends in large part upon our ability to attract highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical
personnel. In order to induce valuable employees to remain with us, we intend to provide employees with stock options that vest over time. The value to employees of stock
options that vest over time will be significantly affected by movements in the price of our common stock that we will not be able to control and may at any time be insufficient
to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies.
Our management team has expertise in many different aspects of drug development and commercialization. However, we will need to hire additional personnel as we further
develop our drug candidates. Competition for skilled personnel in our market is intense and competition for experienced scientists may limit our ability to hire and retain highly
qualified personnel on acceptable terms. Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, scientific and medical teams may terminate their
employment with us on short notice. We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers. However, these employment arrangements provide for
at-will employment, which means that any of our employees could leave our employment at any time, with or without notice. The loss of the services of any of our executive
officers or other key employees could potentially harm our business, operating results or financial condition. In particular, we believe that the loss of the services of Yuval
Cohen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer, Rachael Brake, Ph.D., our Chief Scientific Officer, Craig Millian, our Chief Operating Officer and Sean Moran, C.P.A., M.B.A.,
our Chief Financial Officer, would have a material adverse effect on our business. Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly
skilled junior, mid-level, and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level, and senior scientific and medical personnel.
Other pharmaceutical companies with which we compete for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles, and a longer history in the
industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to
high-quality candidates than what we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, the rate and success at which we can develop and
commercialize product candidates would be limited.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our drug candidates.
We face a potential risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our drug candidates and will face an even greater risk if we commercialize our drug candidates.
For example, we may be sued if any product we develop or any materials that we use in our products allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during
product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of
dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability and a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot
successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our drug candidates. Even
successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
•decreased demand for our drug candidates;
•injury to our reputation;
•withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
•costs to defend the related litigation;
•a diversion of management’s time and our resources;
•substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
•product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;
•the inability to commercialize our drug candidates; and
•a decline in the value of our stock.
38

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the
commercialization of products we develop. We intend to obtain product liability insurance covering our clinical trials. Although we will maintain such insurance, any claim that
may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits
of our insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We may have
to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be
able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
We may acquire businesses, assets or products, or form strategic alliances, in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such acquisitions.
We may acquire additional businesses, assets or products, form strategic alliances or create joint ventures with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our
existing business. If we acquire businesses with promising markets or technologies, we may not be able to realize the benefit of acquiring such businesses if we are unable to
successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture. We may encounter numerous difficulties in developing, manufacturing and marketing any new
delay or prevent us from realizing their expected benefits or enhancing our business. We cannot assure you that, following any such acquisition, we will achieve the expected
synergies to justify the transaction.
Significant disruptions of information technology systems or breaches of data security could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
We collect and maintain information in digital form that is necessary to conduct our business, and we are increasingly dependent on information technology systems and
infrastructure to operate our business. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information, including intellectual
property, proprietary business information and personal information. It is critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such
confidential information. We have established physical, electronic and organizational measures to safeguard and secure our systems to prevent a data compromise, and rely on
commercially available systems, software, tools, and monitoring to provide security for our information technology systems and the processing, transmission and storage of
digital information. We have also outsourced elements of our information technology infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party vendors may or could have access to
our confidential information. Our internal information technology systems and infrastructure, and those of our current and any future collaborators, contractors and consultants
and other third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, malware, natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and electrical failures,
cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over the Internet, attachments to emails, persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our organization.
The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber-terrorists, has
generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. In addition, the prevalent use of
mobile devices that access confidential information increases the risk of data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of confidential information or other intellectual
property. The costs to us to mitigate network security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and security vulnerabilities could be significant, and while
we have implemented security measures to protect our data security and information technology systems, our efforts to address these problems may not be successful, and these
problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, cessation of service and other harm to our business and our competitive position. If such an event were to occur and
cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our product development programs. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or
ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Moreover, if a
computer security breach affects our systems or results in the unauthorized release of personally identifiable information, our reputation could be materially damaged.
In addition, such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to various federal and state privacy and security laws, if
applicable, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Clinical Health Act of 2009, and
its implementing rules and regulations, as well as regulations promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission and state breach notification laws.
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Under the EU regulation and notably the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, No. 2016/679, which entered into force on May 25, 2018 and is applicable personal
data that we process in relation to our presence in the EU, the offering of products or services to individuals in the EU or the monitoring of the behavior of individuals in the EU,
we have also a legal responsibility to report personal data breaches to the competent supervisory authority. The EU data protection regulation includes a broad definition and a
short deadline for the notification of personal data breaches, which may be difficult to implement in practice and requires that we implement robust internal processes. Under
this regulation, we have to report personal data breaches to the competent supervisory authority within 72 hours of the time we become aware of a breach "unless the personal
data breach is unlikely to result in a risk to the right and freedoms of natural persons" (Article 33 of the GDPR). In addition, the GDPR requires that we communicate the breach
to the Data Subject if the breach is "likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of natural persons" (Article 34 of the GDPR). In order to fulfil these requirements,
we have to implement specific internal processes to be followed in case of a personal data breach, which will allow us to (a) contain and recover the breach, (b) assess the risk to
the data subjects, (c) notify, and possibly communicate the breach to the data subjects, (d) investigate and respond to the breach. The performance of these processes implies
substantial costs in resources and time.
Moreover, as we may rely on third parties that will also process as processor the data for which we are a data controller—for example, in the context of the manufacturing of our
drug candidates or for the conduct of clinical trials, we must contractually ensure that strict security measures, as well as appropriate obligations including an obligation to report
in due delay any security incident are implemented, in order to allow us fulfilling our own regulatory requirements.
We would also be exposed to a risk of loss or litigation and potential liability for any security breach on personal data for which we are data controller. The costs of abovementioned processes together with legal penalties, possible compensation for damages and any resulting lawsuits arising from a breach may be extensive and may have a
negative impact on reputation and materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Related to our Common Stock
We will be unable to issue additional shares for future capital raising transactions or strategic transactions unless we obtain stockholder approval to amend our certificate
of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of our common stock available for issuance.
We have 300,000,000 authorized shares of common stock. As of March 8, 2022, we have 125,243,381 shares of common stock outstanding and 32,086,256 shares of common
stock reserved for future issuance related to stock options and warrants. As a result, as of March 8, 2022, we have approximately 141,164,157 shares of authorized shares of
common stock available for future issuance. We will be limited by the number of additional shares available for future capital raising transactions or business development
transactions unless we obtain stockholder approval of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock. We plan
to solicit the approval of our stockholders to amend our certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock, but we cannot be certain that
our stockholders will approve the amendment. A delay in securing, or a failure to secure, stockholder approval to amend our certificate of incorporation could cause a delay in
our future capital raising, collaboration, partnership or other strategic transactions, and may have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
Our affiliates may control our company for the foreseeable future, including the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval.
Our officers, directors, and five percent stockholders collectively owned approximately 14.3% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2021. This
concentration of voting power and control could have a significant effect in delaying, deferring or preventing an action that might otherwise be beneficial to our other
stockholders and be disadvantageous to our stockholders with interests different from those entities and individuals. Certain of these individuals also have significant control
over our business, policies and affairs as officers or directors of our company. Therefore, you should not invest in reliance on your ability to have any control over our company.
An active, liquid trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.
Presently, our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market, or Nasdaq, and an investment in our company may require a long-term commitment, with no certainty of
return. If we are unable to maintain an active, liquid active trading market:
•investors may have difficulty buying and selling or obtaining market quotations;
•market visibility for shares of our common stock may be limited; and
•a lack of visibility for shares of our common stock may have a depressive effect on the market price for shares of our common stock.
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The lack of an active market could impair your ability to sell your shares at the time you wish to sell them or at a price that you consider reasonable. The lack of an active
market may also reduce the fair market value of your shares. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund operations by selling shares and
may impair our ability to acquire additional intellectual property assets by using our shares as consideration.
We are currently listed on the Nasdaq Global Market. If we are unable to maintain listing of our securities on the Nasdaq Global Market or any stock exchange, our stock
price could be adversely affected and the liquidity of our stock and our ability to obtain financing could be impaired and it may be more difficult for our stockholders to sell
their securities.
Although our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, we may not be able to continue to meet the exchange’s minimum listing requirements or those of
any other national exchange. If we are unable to maintain listing on Nasdaq or if a liquid market for our common stock does not develop or is sustained, our common stock may
remain thinly traded.
The Listing Rules of Nasdaq require listing issuers to comply with certain standards in order to remain listed on its exchange. If, for any reason, we should fail to maintain
compliance with these listing standards and Nasdaq should delist our securities from trading on its exchange and we are unable to obtain listing on another national securities
exchange, a reduction in some or all of the following may occur, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our stockholders:
•the liquidity of our common stock;
•the market price of our common stock;
•our ability to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations;
•the number of institutional and general investors that will consider investing in our common stock;
•the number of investors in general that will consider investing in our common stock;
•the number of market makers in our common stock;
•the availability of information concerning the trading prices and volume of our common stock; and
•the number of broker-dealers willing to execute trades in shares of our common stock.
Our failure to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements could result in the delisting of our common stock
On January 3, 2022, we received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Staff of the Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC (“Nasdaq”) indicating that, based upon the closing bid price of
our common stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, we are not in compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share for continued
listing on the Nasdaq Global Market, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the “Notice”). We are provided a compliance period of 180 calendar days from the date of
the Notice, or until July 5, 2022, to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid requirement, pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A). If at any time before July 5,
2022, the closing bid price of our common stock closes at or above $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, subject to Nasdaq’s discretion to extend this
period pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(G), Nasdaq will provide written notification that we have achieved compliance with the minimum bid price requirement, and
the matter would be resolved. If we do not regain compliance during the compliance period ending July 5, 2022, then Nasdaq may grant us a second 180 calendar day period to
regain compliance, provided we (i) transfer to the Nasdaq Capital Market, (ii) meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly-held shares and all other initial
listing standards for the Nasdaq Capital Market, other than the minimum closing bid price requirement and (iii) notify Nasdaq of our intent to cure the deficiency.
We will continue to monitor the closing bid price of our common stock and seek to regain compliance with all applicable Nasdaq requirements within the allotted compliance
periods. If we do not regain compliance within the allotted compliance periods, including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdaq, Nasdaq will provide notice that the our
common stock will be subject to delisting. We would then be entitled to appeal that determination to a Nasdaq hearings panel. There can be no assurance that we will regain
compliance with the minimum bid price requirement during the 180-day compliance period, secure a second period of 180 days to regain compliance or maintain compliance
with the other Nasdaq listing requirements. A delisting could substantially decrease trading in our common stock, adversely affect the market liquidity of our common stock as
a result of the loss of market efficiencies associated with Nasdaq and the loss of federal preemption of state securities laws, adversely affect our ability to obtain financing on
acceptable terms, if at all, and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, suppliers, customers and employees and fewer business development opportunities.
Additionally, the market price of our common stock may decline further and stockholders may lose some or all of their investment.
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The market price of our common stock may be significantly volatile.
The market price for our common stock may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to factors including the following:
•actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;
•changes in financial or operational estimates or projections;
•conditions in markets generally;
•changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies similar to ours; and
•general economic or political conditions in the United States or elsewhere.
In particular, the market prices of biotechnology companies like ours have been highly volatile due to factors, including, but not limited to:
•any delay or failure to conduct a clinical trial for our product or receive approval from the FDA and other regulatory agencies;
•developments or disputes concerning a company’s intellectual property rights;
•technological innovations of such companies or their competitors;
•changes in market valuations of similar companies;
•announcements by such companies or their competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, capital commitments, new technologies,
or patents; and
•failure to complete significant transactions or collaborate with vendors in manufacturing a product.
The securities market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are not related to the operating performance of particular companies.
These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of shares of our common stock.
Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large
number of shares of common stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.
As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 15,326,105 shares of our common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $4.06 per
share and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,506,206 shares of our common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $9.46 per share. The exercise of such outstanding
options and warrants will result in further dilution of your investment. If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or if the
public perceives that such sales could occur, this could have an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock, even if there is no relationship between such sales and
the performance of our business.
We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, and consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their
investments. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our investors have purchased their shares.
There may be limitations on the effectiveness of our internal controls, and a failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud may materially harm our company.
We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by our management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting. This assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial
reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
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Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and timely financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls and
procedures, are designed to reasonably detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their
implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Undetected material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial
statement restatements and require us to incur the expense of remediation.
We do not expect that our disclosure controls or internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error or all fraud. We may in the future discover weaknesses in
our system of internal control over financial reporting that could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements. A control system, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If
we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal controls, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, the market price of our stock
could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by The Nasdaq Stock Market, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure of our control systems to
detect or prevent error or fraud could materially adversely impact us.
We may be unable to complete our analysis of our internal controls over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be
effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
We may not be able to complete our evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting and any required remediation in a timely fashion. During the
evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal
controls are effective.
If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or, if applicable, our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express
an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would cause the
price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC. We will also be required to disclose changes made in our internal control
and procedures on a quarterly basis.
If we identify a material weakness, our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any of
the foregoing occurrences, should they come to pass, could negatively impact the public perception of our company, which could have a negative impact on our stock price.
Upon dissolution of our company, you may not recoup all or any portion of your investment.
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the proceeds and/or assets of our company remaining after giving
effect to such transaction, and the payment of all of our debts and liabilities and distributions required to be made to holders of any outstanding preferred stock will then be
distributed to the stockholders of common stock on a pro rata basis. There can be no assurance that we will have available assets to pay to the holders of common stock, or any
amounts, upon such a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our Company. In this event, you could lose some or all of your investment.
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Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
We have incurred substantial losses during our history and do not expect to become profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve profitability. Unused federal net
operating losses for tax years beginning before January 1, 2018 may be carried forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such unused net operating losses expire.
Under legislation enacted in 2017, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act, as modified by legislation enacted on March 27, 2020, entitled the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, federal net operating losses incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, can be carried forward
indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal net operating losses in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited to 80% of taxable income. In addition, as a result
of our merger in April 2014 with Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, our ability to utilize our federal net operating loss, carryforwards and federal tax
credit prior to that date may be limited under Sections 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The limitations apply if an “ownership change,” as defined by Section 382, occurs.
Generally, an ownership change occurs if the percentage of the value of the stock that is owned by one or more direct or indirect “five percent shareholders” increases by more
than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage at any time during the applicable testing period (typically three years). In addition, future changes in our stock
ownership, which may be outside of our control, may trigger an “ownership change” and, consequently, Section 382 limitations. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our
ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset United States federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could
potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.
Legislation or other changes in U.S. tax law could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue
Service and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In
recent years, many changes have been made to applicable tax laws and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. For example, the Tax Act, made significant changes
to corporate taxation, including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%; limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to
30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small businesses); and, subject to certain changes in tax law made by the CARES Act as discussed above, limitation of the
deduction of net operating losses generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 to 80% of taxable income, indefinite carryforward of net operating losses generated
in tax years after 2018 and elimination of net operating loss carrybacks generated in tax years ending after December 31, 2017; changes in the treatment of offshore earnings
regardless of whether they are repatriated; current inclusion in U.S. federal taxable income of certain earnings of controlled foreign corporations, mandatory capitalization of
research and development expenses beginning in 2022; immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time; further
deduction limits on executive compensation; and modifying, repealing and creating many other business deductions and credits, including the reduction in the orphan drug
credit from 50% to 25% of qualifying expenditures. We continue to examine the impact this tax reform legislation may have on our business. Notwithstanding the reduction in
the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the Tax Act is uncertain and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. The impact of this tax reform
on holders of our common stock is also uncertain and could be adverse. This periodic report does not discuss any such tax legislation or the manner in which it might affect us
or our stockholders in the future. We urge our stockholders to consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to such legislation. In addition, the CARES Act included
certain changes in tax law intended to stimulate the U.S. economy in light of the COVID-19 outbreak, including temporary beneficial changes to the treatment of net operating
losses, interest deductibility limitations and payroll tax matters.
It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, new tax laws may be enacted, or regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or
issued under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our or our shareholders’ tax liability or require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to
minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof.
Our certificate of incorporation, as amended, allows for our board to create new series of preferred stock without further approval by our stockholders, which could
adversely affect the rights of the holders of our common stock.
Our board of directors has the authority to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of preferred stock. We anticipate that our board of directors will have the
authority to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of our preferred stock without further stockholder approval. As a result, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series
of preferred stock that would grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation and the right to receive dividend payments before dividends are distributed to the
holders of common stock. In addition, our board of directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that has greater voting power than our common stock or
that is convertible into our common stock, which could decrease the relative voting power of our common stock or result in dilution to our existing stockholders.
44

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
Item 2. PROPERTIES
Our principal offices are located at 500 River Ridge Drive, Norwood, MA 02062 and consisted of 63,256 square feet of leased office space at December 31, 2021. The lease
term for this office space ends on November 30, 2026. Effective August 26, 2021, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a third party to sublease 12,112 square
feet of the first floor. The sublease term ends on October 31, 2026.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On November 18, 2021, Venn Therapeutics, LLC (“Venn”), filed a complaint (the “Complaint”) against us in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The
Complaint asserts claims for trade secret misappropriation under federal law and state law, a claim for breach of contract, and state law claims for unfair competition,
misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, and intentional interference with advantageous business relations. On November 24, 2021, Venn filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction, which requests that the court preliminarily enjoin us from using Venn’s trade secrets and/or confidential information without Venn’s consent, including by
conducting any further development work of our immunotherapy program based on CRB-601, until further order of the court. On January 7, 2022, we filed a motion to dismiss
the Complaint in its entirety and an opposition to Venn’s motion for a preliminary injunction.
We believe that the Complaint and Venn’s preliminary injunction motion are without merit and intend to vigorously defend the Company against these claims; however, there
can be no assurance that we will prevail in such proceedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
45

PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
Our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “CRBP.” Our shares of common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under
the symbol “CRBP” effective April 16, 2015.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future, but
currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. The payment of cash dividends if any, on the common stock will rest solely
within the discretion of our board of directors and will depend, among other things, upon our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, and other relevant factors.
Record Holders
As of March 4, 2022 there are approximately 83 record holders of shares of our common stock.
Item 6. RESERVED
Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our financial statements and the related notes and the
other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this
Annual Report, particularly those under “Risk Factors.”
Overview
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (the “Company” or “Corbus”) is focused on the development of immune modulators that will have application in disease states spanning
from immuno-oncology to fibrosis. Corbus’ current pipeline includes anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies that block activation of TGFβ and small molecules that activate or
inhibit the endocannabinoid system. The company plans to expand its pipeline in immuno-oncology through internal efforts and business development.
The pipeline includes the following programs:
1.Anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that inhibit the activation of TGFβ for the treatment of cancer and fibrosis. CRB-601 is an anti-αvβ8 mAb being developed as
a potential treatment for solid tumors in combination with existing therapies, including checkpoint inhibitors. The solid tumor program is scheduled for an IND submission to
the FDA in the first half of 2023. CRB-602 is a discovery stage anti-αvβ6/αvβ8 mAb currently being explored in disease indications including oncology and fibrosis.
2.Second generation cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1) inverse agonists designed to treat obesity and related metabolic diseases. In animal models of diet-induced obesity,
our compounds induce weight loss both as a monotherapy and in combination with a GLP-1 agonist. The program is progressing through preclinical studies and regulatory
pathway evaluation.
3.Lenabasum, a novel, synthetic, oral molecule that selectively activates cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2). We completed a Phase 3 study in dermatomyositis in June 2021
which did not meet its primary endpoint. We expect topline data from the National Institutes of Health-sponsored Phase 2 study of lenabasum in systemic lupus
erythematosus by the end of March 2022. The Company does not plan to conduct additional clinical studies for Lenabasum and will seek licensing partners to fund future
development.
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Financial Operations Overview
We are an immunology company and have not generated any revenues from the sale of products. We have never been profitable and at December 31, 2021, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $349.7 million. Our net losses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 were approximately $45,640,000 and
$111,269,000, respectively.
We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses to decline in 2022 as compared to 2021 due to the completion of our
lenabasum clinical studies and a reduction in personnel. We do not plan to conduct additional clinical studies for lenabasum. While we expect expenses to decline in 2022, we
will still incur significant operating losses and accordingly we will need additional financing to support our continuing operations. We will seek to fund our operations through
public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, which may include government grants and collaborations with third parties. Adequate additional financing may not
be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue
our business strategy. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and we may never do so.
We expect to continue to incur operating losses for at least the next several years in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:
•conduct preclinical and clinical trials for our product candidates;
•continue our research and development efforts; and
•manufacture drugs for clinical studies.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The
preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments for all assets and liabilities, including those related to stock-based compensation expense. We base our estimates
and judgments on historical experience, current economic and industry conditions and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. This
forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe that full consideration has been given to all relevant circumstances that we may be subject to, and the consolidated financial statements accurately reflect our best
estimate of the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the periods presented.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue from awards for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $882,000 and $3,937,000, respectively, and pertains only to the 2018 CFF Award.
No revenue from licenses was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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We will assess any new agreements we enter into under GAAP, including whether such agreements fall under the scope of such standard. This standard applies to all contracts
with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other standards, such as leases, insurance, collaboration arrangements and financial instruments. Under GAAP,
an entity recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for contracts with customers, the entity performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s)
with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The five-step model is applied to contracts when it is probable that the entity
will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised
within each contract and determine those that are performance obligations, and assess whether each promised good or service is distinct. We then recognize as revenue the
amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.
Revenue associated with the performance obligation is being recognized as revenue as the research and development services are provided using an input method, according to
the costs incurred as related to the research and development activities and the costs expected to be incurred in the future to satisfy the performance obligation. The transfer of
control occurs over this time period and, in management’s judgment, is the best measure of progress towards satisfying the performance obligation. The research and
development services related to this performance obligation were performed over an approximately three-year period and were completed as of December 31, 2021. Amounts
received prior to revenue recognition are recorded as deferred revenue. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months following the balance sheet date are
classified as current portion of deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amounts not expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months
following the balance sheet date are classified as deferred revenue, net of current portion. Amounts recognized as revenue, but not yet received or invoiced are generally
recognized as contract assets.
Revenue
To date, we have not generated any revenues from the sales of products. We do not expect to generate revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete
development and obtain regulatory approval for the marketing of lenabasum or other of our product candidates, which we expect will take a number of years and is subject to
significant uncertainty.
We recognized approximately $882,000 and $3,937,000 of revenue from awards in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Amounts recognized in revenue from awards for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were in connection with our entry on January 26, 2018 into the Cystic Fibrosis
Program Related Investment Agreement (“Investment Agreement) with the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (“CFF”), a non-profit drug discovery and development corporation,
pursuant to which we received a development award for up to $25 million in funding (the “2018 CFF Award”) to support a Phase 2b Clinical Trial (the “Phase 2b Clinical
Trial”) of lenabasum in patients with cystic fibrosis of which we received $6.25 million in the first quarter of 2018, $6.25 million in the second quarter of 2018, $5.0 million in
the second quarter of 2019, $5.0 million in the third quarter of 2020, and $2.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2021 upon our achievement of a milestone related to the progress
of the Phase 2b Clinical Trial, as set forth in the Investment Agreement. We received the entire $25 million from the CFF and have recorded a total of $25 million in revenue to
date. We will not be recognizing revenue in the future from the 2018 CFF award.
Additionally, no revenue from licenses was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses are incurred for the development of our drug candidates and consist primarily of payroll and payments to contract research and
development companies. To date, these costs are related to generating pre-clinical data and the cost of manufacturing drug product for clinical trials and conducting clinical
trials. These costs are expected to decrease in 2022 as our RESOLVE-1 Study and our Phase 2b Study of lenabasum for the treatment of cystic fibrosis, dermatomyositis, and
systemic sclerosis have completed and we have reduced the size of our staff and will not be conducting additional clinical trials for lenabasum.
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General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll, rent and professional services such as accounting and legal services.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net consists primarily refundable research and development tax credits that were earned on certain research and development expenses we incurred primarily
outside of the United States. Other income, net also consists of interest income we earn on interest-bearing accounts, interest expense incurred on our outstanding debt, changes
in derivative liabilities, and realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange gains and losses.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments for all assets and liabilities, including those related to stock-based compensation expense, accrued research and
development expense, and operating lease right of use assets and liabilities. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience, current economic and industry
conditions and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. This forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe that full consideration has been given to all relevant circumstances that we may be subject to, and the consolidated financial statements accurately reflect our best
estimate of the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the periods presented.
Accrued Research and Development Expenses
As part of the process of preparing financial statements, we are required to estimate and accrue expenses, the largest of which are research and development expenses. This
process involves: communicating with our applicable personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and
the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost; estimating and accruing expenses in our financial statements
as of each balance sheet date based on facts and circumstances known to us at the time; and periodically confirming the accuracy of our estimates with selected service
providers and making adjustments, if necessary.
Examples of estimated research and development expenses that we accrue include:
•fees paid to CROs in connection with nonclinical studies;
•fees paid to contract manufacturers in connection with the production of lenabasum for clinical trials;
•fees paid to CRO and research institutions in connection with conducting of clinical studies; and
•professional service fees for consulting and related services.
We base our expense accruals related to clinical studies on our estimates of the services performed pursuant to contracts with multiple research institutions and clinical research
organizations that conduct and manage clinical studies on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment
flows. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors, such as the successful enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical study milestones. Our service
providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of
effort to be expended in each period. If we do not identify costs that we have begun to incur or if we underestimate or overestimate the level of services performed or the costs
of these services, our actual expenses could differ from our estimates.
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To date, we have not experienced significant changes in our estimates of accrued research and development expenses following each applicable reporting period. However, due
to the nature of estimates, we cannot assure you that we will not make changes to our estimates in the future as we become aware of additional information regarding the status
or conduct of our clinical studies and other research activities.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock options are granted with an exercise price at no less than fair market value at the date of the grant. The stock options normally expire ten years from the date of grant.
Stock option awards vest upon terms determined by our board of directors.
We recognize compensation costs resulting from the issuance of stock-based awards to employees, members of our Board of directors and consultants. The fair value of each
option grant was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value is amortized as compensation cost on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. We estimate volatility by analyzing the volatility of the trading price of our common stock. We
use historical data, as well as subsequent events occurring prior to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements, to estimate option exercise and employee forfeitures
within the valuation model. The expected term of options granted to employees under our stock plans is based on the average of the contractual term (generally 10 years) and
the vesting period (generally 48 months). The expected term of options granted under the 2014 Plan, all of which qualify as “plain vanilla” per SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
107, is based on the average of the 6.25 years. For non-employee options, the expected term is the contractual term. The risk-free rate is based on the yield of a U.S. Treasury
security with a term consistent with the option. We estimate the forfeiture rate at the time of grant and revise it, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on management’s expectation through industry knowledge and historical data. We have never paid dividends on our
common stock and do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we have assumed no dividend yield for purposes of
estimating the fair value of our share-based compensation.
The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of employee stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
2021

Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term in years
Expected volatility
Estimated forfeiture rate

2020

0.76
0
6.23
102.96
9.12

%
%
%
%

0.59 %
0%
6.25
83.56 %
6.02 %

Results of Operations
Comparison of Year Ended 2021 to 2020
Revenue from Awards. We have recognized approximately $882,000 and $3,937,000 of revenue from awards in the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Revenue from awards for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $882,000 and $3,937,000, respectively, recognized in accordance with GAAP and
pertains only to the 2018 CFF Award. We received an aggregate of $12,500,000 during the year ended December 31, 2018, an additional $5,000,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2019, $5,000,000 in the third quarter of 2020, and $2,500,000 in the fourth quarter of 2021 upon our achievement of a milestone related to the progress of the
Phase 2b Clinical Trial, as set forth in the Investment Agreement.
We assessed the 2018 CFF Award for accounting under ASC 606. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements, the entity performs the following five steps: (i) identify
the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
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Research and Development. Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $36,445,000, a decrease of $61,822,000 over
the $98,267,000 recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease in fiscal 2021 as compared to fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to lower clinical expenses of
approximately $31,860,000, associated with the end of lenabasum clinical studies. There was also a decrease of $12,731,000 in compensation costs, $11,138,000 in
manufacturing costs, $2,743,000 in consulting costs, $2,780,000 in toxicology costs, $1,418,000 in analytical testing, and $1,067,000 in data analysis costs. These decreases
were offset by an increase of $2,230,000 in license expense from licensing agreements entered into during the second quarter of 2021 and a $380,000 increase to impairment
loss due to entering into a sublease agreement in the third quarter of 2021.
During 2018, the Company formed a subsidiary in each of the United Kingdom and Australia and approximately 25% and 44% of research and development expenses recorded
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 respectively was recorded in these entities.
General and Administrative. General and Administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $20,425,000, a decrease of $8,055,000 over
the $28,480,000 recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease in fiscal 2021 as compared to fiscal 2020 was primarily attributable to decreases of
approximately $4,226,000 of compensation costs, $1,593,000 of commercial marketing costs, $1,171,000 of consulting costs, and $528,000 of recruiting costs. These decreases
are partially offset by an increase in legal costs of $487,000.
Other Income, Net. Other income, net for 2021 was approximately $10,349,000 as compared to approximately $11,541,000 recorded for 2020. The decrease of $1,192,000 in
2021 as compared to 2020 was primarily attributable to a decrease in refundable research and development credits from a foreign tax authority of approximately $910,000 as
compared to the prior year. There was also an increase in interest expense of $1,582,000 related to the K2HV security and loan agreement, offset by an increase in net
amortization on marketable debt securities of $785,000, and an increase of $914,000 related to the change in fair value of the derivative liability valuation associated with the
K2HV loan and security agreement.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since inception, we have experienced negative cash flows from operations. We have financed our operations primarily through sales of equity-related securities. In addition, the
majority of the costs of the SLE clinical trial has been or is expected to be funded by NIH grants, and our phase 2b cystic fibrosis trial was supported by the 2018 CFF Award.
At December 31, 2021, our accumulated deficit since inception was approximately $349,734,000.
At December 31, 2021, we had total current assets of approximately $100,205,000 and current liabilities of approximately $17,008,000 resulting in working capital of
approximately $83,197,000. Of our total cash, cash equivalents, investments, and restricted cash of $98.3 million at December 31, 2021, $75.8 million was held within the
United States.
Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was approximately $48,184,000 which includes a net loss of approximately $45,640,000, adjusted
for non-cash expenses of approximately $13,153,000, principally related to stock-based compensation expense of $9,480,000, depreciation and amortization expense of
$1,000,000, amortization of debt discount of $701,000, and net amortization on premium of investments of $698,000, and approximately $15,696,000 of cash used by net
working capital items, principally related to the decreases in accounts payable of $5,956,000 and accrued expenses of $11,912,000. These decreases in working capital were
offset by an increase in the contract asset of $1,618,000.
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $73,417,000, which was largely to the purchase, net of sale, and maturities of
investments.
51

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled approximately $60,823,000. On August 7, 2020, we entered into an Open Market Sale
Agreement (the “August 2020 Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC, as sales agent, pursuant to which we may issue and sell, from time to time, through Jefferies, shares of our
common stock. As of August 7, 2020, we were authorized to offer and sell up to $150 million of our common stock pursuant to the August 2020 Sale Agreement. We received
gross proceeds of $60,681,000, less issuance costs of approximately $1,820,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 for sales of our common stock under the
August 2020 Sale Agreement. As of December 31, 2021 we have sold 40,937,861 shares of our common stock under the August 2020 Sale Agreement for approximate gross
proceeds totaling $82,086,000, less issuance costs incurred of approximately $2,463,000.
Under current SEC regulations, if at any time our public float is less than $75.0 million, and for so long as our public float remains less than $75.0 million, the amount we can
raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our public float,
which is referred to as the baby shelf rules. As of December 31, 2021, our calculated public float is below $75.0 million and we will be subject to baby shelf rules for any
offerings conducted on our shelf registration statement. As of March 8, 2022, the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the aggregate market value of our
outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates, or the public float, was $71.6 million, which was calculated based on 124,708,567 shares of our outstanding common stock
held by non-affiliates at a price of $0.57 per share, the closing price of our common stock on January 11, 2022. As such, we will be restricted from selling more than $23.9
million of securities pursuant to a shelf registration statement in any twelve-month period, so long as the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates is
less than $75.0 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we also received proceeds of approximately $945,000 from the issuance of 838,600 shares of our common stock upon the exercise
of stock options to purchase common stock. Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 included proceeds from issuances of notes payable of
approximately $984,000, offset by principal payments on notes payable of approximately $927,000 in connection with our loan agreements with financing companies to fund
D&O insurance premiums. The terms of the loan that we entered into in November 2020 stipulated equal monthly payments of principal and interest payments of $103,112 over
a nine-month period. Interest accrued on this loan at an annual rate of 4.89% and the loan was paid in full in July 2021. In November 2021, the Company entered into a loan
agreement with a financing company for $984,375 to finance one of the Company’s insurance policies. The terms of the loan stipulate equal monthly payments of principal and
interest payments of $111,041 over a nine-month period. Interest accrues on this loan at an annual rate of 3.64%.
We expect our cash, cash equivalents, and investments of approximately $97.6 million at December 31, 2021 will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital requirements
into the first quarter of 2024 based on current planned expenditures.
We will need to raise significant additional capital to continue to fund operations and the discovery and pre-clinical costs for our product candidates. If we are unable to raise
sufficient capital in the future, we may be required to undertake cost-cutting measures, including delaying or discontinuing certain clinical activities. We may seek to sell
common stock, preferred stock or convertible debt securities, enter into a credit facility or another form of third-party funding or seek other debt financing. In addition, we may
seek to raise cash through collaborative agreements or from government grants. The sale of equity and convertible debt securities may result in dilution to our stockholders and
certain of those securities may have rights senior to those of our common shares. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of preferred stock, convertible debt securities
or other debt financing, these securities or other debt could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. Any other third-party funding arrangement could require us to
relinquish valuable rights.
The source, timing and availability of any future financing will depend principally upon market conditions, and, more specifically, on the progress of our clinical development
programs.
Funding may not be available when needed, at all, or on terms acceptable to us. Lack of necessary funds may require us, among other things, to delay, scale back or eliminate
expenses including some or all of our planned clinical trials.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table presents information about our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2021. It does not reflect contractual obligations that may have arisen or
may arise after that date. Except for historical facts, the information in this section is forward-looking information.
Contractual Obligations
Operating lease obligations

$

Total
8,583,000

$

2022
1,653,000

$

Payments due by period
2023
2024
1,700,000
$
1,747,000

2025
1,795,000

$

$

2026
1,688,000

On February 26, 2019, we amended our lease (“February 2019 Lease Agreement”) pursuant to which an additional 30,023 square feet of office space (“New Premises”) will be
leased by us in the same building for an aggregate total of 62,756 square feet of leased office space (“Total Premises”). The February 2019 Lease Agreement constitutes a
modification as it extends the original lease term and increases the scope of the lease (additional space provided under the amendment), which requires evaluation of the
remeasurement of the lease liability and corresponding right-of-use (“ROU”) asset. Accordingly, we reassessed the classification of the Leased Premises and remeasured the
lease liability on the basis of the extended lease term using the 20 additional monthly rent payments and the incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification
of 9%. The remeasurement for the modification resulted in an increase to the lease liability and the ROU asset of approximately $855,000. We determined that the New
Premises will be treated as a new standalone operating lease under GAAP and recorded a lease liability and a right-of-use asset of approximately $2.7 million for this lease.
Per the terms of the February 2019 Lease Agreement, the landlord agreed to reimburse us for $990,759 of leasehold improvements. The reimbursements are being recognized as
a reduction of rent expense over the term of the lease. Additionally, the February 2019 Lease Agreement required a standby irrevocable letter of credit of $369,900, which may
be reduced, if we are not in default under the February 2019 Lease Agreement, to $277,425 and $184,950 on the third and fourth anniversary of the commencement date,
respectively.
Pursuant to the terms of our non-cancelable lease agreements in effect at December 31, 2021, the following table summarizes our maturities of operating lease liabilities as of
December 31, 2021:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Total lease payments

$

Less: imputed interest
Total

$

1,652,563
1,700,005
1,747,447
1,794,889
1,688,145
8,583,049

$

(1,489,884)
7,093,165

On August 26, 2021, we entered into a sublease agreement with a third party to sublease 12,112 square feet of the 30,023 square feet leased under one of our two existing lease
agreements. The sublease commenced on October 1, 2021 and ends October 31, 2026. Pursuant to the terms of the sublease agreement, the following table summarizes
undiscounted sublease cash inflows:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Total sublease payments

$

$

104,971
185,717
278,576
290,688
252,333
1,112,285

We may enter into contracts in the normal course of business with clinical research organizations for clinical trials and clinical supply manufacturing and with vendors for preclinical research studies, research supplies and other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore, we
believe that our non-cancelable obligations under these agreements are not material. As of December 31, 2021, other than our leases in the table above, we had no material
Contractual Obligations or Commitments that will affect our future liquidity.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial
condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors, other than future royalty payments under
development award agreements discussed as follows:
License Agreement with Jenrin
Pursuant to the terms of the Jenrin Agreement, we are obligated to pay potential milestone payments to Jenrin totaling up to $18.4 million for each compound we elect to
develop based upon the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones. In addition, we are obligated to pay Jenrin royalties in the mid, single digits based on
net sales of any Licensed Products, as defined in the Jenrin Agreement, subject to specified reductions.
The Jenrin Agreement terminates on a country-by-country basis and product-by-product basis upon the expiration of the royalty term for such product in such country. Each
royalty term begins on the date of the first commercial sale of the licensed product in the applicable country and ends on the later of seven years from such first commercial sale
or the expiration of the last to expire of the applicable patents in that country. The Jenrin Agreement may be terminated earlier in specified situations, including termination for
uncured material breach of the Jenrin Agreement by either party, termination by Jenrin in specified circumstances, termination by Corbus with advance notice and termination
upon a party’s insolvency or bankruptcy.
License Agreement with Milky Way
Pursuant to the terms of the Milky Way Agreement, we are obligated to pay potential milestone payments to Milky Way totaling up to $53.0 million based upon the
achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones. In addition, we are obligated to pay Milky Way royalties in the lower, single digits based on net sales of any
Licensed Products, as defined in the Milky Way Agreement.
The Milky Way Agreement will remain in effect on a Licensed Product-by-License Product and country-by-country basis, until the expiration of the Royalty Term of the
Licensed Product in the country. The "Royalty Term" means the period beginning from the First Commercial Sale of the Licensed Product in the country until the expiration of
the last-to-expire Valid Claim in any Licensor Patent in the country that Covers the composition of matter of the Licensed product, the manufacture of the Licensed Product in
the country, or a method of use of the Licensed Product for an indication for which Regulatory Approval has been obtained in the country. The Milky Way Agreement may be
terminated earlier in specified situations, including termination for material breach or termination by Corbus with advance notice.
License Agreement with UCSF
Pursuant to the terms of the UCSF Agreement, we are obligated to pay potential milestone payments to UCSF totaling up to $153.0 million based upon the achievement of
specified development and regulatory milestones. In addition, we are obligated to pay UCSF royalties in the lower, single digits based on net sales of any Licensed Products, as
defined in the UCSF Agreement.
The UCSF Agreement will remain in effect until the expiration or abandonment of the last of the Patent Rights licensed. The Royalty Term is the duration of Patent Rights in
that country covering the applicable Licensed Product or Licensed Services Sold in the country. The UCSF Agreement may be terminated earlier in specified situations,
including termination for material breach, termination by Corbus with advance notice and termination upon a party's bankruptcy.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Our exposure to market risk is limited to our cash and cash equivalents, all of which have maturities of three months or less. The primary objectives of our investment activities
are to preserve principal, provide liquidity and maximize income without significantly increasing risk. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest income sensitivity, which
is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. However, because of the short-term nature of the instruments in our portfolio, a sudden change in market interest
rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our financial condition and/or results of operation.
Foreign Exchange Risk
The majority of our operations are based in the United States and, accordingly our transactions are denominated in U.S. Dollars. However, we have foreign currency exposures
related to our cash valued in the United Kingdom in British Pounds and Euros and our cash valued in Australia in Australian Dollars because our functional currency is the U.S.
Dollar in our foreign-based subsidiaries. Our foreign denominated assets and liabilities are remeasured each reporting period with any exchange gains and losses recorded in our
consolidated statements of operations.
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See pages F-67 through F-91 following the Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Our Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information required to be disclosed in our periodic
reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and to provide reasonable
assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report
were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that the information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the
Exchange Act. Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in the “Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concluded
that, as of December 31, 2021, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public
accounting firm on internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period to which this
report relates that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTION THAT PREVENTS INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) List of Documents filed as part of this Report
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements
The financial statements and related notes, together with the report of EisnerAmper LLP (PCAOB ID: 274) appear at pages F-65 through F-91 following the Exhibit List as
required by Part II, Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
Schedules are omitted because they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.
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(3) Exhibits
The Company has filed with this report or incorporated by reference herein certain exhibits as specified below pursuant to Rule 12b-32 under the Exchange Act. See Exhibit
Index following the signature page to this report for a complete list of documents filed with this report.
Exhibit No.

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 2021).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 26, 2017).

3.3

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on March 15,2021).

4.1

Form of Merger Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on September
3, 2014).

4.2

Form of Replacement Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 3, 2014).

4.3

Form of Investor Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on September
3, 2014).

4.4

Form of Additional Replacement Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on September 3, 2014).

4.5

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 3, 2014).

4.6

Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 3, 2014).

4.7

Specimen Common Stock Certificate, $0.0001 par value (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-3 filed with the SEC on November 10, 2015).

4.8

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated as of January 26, 2018, issued to the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
4.8 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2018).

4.9

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on July 29, 2020).

4.10

Description of Capital Stock*
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10.1

2014 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 3, 2014). †

10.2

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on September 3, 2014). †

10.3

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
with the SEC on September 3, 2014). †

10.4

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC
on September 3, 2014). †

10.5

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Amendment No. 1 to Form S1 filed with the SEC on September 30, 2014). †

10.6

Award Agreement, dated April 9, 2015, between Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. and the Company (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 13, 2015).#

10.7

Consulting Agreement, dated September 20, 2016, between Company and Orchestra Medical Ventures, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 21, 2016).

10.8

Lease, dated May 30, 2014, between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and River Ridge Limited Partnership (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

10.9

First Amendment to Lease, dated August 27, 2015, between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and River Ridge Limited Partnership (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

10.10

Second Amendment to Lease, dated March 30, 2016, between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and River Ridge Limited Partnership (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

10.11

Third Amendment to Lease, dated September 13, 2016, between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and River Ridge Limited Partnership (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 2016).

10.12

Lease Agreement, dated August 21, 2017, by and between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and River Ridge Limited Partnership (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 22, 2017).

10.13

Guarantee, dated August 21, 2017, by Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 22, 2017).

10.14

Cystic Fibrosis Program Related Investment Agreement, dated January 26, 2018, between Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. and the Company
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2018).#

10.15

License Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2018, between Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Jenrin Discovery, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 8, 2018).#

10.16

Lease Amendment No. 1, dated as of February 26, 2019, among River Ridge Limited Partnership, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Corbus
Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March
12, 2019).
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10.17

Offer Letter, dated as of February 19, 2019, between Craig Millian and Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 of the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2019).

10.18

Separation and General Release Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. and Mark Tepper, dated March 31, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2019).

10.19

Consulting Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. and Mark Tepper, dated March 31, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2019).

10.20

Lease Amendment No. 2, dated as of October 25, 2019, among River Ridge Limited Partnership, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Corbus Pharmaceuticals
Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 7, 2019)

10.21

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc, and Yuval Cohen, effective as of April 11, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).†

10.22

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc, and Barbara White, effective as of April 11, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).†

10.23

Fourth Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc, and Sean Moran, effective as of April 11, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).†

10.24

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc, and Craig Millian, effective as of April 11, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).†

10.25

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2020, by and between Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc., Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., K2
Healthventures LLC and Ankura Trust Company, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on July 29, 2020).

10.26

Separation and Release Agreement between the Company and Robert Discordia, dated November 30, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2020).†

10.27

License Agreement between the Company and Milky Way BioPharma, LLC, dated May 25, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 2021).#

10.28

License Agreement between the Company and The Regents of the University of California, dated May 26, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 2021).#

10.29

Separation and General Release Agreement between the Company and Barbara White, dated September 17, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 22, 2021). †

10.30

Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Craig Millian, effective as of September 27, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 28, 2021). †

10.31

Employment Agreement between the Company and Rachael Brake, effective as of December 6, 2021. †*
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21.1

List of Subsidiaries of the Company.*

23.1

Consent of EisnerAmper LLP.*

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b).**

32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b).**
Inline XBRL Instance Document.* – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

Inline

Inline

Inline

Inline

Inline

Inline

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.*
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.*
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.*
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.*
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.*
The cover page from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, has been formatted in Inline XBRL*

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished, not filed.
# Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been submitted separately to the SEC.
† Indicates a management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement.
Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ YUVAL COHEN
Yuval Cohen

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 8, 2022

/s/ SEAN MORAN
Sean Moran

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 8, 2022

/s/ ALAN HOLMER
Alan Holmer

Director

March 8, 2022

/s/ JOHN JENKINS
John Jenkins

Director

March 8, 2022

/s/ AVERY CATLIN
Avery Catlin

Director

March 8, 2022

/s/ RACHELLE JACQUES
Rachelle Jacques

Director

March 8, 2022

/s/ PETER SALZMANN
Peter Salzmann

Director

March 8, 2022

63

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Page Number
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. Financial Statements-December 31, 2021:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-64

F-65
F-67
F-68
F-69
F-70
F-71

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on
our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Accruals for Research and Development Expenses and Clinical Trials
As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, at each balance sheet date the Company estimates its accrued clinical expenses resulting from its obligations
under contracts with vendors, clinical research organizations and consultants and under clinical site agreements in connection with conducting clinical trials, and may depend on
factors such as successful enrollment of certain numbers of patients, site initiation, and the completion of clinical trial milestones. The Company accounts for trial expenses
based on services that have been performed on the Company’s behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when an
invoice has not been received or the Company has not otherwise been notified of the actual cost. The Company estimates the time period over which services will be performed
and the level of effort to be expended in each period. The Company’s accrual for clinical trial expenses of $5,639,000 is included in Accrued expenses on the December 31,
2021 consolidated balance sheet. The amounts recorded for clinical trial expenses represent the Company’s estimate of the unpaid clinical trial expenses based on the
information available to the Company at that time. The estimation of clinical trial expenses was also identified as a critical accounting estimate by management.
We identified the accruals for research and development expenses and clinical trials as a critical audit matter due to the significant judgment and estimation required by
management in determining progress or state of completion of trials or services completed. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor subjectivity and significant audit effort
was required in performing our procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to estimates made by management.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the financial statements. We obtained an
understanding and evaluated the design of controls over the Company’s estimation of clinical trial expenses, including the process of estimating the expenses incurred to date
based on the status of the clinical trials. Our procedures also included, among others, reading agreements and contract amendments entered into with vendors in connection with
conducting clinical trials, evaluating the significant assumptions described above and the methods used in developing the clinical trial estimates, and calculating the amounts that
were unpaid at the balance sheet date. We confirmed the assumptions directly with the third parties involved in performing the clinical trial services on behalf of the Company,
where applicable. We also made direct inquiries of financial and clinical client personnel regarding status, and progress, to completion of clinical trials and description of future
commitments, and verified amounts paid to date under each contract by vouching to invoices and payment support. We also assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
estimates, and compared the current estimate of expenses incurred to estimates previously made by management.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
EISNERAMPER LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 8, 2022
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Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Restricted cash
Stock subscriptions receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Contract asset
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right of use assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Derivative liability
Operating lease liabilities, current
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of debt discount
Other long-term liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December
31, 2021 and 2020
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized, 125,230,881 shares outstanding at December
31, 2021 and 150,000,000 shares authorized, and 98,852,696 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2020
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

25,006,632
72,640,520
192,475
—
2,365,010
—
100,204,637
477,425
2,392,696
4,609,110
46,385
107,730,253

$

767,938
1,782,277
10,093,312
133,710
1,136,948
3,093,344
17,007,529
15,636,275
22,205
5,956,217
38,622,226

$

$

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

69,108,027
107,730,253

85,433,441
—
350,000
960,033
3,712,861
1,618,296
92,074,631
669,900
4,067,837
5,248,525
234,038
102,294,931

710,158
7,381,183
22,005,432
797,000
1,004,063
—
31,897,836
18,029,005
—
7,093,165
57,020,006
—

12,523
418,891,713
(349,733,764 )
(62,445 )
$
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December 31, 2020

9,885
349,358,378
(304,093,338 )
—
$

45,274,925
102,294,931

Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2021

Revenue from awards
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense), net:
Other income (expense), net
Interest income (expense), net
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Foreign currency exchange gain (loss), net
Other income (expense), net
Net loss
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, basic and diluted

2020

$

$
$

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable debt securities
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive loss

881,705

3,937,230

36,445,285
20,425,444
56,870,729
(55,989,024 )

98,267,213
28,480,250
126,747,463
(122,810,233 )

11,899,992
(1,830,486 )
663,290
(384,198 )
10,348,598
(45,640,426 )
(0.37 )
122,990,011

13,270,211
(1,028,359 )
(251,000 )
(449,999 )
11,540,853
(111,269,380 )
(1.42 )
78,133,289

$

(45,640,426 )

$

(62,445 )
(62,445 )
(45,702,871 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$
$

$

(111,269,380 )

$

—
—
(111,269,380 )

Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 2019
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
of
$6,039,423
Stock-based compensation expense
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Fair value of warrants issued
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2020
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
of
$1,820,437
Stock-based compensation expense
Unrealized loss on marketable debt securities
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2021

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

64,672,893

$6,467

$198,975,056

$(192,823,958)

$—

$6,157,565

33,752,192

3,375

136,361,526

—

—

136,364,901

—

—

12,458,229

—

—

12,458,229

427,611

43

756,418

—

—

756,461

—

—

807,149

—

—

—

—

—
(111,2
69,380)

—

807,149
(11
1,269,380)

98,852,696

$9,885

$349,358,378

$(304,093,338)

$—

$45,274,925

25,539,585

2,554

59,108,246

—

—

—

9,480,373

—

—

9,480,373

—

—

—

—

(62,445)

(62,445)

838,600

84

944,716
—

944,800
(4
5,640,426)

$(62,445)

$69,108,027

—

—

—

(45,6
40,426)

125,230,881

$12,523

$418,891,713

$(349,733,764)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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59,110,800

Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on impairment of fixed assets
Net amortization on premium of investments
Stock consideration in connection with PRI License Agreement
(Gain) Loss on foreign exchange
Operating lease right of use asset amortization
Amortization of debt discount
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Loss on sale of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in prepaid expenses
Decrease in contract asset
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Decrease in accounts payable
Decrease in accrued expenses
Increase in other long-term liabilities
Decrease in operating lease liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments

$

2020

(45,640,426 )

$

9,480,373
999,817
606,078
698,254
250,000
342,424
639,415
700,613
(663,290 )
99,520

12,458,229
1,123,854
—
—
—
93,661
570,458
291,392
251,000
—

1,347,851
1,618,296
187,652
(5,956,297 )
(11,912,120 )
22,205
(1,004,062 )
(48,183,697 )

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable
Repayment of short-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of long-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Issuance costs paid for common stock financings
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of the period
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of the period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and non-cash transactions:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Fair value of warrants issued with K2HV loan agreement
Fair value of warrants issued
Write off of fully depreciated property and equipment
Stock subscription receivable

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(111,269,380 )

346,812
1,062,769
(149,070 )
(3,468,917 )
(400,766 )
—
(595,745 )
(99,685,703 )

)
(87,266,596
13,880,343
(54,172 )
23,900
(73,416,525 )

—
(484,491 )
—
(484,491 )

984,375
(926,595 )
—
62,586,070
(1,820,437 )
60,823,413
(60,776,809 )
86,453,341
25,676,532

909,375
(951,876 )
18,756,021
142,200,752
(6,039,423 )
154,874,849
54,704,655
31,748,686
86,453,341

1,740,878
—
—
544,752
—

—

$
$

629,146
472,409
334,740
156,645
960,033

Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
1.NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Business
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (“the Company” or “Corbus”) is focused on developing new medicines that target inflammation, fibrosis, metabolism and
immuno-oncology. Corbus’ current pipeline includes small molecules that activate or inhibit the endocannabinoid system and anti-integrin monoclonal antibodies that
block activation of TGFβ. The Company plans to expand its pipeline through internal efforts and business development. Since its inception, the Company has devoted
substantially all of its efforts to business planning, research and development, recruiting management and technical staff, acquiring operating assets and raising capital.
The Company’s business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties and the Company will be dependent on raising substantial additional capital before it becomes
profitable and it may never achieve profitability.
The Company is continuing to monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its business and operations.
2.LIQUIDITY
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of
operations, realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The Company has incurred recurring losses since
inception and as of December 31, 2021, had an accumulated deficit of approximately $349,734,000. The Company anticipates operating losses to continue for the
foreseeable future due to, among other things, costs related to research funding, development of its product candidates and its preclinical and clinical programs, strategic
alliances and the development of its administrative organization. The Company expects the cash, cash equivalents, and investments of approximately $97,647,000 at
December 31, 2021 will be sufficient to meet its operating and capital requirements at least 12 months from the filing of this 10-K.
The source, timing and availability of any future financing will depend principally upon market conditions, and, more specifically, on the progress of the Company’s
clinical development programs. Funding may not be available when needed, at all, or on terms acceptable to the Company. Lack of necessary funds may require the
Company to, among other things, delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of the Company’s planned clinical or preclinical trials.
On August 7, 2020, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale AgreementSM (the “August 2020 Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”), as sales agent,
pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell, from time to time, through Jefferies, shares of its common stock, and pursuant to which Jefferies may sell its common
stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined by Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The Company will pay Jefferies a commission of 3.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale of common stock and have agreed to provide Jefferies with
customary indemnification and contribution rights. The Company has also agreed to reimburse Jefferies for certain specified expenses. As of August 7, 2020, the
Company is authorized to offer and sell up to $150 million of its common stock pursuant to the August 2020 Sale Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2021,
the Company sold 25,391,710 shares of its common stock under the August 2020 Sale Agreement for which the Company received gross proceeds of approximately
$60,681,238, less issuance costs incurred of approximately $1,820,437. The Company has sold no additional shares of our common stock under the August 2020 Sale
Agreement subsequent to December 31, 2021 (See Note 13).
3.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A summary of the significant accounting policies followed by the Company in the preparation of the financial statements is as follows:
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts
have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Use of Estimates
The process of preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates and changes in
estimates may occur. The most significant estimates are related to stock-based compensation expense, the accrual of research, product development and clinical
obligations, the recognition of revenue under the Investment Agreement (See Note 11), the valuation of warrants discussed in Note 15 and Note 9, and the derivative
liability associated with the K2 Security and Loan agreement (see Note 16).
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
The Company considers only those investments which are highly liquid, readily convertible to cash, and that mature within three months from date of purchase to be
cash equivalents. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, cash equivalents were comprised of money market funds.
Restricted cash as of December 31, 2021 included security for a stand-by letter of credit issued in favor of a landlord for $669,900 of which $192,475 was classified in
current assets and $477,425 was classified in noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2021.
Cash and cash equivalents consists of the following:
December 31,
2021

Cash

$

2020

6,751,593

$

18,255,039

Cash Equivalents
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash, current
Restricted cash, noncurrent
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the statement of
cash flows

$
$

25,006,632

1,238,611
84,194,830

$

85,433,441

192,475
477,425
669,900 $

350,000
669,900
1,019,900

25,676,532

$

86,453,341

As of December 31, 2021, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents was held in the United States, except for approximately $5,752,000 of cash which was held
principally in our subsidiary in the United Kingdom. As of December 31, 2020, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents was held in the United States, except for
approximately $1,033,000 of cash which was held principally in our subsidiary in the United Kingdom.
Investments
Investments consist of investments in debt securities and term deposits with maturities greater than 90 days at their acquisition date. The Company has classified its
investments with maturities beyond one year as current, based on their highly liquid nature and because such investments represent the investment of cash that is
available for current operations.
The Company classifies all of its marketable debt securities as available-for-sale securities. The Company’s marketable debt securities are measured and reported at fair
value using quoted prices in active markets for similar securities. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities are reported as accumulated other
comprehensive gain or loss, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The cost of debt securities sold is determined on a specific identification basis, and
realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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The Company evaluates its marketable debt securities with unrealized losses for other-than-temporary impairment. When assessing marketable debt securities for otherthan-temporary declines in value, the Company considers such factors as, among other things, how significant the decline in value is as a percentage of the original cost,
how long the market value of the investment has been less than its original cost, the Company’s ability and intent to retain the investment for a period of time sufficient
to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value and market conditions in general. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the value of the investment that
the Company considers to be “other than temporary,” the Company reduces the investment to fair value through a charge to the statement of operations and
comprehensive loss. No such adjustments were necessary during the periods presented.
Financial Instruments
The carrying values of the notes payable and debt approximate their fair value due to the fact that they are at market terms.
Fair Value Measurements
The valuation of the Company’s debt and embedded derivatives are determined primarily by an income approach that considers the present value of net cash flows of
the debt with and without prepayment and default features. These embedded debt features, which are determined to be classified as derivative liabilities are marked-tomarket each reporting period, with a corresponding non-cash gain or loss charged to the current period. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should
be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, there exists a threetier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access as of the measurement date
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable through corroboration
with observable market data
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability only used when there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date
The Company’s investments, debt, and its derivative liabilities are carried at fair value determined according to the fair value hierarchy described above. The carrying
values of the Company’s prepaid expenses and other current assets, and accrued expenses approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and
liabilities.
To determine the fair value of our embedded derivatives, management evaluates assumptions regarding the probability of certain future events. Other factors used to
determine fair value include the discount rate, risk free interest rate and derivative term. The fair value recorded for the derivative liability varies from period to period.
This variability may result in the actual derivative liability for a period either above or below the estimates recorded on our consolidated financial statements, resulting
in fluctuations in other income (expense) because of the corresponding non-cash gain or loss recorded.
Property and Equipment
The estimated life for the Company’s property and equipment is as follows: three years for computer hardware and software and three to five years for office furniture
and equipment. The Company’s leasehold improvements and assets under capital lease are amortized over the shorter of their useful lives or the respective leases. See
Note 7 for details of property and equipment and Note 8 for operating and capital lease commitments.
Research and Development Expenses
Costs incurred for research and development are expensed as incurred.
Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that have the characteristics that will be used or rendered for future research and development activities pursuant
to executory contractual arrangements with third party research organizations are deferred and recognized as an expense as the related goods are delivered or the related
services are performed.
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Accruals for Research and Development Expenses and Clinical Trials
As part of the process of preparing its financial statements, the Company is required to estimate its expenses resulting from its obligations under contracts with vendors,
clinical research organizations and consultants and under clinical site agreements in connection with conducting clinical trials. The financial terms of these contracts are
subject to negotiations, which vary from contract to contract and may result in payment terms that do not match the periods over which materials or services are
provided under such contracts. The Company’s objective is to reflect the appropriate expenses in its financial statements by matching those expenses with the period in
which services are performed and efforts are expended. The Company accounts for these expenses according to the timing of various aspects of the expenses. The
Company determines the accrual estimates by taking into account discussion with applicable personnel and outside service providers as to the progress of clinical trials,
or the services completed. During the course of a clinical trial, the Company adjusts its clinical expense recognition if actual results differ from its estimates. The
Company makes estimates of its accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date based on the facts and circumstances known to it at that time. The Company’s clinical
trial accruals are dependent upon the timely and accurate reporting of contract research organizations and other third-party vendors. Although the Company does not
expect its estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, its understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual
status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in it reporting amounts that are too high or too low for any particular period. For the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no material adjustments to the Company’s prior period estimates of accrued expenses for clinical trials.
Leases
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, other current liabilities
and operating lease liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the Company’s leases
do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present
value of lease payments. This is the rate the Company would have to pay if borrowing on a collateralized basis over a similar term to each lease. The ROU asset also
includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company has subleased a portion of its leased facility under an agreement considered to be an operating lease according to GAAP. The Company has not been
legally released from its primary obligations under the original lease and therefore it continues to account for the original lease as it did before commencement of the
sublease. The Company will record both fixed and variable payments received from the sublessee in its statement of operations on a straight-line basis as an offset to rent
expense.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
The Company has no significant off-balance-sheet concentration of credit risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts or other hedging arrangements. The
Company may from time to time have cash in banks in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limits. However, the Company believes the risk of
loss is minimal as these banks are large financial institutions.
Segment Information
Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating
decision maker, or decision-making group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. To date, the Company has viewed its
operations and manages its business as principally one operating segment, which is developing and commercializing therapeutics for autoimmunity, fibrosis, and cancer.
As of December 31, 2021, all of the Company’s assets were located in the United States, except for approximately $22,504,000 of cash, cash equivalents, and
investments, $973,000 of prepaid expenses and other assets, and $1,000 of property and equipment, net which were held outside of the United States, principally in our
subsidiary in the United Kingdom. As of December 31, 2020, all of the Company’s assets were located in the United States, except for approximately $1,033,000 of
cash, $1,837,000 of prepaid expenses and other assets, and $23,000 of property and equipment, net which were held outside of the United States, principally in our
subsidiary in the United Kingdom.
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Income Taxes
For federal and state income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based upon temporary differences between the financial statement and the tax basis
of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are based upon prescribed rates and enacted laws applicable to periods in which differences are expected to reverse. A
valuation allowance is recorded to reduce a net deferred tax benefit when it is not more likely than not that the tax benefit from the deferred tax assets will be realized.
Accordingly, given the cumulative losses since inception, the Company has provided a valuation allowance equal to 100% of the deferred tax assets in order to eliminate
the deferred tax assets amounts.
Tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Company’s tax returns are required to be evaluated to determine whether the tax positions are
“more-likely-than-not” of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax positions not deemed to meet a more-likely-than-not threshold, as well as accrued interest
and penalties, if any, would be recorded as a tax expense in the current year. There were no uncertain tax positions that require accrual or disclosure to the financial
statements as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that carrying amounts of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when expected undiscounted cash flows of an asset are less than an asset’s carrying value. Accordingly, when indicators of impairment
are present, the Company evaluates the carrying value of such assets in relation to the operating performance and future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying
assets. An impairment loss equal to the excess of the fair value of the asset over its carrying amount, is recorded when it is determined that the carrying value of the asset
may not be recoverable. The Company recognized an impairment loss of approximately $606,000 in the third quarter of 2021 to write down the value of leasehold
improvements as a result of entering into a sublease. The Company notes no other impairment charges were taken in 2021. See Note 8 for more details on sublease
agreement.
Stock-based Payments
The Company recognizes compensation costs resulting from the issuance of stock-based awards to employees, non-employees and directors as an expense in the
statement of operations over the service period based on a measurement of fair value for each stock-based award. The fair value of each option grant is estimated as of
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, net of estimated forfeitures. The fair value is amortized as compensation cost on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the vesting period.
Foreign Currency
Transaction gains and losses arising from currency exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the U.S. Dollar functional currency
are recorded in the Company’s statement of operations. Such transaction gains and losses may be realized or unrealized depending upon whether the transaction settled
during the period or remains outstanding at the balance sheet date. The functional currency of the Company's foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.
Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic and diluted net loss per share of the Company’s common stock has been computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period. For years in which there is a net loss, options and warrants are anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from diluted loss per share calculations. The
following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Net income (loss)
Weighted average number of common shares-basic
Net income (loss) per share of common stock-basic

$
$

(45,640,426 ) $
122,990,011
(0.37 ) $

(111,269,380 )
78,133,289
(1.42 )

* Warrants and options that have not been exercised have been excluded from the diluted calculation as all periods presented have a net loss and the impact of these
securities would be anti-dilutive.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. The standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those
years, beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2019-12 as of January 1, 2021 had no impact on the
Company’s financial statements and related disclosures.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2021, the FSB issued ASU 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt—Modifications and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation—Stock
Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging— Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or
Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options which is intended to clarify and reduce diversity in an issuer’s accounting for modifications or
exchanges of freestanding equity-classified written call options that remain equity classified after modification of exchange. This standard is effective for all entities for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The standard will be adopted upon the effective date for us
beginning January 1, 2022. The Company's adoption of ASU 2021-04 as of January 1, 2022 will not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements and
disclosures.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity which is intended to simplify various aspects
of GAAP for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. The standard is effective for public companies that meet the definition of an SEC
filer, excluding entities that are smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December
15, 2021. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is
currently evaluating the timing of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 and the potential impact that this standard may have on its consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU
2016-13”), which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing
incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss model. It also eliminates the concept of other-than-temporary impairment and requires credit losses related to
available-for-sale debt securities to be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than as a reduction in the amortized cost basis of the securities. These
changes may result in earlier recognition of credit losses. In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments—Credit Losses, which narrowed the scope and changed the effective date for non-public entities for ASU 2016-13. The FASB subsequently issued
supplemental guidance within ASU No. 2019-05, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief (“ASU 2019-05”). ASU 2019-05
provides an option to irrevocably elect the fair value option for certain financial assets previously measured at amortized cost basis. For public entities that are SEC
filers, excluding entities that are eligible to be smaller reporting companies, ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. For all other entities, ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. This standard will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2023 or when it ceases being eligible to be a
smaller reporting company. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that this standard may have on its consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.
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4. INVESTMENTS
The following table summarizes the Company’s investments as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Amortized Cost

Debt Securities:
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities

Gross
Unrealized
Gain

$12,794

Asset backed securities
Other Investments:
Term deposits (Maturing 2/10/2022 - 5/5/2022)
Total

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

$—

$—

32,922

—

(
58)

$12,794
32,864

10,235

—

(4)

10,231

16,752
$72,703

—
$—

—
$(62)

16,752
$72,641

The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale marketable debt securities by contractual maturity as of December
31, 2021 (in thousands):
Amortized Cost

Maturing in one year or less
Maturing after one year but less than three years

Fair Value

$44,859
11,092
$55,951

$44,847
11,041
$55,888

As of December 31, 2020, there were no available-for-sale investments.
5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicate the level of the fair
value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):
Level 1

Assets:
Cash Equivalents:
Money market funds
Investments:
Term deposits
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Asset backed securities

Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities
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Level 2

Level 3

Total

$18,255

$—

$—

$18,255

16,752
—
—
—
$35,007

—
12,794
32,864
10,231
$55,889

—
—
—
—
$—

16,752
12,794
32,864
10,231
$90,896

$—

$—

$134

$134

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicate the level of the fair
value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
Level 1

Assets:
Cash Equivalents:
Money Market funds

Liabilities
Derivative Liabilities

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$84,195
84,195

$—
—

$—
—

$84,195
84,195

$—

$—

$797

$797

6.LICENSE AGREEMENTS
The Company entered into a license agreement (the “Jenrin Agreement”) with Jenrin Discovery, LLC, a privately-held Delaware limited liability company (“Jenrin”),
effective September 20, 2018. Pursuant to the Jenrin Agreement, Jenrin granted the Company exclusive worldwide rights to develop and commercialize the Licensed
Products (as defined in the Jenrin Agreement) which includes the Jenrin library of over 600 compounds and multiple issued and pending patent filings. The compounds
are designed to treat inflammatory and fibrotic diseases by targeting the endocannabinoid system.
In consideration of the license and other rights granted by Jenrin, the Company paid Jenrin a $250,000 upfront cash payment and is obligated to pay potential milestone
payments to Jenrin totaling up to $18,400,000 for each compound it elects to develop based upon the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones.
In addition, Corbus is obligated to pay Jenrin royalties in the mid, single digits based on net sales of any Licensed Products, subject to specified reductions.
The Company entered into a license agreement (the “Milky Way License Agreement”) with Milky Way BioPharma, LLC (“Milky Way”), a subsidiary of Panorama
Research Inc., effective May 25, 2021. Pursuant to the Milky Way License Agreement, the Company received an exclusive license, under certain patent rights and
know-how owned or controlled by Milky Way, to develop, commercialize, and otherwise exploit products containing antibodies against integrin αvβ6 and/or integrin
αvβ8 (“Licensed Products”), one of which the Company is referring to as CRB-602. Under the terms of the Milky Way License Agreement, the Company will have sole
responsibility for research, development, and commercialization of any Licensed Products, and Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to perform
these activities. The Milky Way Agreement may be terminated earlier in specified situations, including termination for material breach or termination by Corbus with
advance notice.
In consideration for the license and other rights granted to the Company under the Milky Way License Agreement, the Company paid Milky Way an upfront payment of
$500,000 and issued to Milky Way 147,875 shares of its common stock. The Company is obligated to pay up to $53,000,000 in potential milestone payments for the
achievement of certain development, regulatory, and sales milestones. At the Company’s election, the Company may satisfy a portion of certain milestone payments by
issuing shares of its common stock. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay royalties in the low, single digits on sales of Licensed Products during the life of the
applicable licensed patents on a country-by-county and product-by-product basis, which is subject to a minimum annual royalty obligation, as well as a percentage share
of certain payments received by Company from sublicensees.
The Company entered into a license agreement (the “UCSF License Agreement”) with the Regents of the University of California (“The Regents”) effective May 26,
2021. Pursuant to the UCSF License Agreement, the Company received an exclusive license to certain patents relating to humanized antibodies against integrin αvβ8,
one of which the Company is referring to as CRB-601, along with non-exclusive licenses to certain related know-how and materials.
In consideration for the license and other rights granted to the Company under the UCSF License Agreement, the Company paid The Regents a license issue fee of
$1,500,000 and is obligated to pay an annual license maintenance fee, as well as up to $153,000,000 in potential milestone payments for the achievement of certain
development, regulatory, and sales milestones. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay royalties in the low, single digits on sales of products falling within the
scope of the licensed patents, which is subject to a minimum annual royalty obligation, and a percentage share of certain payments received by Company from
sublicensees or in connection with the sale of the licensed program.
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The Company determined that substantially all of the fair value of the Jenrin Agreement was attributable to a single in-process research and development asset which did
not constitute a business. The Company determined that substantially all of the fair value of the Milky Way License Agreement and the UCSF License Agreement was
attributable to separate groups of in-process research and development assets which did not constitute a business. The Company concluded that it did not have any
alternative future use for the acquired in-process research and development assets. Thus, the Company recorded the various upfront payment to research and
development expenses in the quarter the license deals became effective. The Company will account for the development, regulatory, and sales milestone payments in the
period that the relevant milestones are achieved as either research and development expense or as an intangible asset as applicable.
7.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and Equipment consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Computer hardware and software
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Property and equipment, gross
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

$

248,754
1,185,329
3,330,855
4,764,938
(2,372,242 )
2,392,696

2020

$

$

626,328
1,626,491
4,163,860
6,416,679
(2,348,842 )
4,067,837

Depreciation expense was approximately $1,000,000 and $1,124,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
8.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Lease Commitment
On August 21, 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement (“August 2017 Lease Agreement”) for commercial lease of office space, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to lease 32,733 square feet of office space (“Leased Premises”). The initial term of the August 2017 Lease Agreement was for a period of seven years
which began with the Company’s occupancy of the Leased Premises in February 2018. The base rent for the Leased Premises ranged from approximately $470,000 for the
first year to approximately $908,000 for the seventh year. Per the terms of the August 2017 Lease Agreement, the landlord agreed to reimburse the Company for
approximately $1,080,000 of leasehold improvements. The reimbursements had been deferred and were to be recognized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of
the lease. Additionally, the August 2017 Lease Agreement required a standby irrevocable letter of credit of $400,000, which was to be reduced, if the Company is not in
default under the August 2017 Lease Agreement, to $300,000 and $200,000 on the third and fourth anniversary of the commencement date, respectively, The Company
entered into an unsecured letter of credit for $400,000 in connection with the August 2017 Lease Agreement.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as amended (“ASU 2016-02”) using the effective date method as of January 1, 2019 and recorded a lease
liability of approximately $3,811,000, and a right-of-use asset of approximately $2,400,000, with no operations adjustment to the accumulated deficit related to the Leased
Premises. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets (“ROU”), operating lease liabilities, current and operating lease liabilities, noncurrent in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the date of adoption based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the Company’s leases do
not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value
of lease payments, which was 9%. This is the rate the Company would have to pay if borrowing on a collateralized basis over a similar term to each lease. The ROU asset
also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
On February 26, 2019, the Company amended its lease (“February 2019 Lease Agreement”) pursuant to which an additional 30,023 square feet of office space (“New
Premises”) will be leased by the Company in the same building for an aggregate total of 62,756 square feet of leased office space (“Total Premises”). The February 2019
Lease Agreement constitutes a modification as it extends
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the original lease term and increases the scope of the lease (additional space provided under the amendment), which requires evaluation of the remeasurement of the lease
liability and corresponding ROU asset. Accordingly, the Company reassessed the classification of the Leased Premises and remeasured the lease liability on the basis of
the extended lease term using the 20 additional monthly rent payments and the incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification of 9%. The
remeasurement for the modification resulted in an increase to the lease liability and the ROU asset of approximately $855,000. The Company determined that the New
Premises will be treated as a new standalone operating lease and recorded a lease liability and a right-of-use asset of approximately $2,700,000 for this lease.
Per the terms of the February 2019 Lease Agreement, the landlord agreed to reimburse the Company for approximately $991,000 of leasehold improvements. The
reimbursements are being recognized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the lease. Additionally, the February 2019 Lease Agreement required a standby
irrevocable letter of credit of $369,900, which may be reduced, if the Company is not in default under the February 2019 Lease Agreement, to $277,425 and $184,950 on
the third and fourth anniversary of the commencement date, respectively.
On October 25, 2019, the Company amended its lease (“October 2019 Lease Amendment”) pursuant to which the term of the lease was extended through November 30,
2026 and the existing office space under lease was expanded by 500 square feet for an aggregate total of 63,256 square feet of leased office space (“Amended Total
Premises”). The October 2019 Lease Amendment constitutes a modification as it extends the original lease term and increases the scope of the lease (additional space
provided under the amendment), which requires evaluation of the remeasurement of the lease liability and corresponding ROU asset. The additional space did not result in
a separate contract as the rent increase was determined not to be commensurate with the standalone price for the additional right of use. Accordingly, the Company
reassessed the classification of the Amended Total Premises, which resulted in operating classification, and remeasured the lease liability on the basis of the extended lease
term using the additional monthly rent payments and the incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification of 8%. The remeasurement for the
modification resulted in an increase to the lease liability and the ROU asset of approximately $381,000 that was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019.
The following table contains a summary of the lease costs recognized under ASC 842 and other information pertaining to the Company’s operating leases for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
2021
Lease cost
Operating lease cost
Total lease cost

$
$

Other information
Weighted average remaining lease term
Weighted average discount rate

1,240,473
1,240,473
4.8 years
8.00 %

2020
$
$

1,240,473
1,240,473
5.9 years
8.00 %

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1,185,341 and $1,240,473, respectively. Rent expense for the twelve months ended December
31, 2021 was offset by $55,133 of sublease income and there was no sublease income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s non-cancelable lease agreements in effect at December 31, 2021, the following table summarizes the Company’s maturities of
operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021:
Year ending December 31, 2021:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Total lease payments

$

$

1,652,563
1,700,005
1,747,447
1,794,889
1,688,145
8,583,049

$

(1,489,884)
7,093,165

Less: imputed interest
Total
Sublease Commitment

Effective August 26, 2021, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with a third party to sublease 12,112 square feet of the 30,023 square feet currently being
leased under one of its two existing lease agreements. The sublease commences on October 1, 2021 and ends October 31, 2026. The Company notes sublease income of
$55,133 and $0 was recognized and offset against rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Undiscounted sublease cash inflows have been summarized in the following table:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Total sublease payments

$

$

104,971
185,717
278,576
290,688
252,333
1,112,285

For commitments under the Company’s development award agreements- see Note 11.
9.NOTES PAYABLE
D&O Financing
In November 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a financing company for $909,375 to finance one of the Company’s insurance policies. The terms of
the loan stipulate equal monthly payments of principal and interest payments of $103,112 over a nine-month period. Interest accrued on this loan at an annual rate of
4.89%. This loan was fully repaid in July 2021.
In November 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a financing company for $984,375 to finance one of the Company’s insurance policies. The terms of
the loan stipulate equal monthly payments of principal and interest payments of $111,041 over a nine-month period. Interest accrues on this loan at an annual rate of
3.64%. Prepaid expenses as of December 31, 2021, included approximately $1,093,750 related to the underlying insurance policy being financed.
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Loan and Security Agreement with K2 HealthVentures LLC
On July 28, 2020, the Company, with its subsidiary, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as borrower, entered into a $50,000,000 secured Loan and Security Agreement with
K2HV, an unrelated third party (the “Loan Agreement”) and received the first $20,000,000 tranche upon signing. The second tranche of $20,000,000 and the third tranche
of $10,000,000 will be made available at the Company’s option subject to the achievement of certain clinical and regulatory milestones. The loan matures on August 1,
2024 and the Company is obligated to make interest only payments for the first 24 months and then interest and equal principal payments for the next 24 months. Interest
accrues at a variable annual rate equal to the greater of (i) 8.5% and (ii) the rate of interest noted in The Wall Street Journal, Money Rates section, as the “Prime Rate” plus
5.25%, in each case, subject to a step-down of 25 basis points upon the funding of the second tranche. The interest rate used at December 31, 2021 was 8.5%. K2HV may
elect to convert up to $5,000,000 of the outstanding loan into common stock at a conversion price of $9.40 per share.
In connection with the Loan Agreement, on July 28, 2020, the Company issued the Lenders a warrant to purchase up to 86,206 common shares (the “K2 Warrant”) at an
exercise price of $6.96 (the “Warrant Price”). The K2 Warrant may be exercised either for cash or on a cashless “net exercise” basis and expires on July 28, 2030. The
total proceeds attributed to the K2 Warrant was approximately $472,000 based on the relative fair value of the K2 Warrant as compared to the sum of the fair values of the
K2 Warrant, prepayment feature, default feature, and debt. Total proceeds attributed to the prepayment and default features was approximately $546,000. The Company
also incurred approximately $1,244,000 of debt issuance costs and is required to make a final payment in excess of the stated principal equal to approximately $1,190,000.
See Note 14 for more detail on assumptions used in the valuation of the K2 warrant and see Note 15 for more information on the assumptions used in valuation of the
default and prepayment features.
The total principal amount of the loan under the Loan Agreement outstanding at December 31, 2021, including the $1,190,000 final payment discussed above, is
$21,190,000.
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in the Loan Agreement), and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the applicable rate of interest,
described above, will be increased by 5.00% per annum. The secured term loan maturity date is August 1, 2024, and the Loan Agreement includes both financial and nonfinancial covenants. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2021. The obligations under the Loan Agreement are secured on a senior
basis by a lien on substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries of the Company are guarantors of the obligations of the Company
under the Loan Agreement.
The total debt discount related to Lenders of approximately $2,262,000 is being charged to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the debt. At
December 31, 2021, the fair value of our outstanding debt, which is considered Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, approximates carrying value. Interest expense for the
year ended December 31, 2021 was approximately $2,709,000. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was approximately $1,126,534.
The net carrying amounts of the liability components consists of the following:
December 31, 2021

Principal
Less: debt discount
Accretion of Debt Discount
Net Carrying amount
Less: current portion of long term debt
Total long-term debt, net of discount

$
$
$
$
$
$

20,000,000
(2,262,388 )
992,007
18,729,619
(3,093,344 )
15,636,275

The following table summarizes the future principal payments due under long-term debt;
Principal Payments and final
payment on Loan Agreement

2022
2023
2024
Total

$3,093,344
9,835,341
8,261,315
$21,190,000
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10.ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

Accrued clinical operations and trials costs
Accrued product development costs
Accrued compensation
Accrued other
Total

$

$

5,435,464
203,676
2,715,368
1,738,804
10,093,312

2020

$

$

14,132,842
2,189,047
4,222,594
1,460,949
22,005,432

11.DEVELOPMENT AWARDS AND DEFERRED REVENUE
2018 CFF Award
On January 26, 2018, the Company entered into the Cystic Fibrosis Program Related Investment Agreement with the CFF (“Investment Agreement”), a non-profit drug
discovery and development corporation, pursuant to which the Company received an award for up to $25 million in funding (the “2018 CFF Award”) to support a Phase
2b Clinical Trial (the “Phase 2b Clinical Trial”) of lenabasum in patients with cystic fibrosis, of which the Company has received $25 million in the aggregate through
December 31, 2021 upon the Company’s achievement of milestones related to the progress of the Phase 2b Clinical Trial, as set forth in the Investment Agreement.
Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Agreement, the Company is obligated to make certain royalty payments to CFF, including a royalty payment of one and one-half
times the amount of the 2018 CFF Award, payable in cash within sixty days upon the first receipt of approval of lenabasum in the United States and a second royalty
payment of one and one-half times the amount of the 2018 CFF Award upon approval in another major market, as set forth in the Investment Agreement (the “Approval
Royalty”). At the Company’s election, the Company may satisfy the first of the two Approval Royalties in registered shares of the Company’s common stock.
Additionally, the Company is obligated to make (i) royalty payments to CFF of two and one-half percent of net sales from lenabasum due within sixty days after any
quarter in which such net sales occur in the Field, as defined in the Investment Agreement, (ii) royalty payments to CFF of one percent of net sales of Non-Field Products,
as defined in the Investment Agreement due within sixty days after any quarter in which such net sales occur, and (iii) royalty payments to CFF of ten percent of any
amount the Company and its stockholders receive in connection with the license, sale, or other transfer to a third party of lenabasum, if indicated for the treatment or
prevention of CF, or a change of control transaction, except that such payment shall not exceed five times the amount of the 2018 CFF Award, with such payments to be
credited against any other net sales royalty payments due. Accordingly, the Company will owe to CFF a royalty payment equal to 10% of any amounts the Company
receives as payment under the collaboration agreement with Kaken, provided that the total royalties that the Company will be required to pay under the Investment
Agreement resulting from income from licenses or sales subject to the Investment Agreement are capped at five times the total amount of the 2018 CFF Award, and the
Company may credit such royalties against any royalties on net sales otherwise owed to CFF under the Investment Agreement. Accordingly, the Company was required to
pay CFF $2,700,000 in May 2019 as a result of its receipt of the $27,000,000 upfront cash payment from Kaken.
Either CFF or the Company may terminate the Investment Agreement for cause, which includes the Company’s material failure to achieve certain commercialization and
development milestones. The Company’s payment obligations survive the termination of the Investment Agreement.
Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Agreement, the Company issued a warrant to CFF to purchase an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
(the “CFF Warrant”). The CFF Warrant is exercisable at a price equal to $13.20 per share and is immediately exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. Upon completion of the final milestone set forth in the Investment Agreement and receipt of the final payment from CFF to the Company pursuant to the
Investment Agreement, the CFF Warrant will be exercisable for the remaining 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The CFF Warrant expires on January 26,
2025. Any shares of the Company’s common stock issued upon exercise of the CFF Warrant will be unregistered and subject to a one-year lock-up.
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Under the Investment Agreement, the Company recorded $881,705 and $3,937,230 of revenue during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
Company assessed the 2018 CFF Award for accounting under ASC 606, which it adopted in the first quarter of 2018. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements
that an entity determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the entity performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v)
recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
The Company assessed this arrangement in accordance with ASC 606 and concluded that the contract counterparty, CFF, is a customer. The Company identified the
following material promise under the arrangement: research and development activities and related services under the Phase 2b Clinical Trial. Based on these assessments,
the Company identified one performance obligation at the outset of the Investment Agreement, which consists of: Phase 2b Clinical Trial research and development
activities and related services.
To determine the transaction price, the Company included the total aggregate payments under the Investment Agreement which amount to $25 million and reduced the
revenue to be recognized by the payment to the customer of $6,215,225 in the form of the CFF Warrant representing its fair value, leaving the remaining $18,784,775 as
the transaction price as of the outset of the arrangement, which was recognized as revenue over the performance period as discussed below. The $6,215,225 fair value of
the warrant was also recorded as an increase to additional paid in capital.
The Company has invoiced and received $25,000,000 in milestone payments, including $12,500,000 in 2018, $5,000,000 in 2019, $5,000,000 in 2020, and $2,500,000 in
2021. The Company notes there are no further development milestones under this agreement.
The CFF Warrant is accounted for as a payment to the customer. See Note 14 for further information related to the CFF Warrant. The Company notes that the Investment
Agreement contains an initial payment that was received upon contract execution and subsequent milestone payments, which are a form of variable consideration that
require evaluation for constraint considerations. The Company concluded that the related performance milestones are generally within the Company’s control and as result
are considered probable. Revenue associated with the performance obligation is being recognized as revenue as the research and development services are provided using
an input method, according to the costs incurred as related to the research and development activities on each program and the costs expected to be incurred in the future to
satisfy the performance obligation. The transfer of control occurs over this time period and, in management’s judgment, is the best measure of progress towards satisfying
the performance obligation. The research and development services related to this performance obligation were performed over an approximately three-year period and
were completed as of December 31, 2021. The amounts recognized as revenue, but not received or invoiced were recognized as a contract asset on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet.
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12.INCOME TAXES
No provision or benefit for federal or state income taxes has been recorded, as the Company has incurred a net loss for all of the periods presented, and the Company has
provided a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $186,267,000 and $167,399,000 respectively, of which
federal carryforwards will expire in varying amounts beginning in 2029. Of the federal net operating loss carryforwards of $186,267,000, approximately $103,686,000 are
from 2019, 2020, and 2021 have no expiration date. Net operating loss carryforwards starting in 2021 are limited to 80% of taxable income. At December 31, 2021 and
2020, the Company had State net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $177,171,000 and $161,143,000, respectively. Utilization of net operating losses may be
subject to substantial annual limitations due to the “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and similar state provisions. The annual limitations
may result in the expiration of net operating losses before utilization. The Company has not yet conducted a study to determine if any such changes have occurred that
could limit the Company’s ability to use the net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. The Company also had research and development tax credit carryforwards at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 of approximately $8,656,000 and $9,233,000, respectively.
In the second half of 2021, the Company received from a foreign taxing authority, an approximate aggregate $12.8 million of cash payments for refundable research and
development tax credits that were earned on certain research and development expenses. The Company recorded the $12.8 million in other income in the accompanying
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax asset are as follows:

NOL carryforward
Foreign net operating loss carryforward
Tax credits
Stock based compensation
Accrued expenses
Other temporary differences
Subtotal
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

$

$

December 31,
2021
50,311,967
$
5,846,372
8,392,989
9,102,630
559,876
1,284,347
75,498,181
(75,498,181 )
—
$

2020
45,360,175
10,532,490
8,843,792
7,354,531
1,202,538
1,152,853
74,446,379
(74,446,379 )
—

The Company has maintained a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets in all periods presented. A valuation allowance is required to be recorded when it is
not more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax assets will be realized. Since the Company cannot determine that it is more likely than not that it
will generate taxable income, and thereby realize the net deferred tax assets, a full valuation allowance has been provided. The valuation allowance increased by
$1,052,000 and $23,324,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, due to the increase in deferred tax assets, primarily due to net operating loss carryforwards. The Company has
no uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2021 and 2020 that would affect its effective tax rate. Since the Company is in a loss carryforward position, the Company is
generally subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examinations by tax authorities for all years for which a loss carryforward is available.
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Income tax benefits computed using the federal statutory income tax rate differs from the Company’s effective tax rate primarily due to the following:
December 31,
2021
Tax provision at statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Permanent differences
Foreign expected tax
Tax credits
Income tax rate change
NOL Adjustments
Other
Decrease in valuation reserve
Total

2020
21.00 %
4.98 %
(3.56 )%
(1.21 )%
2.62 %
(0.20 )%
(4.10 )%
(17.37 )%
(2.16 )%
—%

21.00 %
5.83 %
(1.35 )%
7.37 %
4.03 %
0.02 %
—%
(8.12 )%
(28.78 )%
—%

13.COMMON STOCK
The Company has authorized 300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, of which 125,230,881 shares were issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2021. The Company had 150,000,000 shares authorized, and 98,852,696 shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
On February 11, 2020, the Company consummated an underwritten public offering of shares of its common stock pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of
7,666,667 shares of its common stock, including 1,000,000 shares sold pursuant to the full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a purchase
price of $6.00 per share with gross proceeds to the Company totaling $46,000,000, less estimated issuance costs incurred of approximately $3,147,000.
On April 7, 2020, the Company entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement (the “April 2020 Sale Agreement”) with Jefferies pursuant to which Jefferies served as the
Company’s sales agent to sell up to $75,000,000 of shares of the Company’s common stock through an “at the market offering”. Sales of common stock under the April
2020 Sale Agreement were made pursuant to an effective registration statement for an aggregate offering of up to $75,000,000. During the year ended December 31, 2021,
the Company did not sell any shares of its common stock under the April 2020 Sale Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold
10,539,374 shares of its common stock under the April 2020 Sale Agreement for which the Company received gross proceeds of approximately $75,000,000, less
issuance costs incurred of approximately $2,250,000 through December 31, 2020. The Company completed sales of the $75,000,000 of shares of the Company’s common
stock under the April 2020 Sale Agreement prior to beginning to sell shares under the August 2020 Sale Agreement.
On August 7, 2020, the Company entered into the August 2020 Sale Agreement with Jefferies pursuant to which Jefferies is serving as the Company’s sales agent to sell
shares of the Company’s common stock through an “at the market offering.” As of August 7, 2020, the company was authorized to sell up to $150,000,000 of shares of the
Company’s common stock pursuant to the August 2020 Sale Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company sold 25,391,710 shares of its common
stock under the August 2020 Sale Agreement for which the Company received gross proceeds of approximately $60,681,238, less issuance costs incurred of
approximately $1,820,437 through December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold 15,546,151 shares of its common stock under the
August 2020 Sale Agreement for which the Company received gross proceeds of approximately $21,404,000, less issuance costs incurred of approximately $642,000
through December 31, 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company issued 838,600 and 427,611 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options to purchase
common stock and the Company received proceeds of approximately $945,000 and $756,000 from these exercises, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 147,875 shares of restricted common stock pursuant to the Milky Way License Agreement. No restricted
common shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 2020.
No warrants were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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14.STOCK OPTIONS
In April 2014, the Company adopted the Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”). Pursuant to the 2014 Plan, the Company’s
Board of Directors may grant incentive and nonqualified stock options and restricted stock to employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors.
Pursuant to the terms of an annual evergreen provision in the 2014 Plan, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Plan shall
automatically increase on January 1 of each year by at least seven percent (7%) of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31st of the
preceding calendar year, or, pursuant to the terms of the 2014 Plan, in any year, the Board of Directors may determine that such increase will provide for a lesser number
of shares.
On January 1, 2021, pursuant to an annual evergreen provision contained in the 2014 Plan, the number of shares reserved for future grants was increased by 2,500,000
shares, which was less than seven percent (7%) of the outstanding shares of common stock on December 31, 2020. As of January 1, 2021 there was a total of 25,570,842
shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan and there were 9,869,051 shares available for future grants. Options issued under the 2014 Plan generally vest over 4
years from the date of grant in multiple tranches and are exercisable for up to 10 years from the date of issuance.
In accordance with the terms of the 2014 Plan, effective as of January 1, 2022, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Plan increased
by 8,766,162 shares, which was seven percent (7%) of the outstanding shares of common stock on December 31, 2021 (see Note 16). As of January 1, 2022, the 2014
Plan had a total reserve of 34,337,004 shares and there were 16,760,151 shares available for future grants.
Share-based Compensation
For stock options issued and outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded non-cash, stock-based compensation expense of
$9,480,373 and $12,458,229, respectively, net of estimated forfeitures.
Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2021

Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total stock-based compensation

2020

$2,969,347
6,511,026
$9,480,373

$5,336,472
7,121,757
$12,458,229

The fair value of each option award for employees is estimated on the date of grant and for non-employees is estimated at the end of each reporting period until vested
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. The Company uses historical data, as well as subsequent events
occurring prior to the issuance of the financial statements, to estimate option exercises and employee terminations in order to estimate its forfeiture rate. The expected term
of options granted under the 2014 Plan, all of which qualify as “plain vanilla” per SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 107, is determined based on the simplified method due
to the Company’s limited operating history, and is 6.25 years based on the average between the vesting period and the contractual life of the option. For non-employee
options, the expected term is the contractual term. The risk-free rate is based on the yield of a U.S. Treasury security with a term consistent with the option.
The weighted average assumptions used principally in determining the fair value of options granted were as follows:
2021

Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term in years
Expected volatility
Estimated forfeiture rate

2020

0.76
0
6.23
102.96
9.12
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%
%
%
%

0.59 %
0%
6.25
83.56 %
6.02 %

A summary of option activity for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is presented below:

Options
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2021
Exercisable at December 31, 2021
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021

Shares
13,245,366
4,536,600

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term in
Years

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
$

5.19
5.00

(427,611)
(3,064,712)
14,289,643
7,373,800
(838,600)
(5,479,653)
(19,085)
15,326,105 $
9,011,000 $
14,652,110 $

1.77
5.60
5.15
2.36
1.13
5.04
6.97
4.06
4.87
4.14

Intrinsic
Value

6.75
5.22
6.64

$
$
$

3,529,258
2,691,592
3,340,598

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1.91 and $3.53 per share, respectively. The
aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $1,769,714 and $1,235,676, respectively. As of
December 31, 2021, there was approximately $10,825,375 of total unrecognized compensation expense, related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements.
The unrecognized compensation expense is estimated to be recognized over a period of 2.47 years at December 31, 2021.
As summary of non-vested stock options for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is presented below:

Options
Nonvested December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at December 31, 2021

Shares
5,409,272
4,536,600
(2,720,493
(2,888,085
4,337,294
7,373,800
(2,241,925
(3,154,064
6,315,105
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Weighted
Average
Fair Value
$
)
)
$
)
)
$

5.21
3.53
5.34
4.11
4.14
1.91
4.02
2.80
2.26

15.WARRANTS
No warrants were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
At December 31, 2021, there were warrants outstanding to purchase 1,506,206 shares of common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $9.46 and a weighted
average remaining life of 3.60 years,
The Company issued a warrant to CFF to purchase an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “CFF Warrant”). The CFF Warrant is
exercisable at a price equal to $13.20 per share and is immediately exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Upon completion of the final
milestone set forth in the Investment Agreement and receipt of the final payment from CFF to the Company pursuant to the Investment Agreement, the CFF Warrant will
be exercisable for the remaining 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The CFF Warrant expires on January 26, 2025. Any shares of the Company’s common
stock issued upon exercise of the CFF Warrant will be unregistered and subject to a one-year lock-up. The CFF Warrant is classified as equity as it meets all the conditions
under U.S. GAAP for equity classification. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company has calculated the fair value of the warrant for initial measurement and will
reassess whether equity classification for the warrant is appropriate upon any changes to the warrants or capital structure, at each balance sheet date. The weighted average
assumptions used in determining the $6,215,225 fair value of the CFF Warrant were as follows:
Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term in years
Expected volatility

2.60%
—%
7.00
83.5%

On July 28, 2020, the Company entered into the Loan Agreement with K2HV pursuant to which K2HV may provide the Company with term loans in an aggregate
principal amount of up to $50,000,000. On July 28, 2020, in connection with the funding of the first $20,000,000 tranche, the Company issued a warrant exercisable for
86,206 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “K2 Warrant”) at an exercise price of $6.96 per share. The K2 warrant is immediately exercisable for 86,206 shares
and expires on July 28, 2030. Any shares of the Company’s common stock issued upon exercise of the K2 Warrant are permitted to be settled in unregistered shares. The
K2 Warrant is classified as equity as it meets all the conditions under U.S. GAAP for equity classification. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company has calculated
the fair value of the warrant for initial measurement and will reassess whether equity classification for the warrant is appropriate upon any changes to the warrants or
capital structure, at each balance sheet date. The weighted average assumptions used in determining the $472,409 fair value of the K2 Warrant were as follows:
Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term in years
Expected volatility

0.60%
—%
10.00
80.0%

On October 16, 2020, the Company entered into a professional services agreement with an investor relations service provider. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company
issued warrants exercisable for a total of 420,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Warrants”) at an exercise price of $1.07 per share. The Warrants were
fully vested on October 19, 2021. Any shares of the Company’s common stock issued upon exercise of the Warrants are permitted to be settled in unregistered shares. The
Warrants are classified as equity as they meet all the conditions under U.S. GAAP for equity classification. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company has calculated
the fair value of the warrants for initial measurement and will reassess whether classification for the warrant is appropriate upon any changes to the warrants or capital
structure, at each balance sheet date. The weighted average assumptions used in determining the $334,740 fair value of the Warrants were as follows:
Risk free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term in years
Expected volatility

0.90%
—%
5.00
100.6%
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16.DERIVATIVE LIABILITY
On July 28, 2020, the Company, with its subsidiary, Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as borrower, entered into a $50,000,000 secured Loan and Security Agreement with
K2HV, an unrelated third party (the “Loan Agreement”) and received the first $20,000,000 tranche upon signing. The Company has determined that a prepayment feature
and default feature needed to be separately valued and mark to market each reporting period after assessing the agreement under ASC 815.
The value of these features are determined each reporting period by taking the present value of net cash flows with and without the prepayment features. The significant
assumption used to determine the fair value of the debt without any features is the discount rate which has been estimated by using published market rates of triple CCC
rated public companies. All other inputs are taken from the Loan Agreement. The additional significant assumptions used when valuing the prepayment feature is the
probability of a change of control event. The Company has determined the probability from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 has stayed consistent. The
additional significant assumption used when valuing the default feature is the probability of defaulting on the repayment of loan. The Company has determined the
probability from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 has remained consistent. The value of these features was determined to be approximately $797,000 at
December 31, 2020 and $133,710 at December 31, 2021 which resulted in $663,290 of other income in 2021. The Company considers the fair value of the derivative
liability to be Level 3 under the three-tier fair value hierarchy.
A roll forward of the fair value of the derivative liability for the year ended December 31, 2021 is presented below.
December 31, 2021

Beginning balance, December 31, 2020
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
Ending balance, December 31, 2021

$797,000
(663,290)
$133,710

17.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Evergreen Provision
Pursuant to the terms of an annual evergreen provision in the 2014 Plan, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Plan shall
automatically increase on January 1 of each year by at least seven percent (7%) of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31st of the
preceding calendar year, or, pursuant to the terms of the 2014 Plan, in any year, the Board of Directors may determine that such increase will provide for a lesser number
of shares. In accordance with the terms of the 2014 Plan, effective as of January 1, 2022, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014
Plan increased by 8,766,162 shares, such amount being seven percent (7%) of the outstanding shares of common stock on December 31, 2021. As of January 1, 2022, the
2014 Plan had a total reserve of 34,337,004 shares and there were 16,760,151 shares available for future grants.
Venn Litigation
On November 18, 2021, Venn Therapeutics, LLC (“Venn”), filed a complaint (the “Complaint”) against us in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florida.
The Complaint asserts claims for trade secret misappropriation under federal law and state law, a claim for breach of contract, and state law claims for unfair competition,
misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, and intentional interference with advantageous business relations. On November 24, 2021, Venn filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction, which requests that the court preliminarily enjoin us from using Venn’s trade secrets and/or confidential information without Venn’s consent, including by
conducting any further development work of our immunotherapy program based on CRB-601, until further order of the court. On January 7, 2022, we filed a motion to
dismiss the Complaint in its entirety and an opposition to Venn’s motion for a preliminary injunction.
We believe that the Complaint and Venn’s preliminary injunction motion are without merit and intend to vigorously defend the Company against these claims; however,
there can be no assurance that we will prevail in such proceedings.
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Exhibit 4.10
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following is a summary of information concerning capital stock of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (“us,” “our,” “we” or the “Company”) and certain provisions of
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws currently in effect. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), and amended and restated bylaws (the
“Bylaws”), each previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, as
well as to the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). We encourage you to read our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and the
applicable portions of the DGCL carefully.
General
Our authorized capital stock consists of:
●

300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; and

●

10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of which, as of the date of this prospectus, none of which shares have been designated.

As of December 31, 2021, 125,230,881 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.
Common Stock.
Voting. The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which the holders are entitled to vote (or consent pursuant to
written consent). Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote.
Dividends. The holders of our common stock are entitled to receive, ratably, dividends only if, when and as declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available
therefor and after provision is made for each class of capital stock having preference over the common stock.
Liquidation Rights. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of common stock are entitled to share, ratably, in all assets remaining available for
distribution after payment of all liabilities and after provision is made for each class of capital stock having preference over the common stock.
Conversion Right. The holders of our common stock have no conversion rights.
Preemptive and Similar Rights. The holders of our common stock have no preemptive or similar rights.
Redemption/Put Rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock. All of the outstanding shares of our common stock are fully-paid
and nonassessable.
Anti-takeover Effects of Delaware Law and our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of discouraging potential acquisition proposals or tender offers or delaying or
preventing a change of control. They are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. These
provisions are as follows:

●
●
●
●

they provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution approved by the affirmative vote of
a majority of the board of directors;
they specifically deny the ability of stockholders to take action by written consent of the stockholders in lieu of a meeting;
they do not include a provision for cumulative voting in the election of directors. Under cumulative voting, a minority stockholder holding a sufficient number of
shares may be able to ensure the election of one or more directors. The absence of cumulative voting may have the effect of limiting the ability of minority
stockholders to effect changes to the our board of directors; and
they allow us to issue, without stockholder approval, up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with such designations, rights, and preferences as may be
determined from time to time by our board of directors that could adversely affect the rights and powers of the holders of the common stock, including dividend,
liquidation, conversion, voting, or other rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of
preferred stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on our common stock, diluting the voting power of our common stock, impairing the liquidation
rights of our common stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control of our company, all without further action by our stockholders.

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination”
with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business
combination is approved in the following prescribed manner:
●
●

●

prior to the time of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of
the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (1) shares owned by
persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine
confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; and
on or subsequent to the time of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders,
and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, for purposes of Section 203, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder
status, owned 15% or more of a corporation’s outstanding voting securities.
Listing
Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “CRBP.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

Exhibit 10.31

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”), effective as of December 6, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), is between
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) and Rachael Brake (the “Executive”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive as its Chief Scientific Officer, and the Executive
desires to accept such employment, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants and agreements contained
herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:
1. EMPLOYMENT. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company hereby employs the Executive, and
the Executive hereby accepts such employment by the Company commencing on the Effective Date.
2. SCOPE OF EMPLOYMENT. During the term of this Agreement, Executive shall hold the position of Chief Scientific
Officer and shall have those duties and responsibilities customarily associated with the title of Chief Scientific
Officer plus any additional duties as may reasonably be assigned to her from time to time by the Company. The
Executive shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The Executive will devote her full time and best
efforts to the business and affairs of the Company. The Executive shall be subject to and comply with the
Company’s policies, procedures and approval practices as generally in effect at any time and from time to time.
3. PREVIOUS OBLIGATIONS. The Executive represents that her employment by the Company and the performance of
her duties on behalf of the Company does not, and shall not, breach any agreement that obligates the Executive to
keep in confidence any trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information of any other party or to refrain from
competing, directly or indirectly, with the business of any other party. The Executive shall not disclose to the
Company any trade secrets or confidential or proprietary information of any other party.
4. COMPENSATION. As full compensation for all services to be rendered by Executive during the term of this Agreement,
the Company will compensate the Executive as follows.
4.1 Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (the “Base Salary”) at the annualized rate of
$410,000, which shall be subject to customary withholdings and authorized deductions and shall be
payable in equal installments in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices in place
from time to time. The Executive’s Base Salary shall be subject to review on at least an annual basis.

4.2

Annual Bonus.
(a)

The Executive will be eligible to participate in an annual executive bonus plan pursuant to which she may earn a bonus
(“Bonus”) equal to up to 40% of her Base Salary (such maximum bonus may be referred to as the “Target Bonus”).

(b) Prior to the commencement of each calendar year the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) will establish and approve
the Target Bonus for such calendar year. Achievement of the Target Bonus will be based on the Executive meeting
individual objectives and the Company meeting Company-wide objectives (collectively, the “Performance
Criteria”). For the period between the Effective Date and March 31, 2022, the Company will pay the Executive a
performance bonus of $100,000 provided she is actively employed in good standing as of that date.
(c)
(d)

(e)

The Board may, in its discretion, grant the Executive a Bonus in excess of the Target Bonus in any given year if the
Performance Criteria are exceeded.
Following the close of each calendar year but in no event later than January
30th, the Board will meet and determine the extent to which the Performance Criteria have been achieved for such
year and the amount of the Bonus. Based on that determination, payment of the Bonus (if any) shall be made by
March 15th.
Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary (including all Performance Criteria being met), payment of the Bonus shall
be at the discretion of the Board based on the financial condition of the Company.

4.3 Stock Option Grants. Subject to the approval of the Board, the Company will recommend a grant to the Executive of an option to
purchase up to 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Option”) pursuant to the Corbus Pharmaceuticals
Holdings, Inc. 2014 Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). The exercise price per share of the Option will be determined by
the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee when the Option is granted and will be no less than the fair market value
per share on the date of grant. The Option will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the applicable stock option
grant agreement. The Executive will vest in the Option as described in the applicable stock option grant agreement. During the
Term, subject to the terms and conditions established within the Plan or any successor equity compensation plan as may be in
place from time to time and separate award agreements, the Executive also shall be eligible to receive from time to time
additional stock options or other awards (as permitted by the Plan), in amounts, if any, to be approved by the Board or the
Compensation Committee in its discretion.
4.4 Benefits. During her employment and subject to any contribution therefore generally required of employees of the Company, the
Executive shall be entitled to
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participate in any and all employee benefit plans from time to time in effect for executive employees of the Company
generally. Such participation shall be subject to (i) the terms of the applicable plan documents, (ii) generally applicable
policies of the Company and (iii) the discretion of the Board or any administrative or other committee provided for in or
contemplated by such plan. The Company may alter, modify, add to or delete its employee benefit plans at any time as it, in
its sole judgment, deems appropriate.
4.5 Vacations, Sick Time, Holidays, and Other Leave. During the term of her employment, the Executive shall be entitled to paid
time off, including vacation time, sick time, holidays, and other leave time, in accordance with the Company’s policies in
force in its Employee Handbook as of the Effective Date of this Agreement or as such policies may be modified from
time to time by the Company.
5. EXPENSES. The Executive shall be entitled to reimbursement by the Company for all necessary and reasonable travel, entertainment and
other business expenses incurred by her in connection with her duties hereunder. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for all
such expenses upon presentation of an itemized account and appropriate supporting documentation, all in accordance with the
Company’s generally applicable policies as in effect from time to time.
6.

CONFIDENTIALITY.
6.1 Definition. During the term of her employment, the Executive will have access to the Company’s confidential business
information (the “Confidential Information”). Confidential Information means all trade secrets, know-how, showhow, theories, technical, operating, financial and other business information relating to the Company, its affiliates and each
of their respective businesses or potential businesses, whether or not reduced to writing or other medium, and whether or
not marked or labeled confidential, proprietary or the like, specifically including, without limitation, the following:
inventions (including, without limitation, Work Product (as defined below)), designs, data, computer code, works of
authorship, formulas, compounds, indications, techniques, ideas, discoveries, products and services under development,
investor, customer and vendor information of any kind, marketing and business plans, pricing and profit margins,
memoranda, notes, records, files, reports and other documentation, processes, business methods, improvements,
modifications and creations, methodology, concepts, research, specifications, data processes, operations procedures,
computer systems and software; provided, however, that Confidential Information shall not include information that is or
becomes generally available to the public, unless such information has become generally available as a result of the
Executive’s direct or indirect act or omission or as a result of the disclosure by any other person in violation of any
contractual, legal or fiduciary obligation.
6.2 Use of Confidential Information. Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, the Executive shall use Confidential
Information only in the performance of the Executive’s duties for the Company. Subject to the other
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provisions of this Agreement, the Executive shall not use Confidential Information at any time (during or after
the Executive’s employment) for the Executive’s personal benefit or in any manner adverse to the interests of
the Company, its affiliates, or any of their respective investors and clients.
6.3 Protection and Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information. The Executive shall safeguard the Confidential
Information by all reasonable steps and abide by all policies and procedures of the Company in effect from
time to time regarding storage, copying, destroying, publication or posting, and handling of such Confidential
Information, in whatever medium or format that Confidential Information takes. At all times during and after
her employment by the Company, the Executive shall not disclose Confidential Information at any time except
to persons or entities authorized by the Company to receive this information or as otherwise permitted by this
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Executive is permitted, subject to the other provisions of this
Agreement, to disclose Confidential Information to third parties with whom or which the Company has entered
into confidentiality agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed
to prevent disclosure of Confidential Information when required to do so by a court of law, a governmental
agency, or an administrative or legislative body (each with jurisdiction to order the Executive to divulge,
disclose or make accessible such information); provided that, the Executive shall give prompt written notice to
the Company of such requirement and reasonably cooperate with any attempt by the Company and/or its
affiliates to obtain a protective order or similar treatment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this
Agreement prohibits, limits, or otherwise interferes with the Executive’s protected rights under federal, state or
local law to, without notice to the Company, (i) communicate or file a charge with a government regulator; (ii)
participate in an investigation or proceeding conducted by a government regulator; or (iii) receive an award
paid by a government regulator for providing information.
6.4 Return of Confidential Information. Upon request of the Company at any time, the Executive will promptly (i)
deliver to the Company all documents and other tangible media in the Executive’s possession or control that
evidence, contain or reflect Confidential Information (including all copies, reproductions, digests, abstracts,
analyses, and notes) and (ii) destroy any intangible materials that evidence, contain or reflect Confidential
Information on equipment or media not owned by the Company.
6.5 Other Agreements. The Executive shall execute and abide by all confidentiality agreements which the Company
reasonably requests the Executive to sign or abide by, whether those agreements are for the benefit of the
Company, an affiliate of the Company, or an actual or a potential client thereof.
6.6 Defend Trade Secrets. The Executive acknowledges that the Executive shall not be held criminally or civilly liable
under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret if (i) the Executive makes such
disclosure in confidence to a federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to
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an attorney and such disclosure is made solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected
violation of law, or (ii) the Executive makes such disclosure in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding if such filing is made under seal. Further, an individual who files a lawsuit
for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the employer's
trade secrets to the attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding if the individual:
(i) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (ii) does not disclose the trade secret,
except pursuant to court order. Nothing contained herein will waive, limit or affect any rights of the
Company under any applicable trade secrets laws, including Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, which
will be enforceable separate and apart from this Agreement.
7.

ASSIGNMENT OF WORK PRODUCT.
7.1 Definitions. The following capitalized terms shall have the meanings assigned to them below:
“ In tell ectual Prop erty” means collectively all Work Product and all Intellectual
Property Rights relating to all Work Product.
“Intellectual Property Rights” means all copyrights, copyright registrations and copyright applications,
trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, trademark registrations and trademark applications,
patents and patent applications, trade secret rights, and all other intellectual property rights and
intellectual property interests existing, created or protectable under any intellectual property or other law
of any nation.
“Work Product” means any and all inventions, discoveries, works of authorship, developments,
improvements, formulas, compounds, indications, techniques, concepts, data and ideas (whether or not
patentable or registerable under patent, copyright, or similar statute) made, conceived, prepared, created,
discovered, or reduced to practice by the Executive, either alone or jointly with others, during the period
of her employment, that (i) result or relate to work performed by the Executive for the Company, (ii) are
made by use of the equipment, supplies, facilities or Confidential Information of the Company, or are
made, conceived or completed, wholly or in part, during hours in which the Executive is working for the
Company, or (iii) are related to the business of the Company or the actual or demonstrably anticipated
business of the Company.
7.2 Property of the Company. All Intellectual Property is and will be the sole property of the Company.
7.3 Copyrights; Assignment. The Executive agrees that all copyrightable materials that fall within the definition of
Work Product, will be, to the maximum extent permitted by law, works-made-for-hire for the Company
under copyright law, and to the extent not works-made-for-hire, the Executive hereby irrevocably assigns
to
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the Company, without royalty or further consideration to the Executive, all right, title, and interest she may
have, or may acquire, in and to all Intellectual Property.
7.4 Disclosure. The Executive will promptly disclose in writing all Work Product to the Company. The Executive agrees
to keep adequate and current written records of all such Work Product, in the form of notes, sketches,
drawings, electronic records and/or other reports, which records are, and will remain, the sole property of the
Company and will be available to the Company at all times.
7.5 Execution of Documents. Whenever requested by the Company, both during the period of the Executive’s
employment and thereafter, the Executive will promptly sign and deliver to the Company any and all
applications, assignments and other documents that the Company considers necessary or desirable in order to:
(a) assign, apply for, obtain, and maintain any Intellectual Property Rights in the United States and for other
countries relating to any Work Product, (b) assign and convey to the Company or its designee the sole and
exclusive right, title, and interest in and to all Intellectual Property, (c) provide evidence regarding the
Intellectual Property that the Company considers necessary or desirable, and (d) confirm the Company’s
ownership of the Intellectual Property, all without royalty or any other further consideration to the Executive.
7.6 Assistance to the Company. Whenever requested by the Company, both during the period of the Executive’s
employment and thereafter, the Executive will assist the Company in assigning, obtaining, maintaining,
defending, registering and from time to time enforcing, in any and all countries, the Company’s right to the
Intellectual Property. This assistance may include, without limitation, testifying in a suit or other proceeding. If
the Company requires assistance from the Executive after termination of her employment, other than
assistance as set forth in Section
7.5, the Executive will be compensated for time actually spent in providing assistance at an hourly rate
equivalent to her compensation at the time her employment was terminated together with her reasonable,
actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred in providing such assistance, to the extent permitted by applicable law
and/or court rules.
7.7 Power of Attorney. For use in the case that the Company cannot obtain the Executive’s signature on any document
that the Company considers necessary or desirable in order to assign, apply for, prosecute, obtain, or enforce
any Intellectual Property, whether due to the Executive’s non-cooperation, unavailability, or any other reason,
the Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and each of its duly authorized officers
and agents as her agent and attorney-in-fact to act for, and on the Executive’s behalf, to execute and file any
such document and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the assignment, transfer to the Company,
application, registration, prosecution, issuance, and enforcement of all Intellectual Property, with the same
force and effect as if executed and delivered by the Executive.
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7.8 Prior Inventions. The Executive represents that any inventions, prior works of authorship, discoveries, concepts or ideas, if any,
to which the Executive presently has any right, title or interest, and which were previously conceived either wholly or in
part by the Executive, and that the Executive desires to exclude from the operation of this Agreement are identified on
Schedule A of this Agreement (each a “Prior Invention”). The Executive represents that the list contained in Schedule A
is complete to the best of her knowledge. If during the Executive’s retention with the Company, the Executive incorporates
a Prior Invention into a Company product, process or service or its use, the Executive shall be deemed to have
automatically granted to the Company a nonexclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide license to make, have
made, modify, display, perform sell and otherwise use such Prior Invention as part of or in connection with any Company
product, process or service. The Executive shall not incorporate a Prior Invention into a Company product, process or
service or its use without the Company’s prior written consent.
8.

NON-COMPETITION; NON-SOLICITATION.
8.1 Non-competition. To protect the Company’s legitimate interests in, among other things, the Company’s Confidential
Information, trade secrets, and goodwill, during the Employment Period and the Non-Competition Restricted Period (as
defined below), the Executive shall not, in any geographic location where within the two years prior to cessation of
employment with the Company the Executive provided services to the Company or had a material presence or influence,
directly or indirectly, whether as a partner, principal, shareholder, licensor, licensee, employee, officer, director, manager,
agent, representative, advisor, promoter, associate, investor, or otherwise, assist in or engage in providing any services
that the Executive provided to the Company during the prior two years, to a Competitive Business (as defined below). The
geographic limitation as set forth in this Section
8.1 does not apply during the Employment Period, during which there is no geographic limitation to the restrictions as set
forth in this Section 8.1.
In furtherance of the foregoing, the Company will provide the Executive with the following:
(a)
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Subject to Sections 11.3 and 11.4, in the event that the Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the
Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, during the Term (as defined below) other than
during the Change in Control Period (as defined in subsection 8.1(b)), the Company shall pay to the Executive an
amount equal to twelve months of her then current Base Salary under Section 4.1 above (less applicable
withholdings and authorized deductions), to be paid in equal installments bimonthly in accordance with the
Company’s customary payroll practices, commencing sixty (60) days following the date of termination of
employment.

(b) Subject to Sections 11.3 and 11.4, in the event that the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without
Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, during the Term and within the 3 months immediately preceding or the
12 months immediately following a Change in Control (as defined in Section 11.2) (each, the “Change in Control
Period”), then in lieu of the payments set forth in subsection 8.1(a) above, the Company shall pay to the Executive an
amount equal to eighteen months of her then current Base Salary under Section 4.1 above (less applicable withholdings
and authorized deductions), to be paid in equal installments bimonthly in accordance with the Company’s customary
payroll practices, commencing sixty (60) days following the date of termination of employment. For avoidance of
doubt, if such termination precedes a Change in Control and any payments or benefits have commenced pursuant to
subsection 8.1(a), such payments or benefits shall be taken into account for purposes of this subsection 8.1(b).
The Executive has the right to consult with counsel prior to signing this Agreement, including this Section 8.1. This Section 8.1
shall not be effective until after ten (10) business days from the date the Executive received notice of this Section 8.1, but in no
case earlier than the Effective Date of this Agreement.
The Executive shall not provide any services to any other person, company, entity or firm while the Executive is employed by
the Company without the Company’s written consent and may not do anything that may result in an actual or perceived conflict
of interest to the Company.
During the Non-Competition Restricted Period, the Executive shall, upon the Company’s request, honestly, accurately, and
completely provide the Company with the name of any prospective new employer or hiring entity that follows the Executive’s
separation from the Company. During the Employment Period, the Non-Competition Restricted Period, and the NonSolicitation Restricted Period (defined below), the Executive shall, upon the Company’s request, provide a copy of this
Agreement to any person, company, entity or firm.
8.2 Certain Definitions. The following capitalized terms shall have the meanings assigned to them below:
“Competitive Business” means any business that is developing or has developed a cannabinoid agonist for the treatment of
scleroderma, cystic fibrosis or other inflammatory or fibrotic diseases.
“Employment Period” means the period commencing on the Effective Date and continuing through and including the date of
cessation of the Executive’s employment with the Company.
“Non-Competition Restricted Period” means the 6 months from the date of
cessation of the Executive’s employment with the Company.
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“Non-Solicitation Restricted Period” means the 12 months from the date of cessation of the Executive’s employment
with the Company.
8.3 Non-Solicitation. During the Employment Period and the Non-Solicitation Restricted Period, the Executive shall not,
directly or indirectly, whether on behalf of herself or anyone else: (i) induce or attempt to induce a business associate of the
Company to refrain from doing business with the Company; or (ii) solicit any of the employees of the Company to leave
the employ of the Company or hire anyone who is an employee of the Company or has worked for the Company during the
previous 12 months. The Non-Solicitation Restricted Period shall be extended by the length of any period during which
the Executive is in breach of the terms and conditions of this Section 8.3.
8.4 Separate Covenants. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the covenants set forth in this Section 8 are an essential
element of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and that, but for the agreement of the Executive to
comply with such covenants, the Company would not have entered into this Agreement.
8.5 Blue Pencil Provision. The parties hereby expressly agree that the duration, scope and geographic area of restriction set forth in
this Section 8 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company. If any provision of
this Agreement should be found by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable for any reason, including but
not limited to being too broad as to duration, scope, or area of restriction, then, and in that event, such provision will
nonetheless remain valid and fully effective, but will be considered to be amended so that the duration, scope, and/or area
of restriction set forth will be changed to be the maximum duration, scope, or area of restriction, as the case may be, that
would be found enforceable by such court.
9. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF. The Executive acknowledges that the Company shall not have an adequate remedy in the event that the Executive
breaches Section 6, 7, 8 or 12 of this Agreement and that the Company will suffer irreparable damage and injury in such event. The
Executive agrees that the Company, in addition to any other available rights and remedies, shall be entitled to seek an injunction
(without the necessity of posting a bond) restraining the Executive from committing or continuing any violation of Section 6, 7, 8 or
12 of this Agreement.
10.
10.1

TERM; TERMINATION.
Term. The Executive shall be employed on an at-will basis.

10.2 Termination by the Executive. The Executive may terminate this Agreement and her employment hereunder with or without
Good Reason (as defined below) upon
30 days prior written notice to the Company.
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10.3 Termination by Company. The Company may terminate this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder (i) without
Cause immediately upon written notice to the Executive or (ii) immediately for Cause.
10.4 Certain Definitions. The following capitalized terms shall have the meanings assigned to them below:
“Cause” means the Company’s determination that: (i) the Executive has failed to perform her material job duties to the
Company’s satisfaction after written notice thereof and an opportunity of 30 days to cure (to the extent curable); (ii) the
Executive’s gross negligence or misconduct (including but not limited to acts of fraud or theft or the violation of applicable
laws) in connection with the performance of her duties; (iii) the Executive’s material breach of Section 6, 7 or 8 above; (iv)
the Executive’s commission of an act of moral turpitude; or (v) the Executive’s conviction of or plea of nolo contendere to
a felony.
“Good Reason” means the voluntary termination by the Executive within thirty (30) days following: (i) a requirement that
the Executive physically relocate to another office that is more than 75 miles from the office location that the Executive
reported to on the Effective Date; (ii) a material reduction in the Executive’s rate of compensation, potential incentive
compensation, or general benefits (other than general changes, in each case, affecting all similarly situated employees to
substantially the same extent); or (iii) a material adverse change in the Executive’s job description or a significant reduction
of the scope of the Executive’s authority or responsibilities.
11.

EFFECT OF TERMINATION
11.1 Payments Upon Termination. In the event that the Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, the
Executive shall have the right to receive (i) the compensation and reimbursable expenses then accrued and/or earned and
unpaid under Sections 4.1 and 5 of this Agreement through the date of termination, (ii) payment for unused vacation days
accrued through the date of termination and (iii) any benefits required by the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation
Act of 1985.
11.2 No Other Payments or Benefits. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that upon the termination of her employment, no
other benefits, compensation or renumeration of any kind is owed by the Company to the Executive other than as set forth
in Sections 8.1 and 11 or as set forth in the agreements pertaining to stock options granted to the Executive by the
Company.
11.3
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Survival. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, set forth herein, Sections 6, 7,
8, 9 and 11, and 19 of this agreement and any remedies for the breach thereof, shall survive the termination of this
Agreement under the terms hereof. Termination of this Agreement shall not relieve or release either party from any rights,
liabilities,

or obligation which it/she has accrued prior to the effective date of such termination.
11.4 Additional Payments. (a) Subject to Sections 11.3 and 11.4, in the event that the Executive’s employment with the
Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, during the Term
other than during the Change in Control Period (as defined in subsection 11.4), (A) if the Executive then
participates in the Company’s medical, vision and/or dental plans and the Executive timely elects to continue
and maintain group health plan coverage pursuant to COBRA, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for
the cost of health insurance under COBRA for a period of twelve months; provided, however, that if and to the
extent that the Company may not provide such COBRA reimbursement without incurring tax penalties or
violating any requirement of the law, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable best efforts to
provide substantially similar assistance in an alternative manner, provided that the cost of doing so does not
exceed the cost that the Company would have incurred had the COBRA reimbursement been provided in the
manner described above or cause a violation of Section 409A (as defined below), and (B) if the Executive is
entitled to a Bonus, subject to the Board’s discretion and approval as set forth in Section 4.2 above, the
Company shall pay such Bonus in accordance with the terms of the applicable plan and on the same basis as
other participants in the plan except that the Bonus amount shall be prorated (based on the percentage of days
the Executive was employed relative to the total number of days in the bonus earning period).
(b)
Subject to Sections 11.5 and 11.6, in the event that the Executive’s employment is terminated by the
Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason, during the Term and within the 3 months
immediately preceding or the 12 months immediately following a Change in Control (as defined below) (each,
the “Change in Control Period”), then in lieu of the payments set forth in subsection 11.4 above, the
Company shall (A) if the Executive then participates in the Company’s medical, vision and/or dental plans and
the Executive timely elects to continue and maintain group health plan coverage pursuant to COBRA, the
Company shall reimburse the Executive for the cost of health insurance under COBRA for a period of eighteen
(18) months; provided, however, that if and to the extent that the Company may not provide such COBRA
reimbursement without incurring tax penalties or violating any requirement of the law, the Company shall use
its commercially reasonable best efforts to provide substantially similar assistance in an alternative manner,
provided that the cost of doing so does not exceed the cost that the Company would have incurred had the
COBRA reimbursement been provided in the manner described above or cause a violation of Section 409A (as
defined below), (B) pay the current year Bonus at two (2) times the Target Bonus level, which payment shall
be made by March 15th of the following calendar year, and (C) fully accelerate vesting of all of the
Executive’s outstanding stock options, restricted stock and other equity incentive awards upon the later of (x)
the Change in Control or (y) the Executive’s termination of employment with the Company. For avoidance
of doubt, if such termination precedes a Change in Control and any payments or benefits have commenced
-11-

pursuant to subsection 11.4, such payments or benefits shall be taken into account for purposes of this subsection 11.4.
As used in this Agreement, “Change in Control” means (x) a change in ownership of the Company under clause (i) below or (y)
a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company under clause (ii) below:
(i) Change in the Ownership of the Company. A change in the ownership of the Company shall occur on the date that any one
person, or more than one person acting as a group (as defined in clause (iii) below), acquires ownership of capital
stock of the Company that, together with capital stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than 50 percent
of the total fair market value or total voting power of the capital stock of the Company. However, if any one person or
more than one person acting as a group, is considered to own more than 50 percent of the total fair market value or
total voting power of the capital stock of the Company, the acquisition of additional capital stock by the same person
or persons shall not be considered to be a change in the ownership of the Company. An increase in the percentage of
capital stock owned by any one person, or persons acting as a group, as a result of a transaction in which the Company
acquires capital stock in the Company in exchange for property will be treated as an acquisition of stock for purposes
of this paragraph.
(ii)
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C hange in the Own ership of a S ubst anti al P ortion of the C ompany ’s Ass ets .
A change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets shall occur on the date that any one
person, or more than one person acting as a group (as defined in clause (iii) below), acquires (or has acquired during
the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the
Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than 80 percent of the total gross fair market value
of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions. For this purpose, gross fair
market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined
without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets. There is no Change in Control under this clause (ii) when
there is a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the shareholders of the Company immediately after the transfer, as
provided below in this clause (ii). A transfer of assets by the Company is not treated as a change in the ownership of
such assets if the assets are transferred to (a) a shareholder of the Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in
exchange for or with respect to its capital stock, (b) an entity, 50 percent or more of the total value or voting power of
which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (c) a person, or more than one person acting as a group, that
owns, directly or indirectly, 50 percent or more of the total value or voting power of all the outstanding capital stock of
the Company, or (d) an entity, at least 50 percent of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or
indirectly, by a person described in clause (ii)(c) of this paragraph. For

purposes of this clause (ii), a person's status is determined immediately after the transfer of the assets.
(iii) Persons Acting as a Group. For purposes of clauses (i) and (ii) above, persons will not be considered to be acting as a
group solely because they purchase or own capital stock or purchase assets of the Company at the same time.
However, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a
merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of assets or capital stock, or similar business transaction with the
Company. If a person, including an entity, owns stock in both corporations that enter into a merger,
consolidation, purchase or acquisition of assets or capital stock, or similar transaction, such shareholder is
considered to be acting as a group with other shareholders in a corporation only with respect to the ownership in
that corporation before the transaction giving rise to the change and not with respect to the ownership interest in
the other corporation. For purposes of this paragraph, the term “corporation” shall have the meaning assigned
such term under Treasury Regulation section 1.280G-1, Q&A-45.
(iv) Each of clauses (i) through (iii) above shall be construed and interpreted consistent with the requirements of Section 409A
and any Treasury Regulations or other guidance issued thereunder.
11.5 Release Agreement. In order to receive the payments and benefits set forth in Sections 8.1 and 11.2, as applicable (collectively
referred to herein as the “Severance Payments”), the Executive must timely execute (and not revoke) the Company’s form
of separation agreement and general release (the “Release Agreement”). If the Executive is eligible for Severance
Payments pursuant to Sections 8.1 and 11.2, the Company will deliver the Release Agreement to the Executive within
seven (7) calendar days following the date of termination of employment. The Severance Payments are subject to the
Executive’s execution and delivery of such Release Agreement within 45 days of the Executive’s receipt of the Release
Agreement and the Executive’s non-revocation of such Release Agreement.
11.6 Post-Termination Breach. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company’s obligation to
provide the Severance Payments will immediately cease if the Executive breaches any of the provisions of Sections 6, 7 or
8, the Release Agreement or any other Agreement the Executive has with the Company.
12. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY; EXIT INTERVIEW. Upon termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for
any reason or at any time during employment upon request, the Executive will promptly:
(a)
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Deliver to the Company all documents and other tangible media in the Executive's possession or control that evidence, contain
or reflect (A) Confidential Information

or (B) Work Product, in each case whether prepared by the Executive or otherwise
coming into the Executive’s possession or control;
(b) Destroy any intangible materials that evidence, contain or reflect Confidential Information or Work Product on equipment or
media not owned by the Company, unless otherwise directed by the Company; and
(c)

Return to the Company all equipment, files, software programs and other personal property belonging to the Company.

Upon termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, the Executive will attend an exit interview with
a representative of the Company to review the Executive’s continuing obligations under this Agreement and to coordinate in the
transition of her duties.
13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and supersedes all contemporaneous and prior agreements and understandings between them as to such subject matter. Except as
otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing executed by the
Company and the Executive. Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, any subsequent change or changes in the
Executive’s duties, salary, or compensation will not affect the validity or scope of this Agreement, including the validity or scope of
Section 8.
14. ASSIGNMENT. The Executive shall not be permitted to assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Company.
15. GOVERNING LAW; JURISDICTION. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with and governed by the
laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws thereof. The parties hereby
consent and submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the courts located in Suffolk County, Massachusetts in connection with
any actions or proceedings brought against either of them (or each of them) arising out of or relating to this Agreement.
16. MISCELLANEOUS. No waiver by either party of any term or condition of this Agreement, whether by conduct or otherwise, in
any one or more instance, shall be deemed a continuing waiver of any such term or condition, or a waiver of any other term or
condition of this Agreement. Headings set forth in this Agreement are solely for the convenience of the parties and have no legal
effect. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found to be invalid by any court having competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of
such provision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions hereof. This Agreement shall be (i) binding upon, and will
inure to the benefit of, the parties and their permitted respective successors and assigns, (ii) construed without presumption of any
rule requiring construction to be made against the party causing it to be drafted and (iii) executed in any number of counterparts, each
of which will for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and all of which are identical.
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17. TAX WITHHOLDING. The Company or other payor is authorized to withhold from any benefit provided or payment due hereunder, the
amount of withholding taxes due any federal, state or local authority in respect of such benefit or payment and to take such other
action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Board to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such withholding taxes. The
Executive will be solely responsible for all taxes assessed against her with respect to the compensation and benefits described in this
Agreement, other than typical employer-paid taxes such as FICA, and the Company makes no representations as to the tax treatment
of such compensation and benefits.
18. SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE. All payments under this Agreement are intended to comply with or be exempt from the requirements
of Section 409A of the Code and regulations promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”). As used in this Agreement, the “Code”
means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. To the extent permitted under applicable regulations and/or other guidance
of general applicability issued pursuant to Section 409A, the Company reserves the right to modify this Agreement to conform with
any or all relevant provisions regarding compensation and/or benefits so that such compensation and benefits are exempt from the
provisions of 409A and/or otherwise comply with such provisions so as to avoid the tax consequences set forth in Section 409A and
to assure that no payment or benefit shall be subject to an “additional tax” under Section 409A. To the extent that any provision in
this Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A, or to the extent any provision in this Agreement must be
modified to comply with Section 409A, such provision shall be read in such a manner so that no payment due to the Executive shall
be subject to an “additional tax” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code. If necessary to comply with the
restriction in Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code concerning payments to “specified employees,” any payment on account of the
Executive’s separation from service that would otherwise be due hereunder within six (6) months after such separation shall be
delayed until the first business day of the seventh month following the date of termination of employment and the first such payment
shall include the cumulative amount of any payments (without interest) that would have been paid prior to such date if not for such
restriction. Each payment in a series of payments hereunder shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A.
In no event may the Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment. All reimbursements provided under
this Agreement shall be made or provided in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A, including, where applicable, the
requirement that (i) any reimbursement is for expenses incurred during the Executive’s lifetime (or during a shorter period of time
specified in this Agreement), (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a calendar year may not affect the
expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year, (iii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense will be made on or
before the last day of the calendar year following the year in which the expense is incurred, and (iv) the right to reimbursement is not
subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Executive shall
not be considered to have terminated employment with the Company for purposes of Sections 8.1 and 11.2 unless the Executive
would be considered to have incurred a “termination of employment” from the Company within the meaning of Treasury Regulation
§1.409A-1(h)(1)(ii). In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be
imposed on the Executive by Section 409A or damages for failing to comply with Section 409A.
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19.

280G MODIFIED CUTBACK.
(a)

If any payment, benefit or distribution of any type to or for the benefit of the Executive, whether paid or payable, provided or to
be provided, or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the
“Parachute Payments”) would subject the Executive to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise
Tax”), the Parachute Payments shall be reduced so that the maximum amount of the Parachute Payments (after reduction)
shall be one dollar ($1.00) less than the amount which would cause the Parachute Payments to be subject to the Excise Tax;
provided that the Parachute Payments shall only be reduced to the extent the after-tax value of amounts received by the
Executive after application of the above reduction would exceed the after- tax value of the amounts received without
application of such reduction. For this purpose, the after-tax value of an amount shall be determined taking into account all
federal, state, and local income, employment and excise taxes applicable to such amount. Unless the Executive shall have
given prior written notice to the Company to effectuate a reduction in the Parachute Payments if such a reduction is
required, which notice shall be consistent with the requirements of Section 409A to avoid the imputation of any tax, penalty
or interest thereunder, then the Company shall reduce or eliminate the Parachute Payments by first reducing or eliminating
accelerated vesting of stock options or similar awards, then reducing or eliminating any cash payments (with the payments
to be made furthest in the future being reduced first), then by reducing or eliminating any other remaining Parachute
Payments; provided, that no such reduction or elimination shall apply to any non-qualified deferred compensation amounts
(within the meaning of Section 409A) to the extent such reduction or elimination would accelerate or defer the timing of
such payment in a manner that does not comply with Section 409A.

(b) An initial determination as to whether (x) any of the Parachute Payments received by the Executive in connection with the
occurrence of a change in the ownership or control of the Company or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets
of the Company shall be subject to the Excise Tax, and (y) the amount of any reduction, if any, that may be required
pursuant to the previous paragraph, shall be made by an independent accounting firm selected by the Company (the
“Accounting Firm”) prior to the consummation of such change in the ownership or effective control of the Company or in
the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company. The Executive shall be furnished with notice of all
determinations made as to the Excise Tax payable with respect to the Executive’s Parachute Payments, together with the
related calculations of the Accounting Firm, promptly after such determinations and calculations have been received by the
Company.
(c)
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For purposes of this Section 19, (i) no portion of the Parachute Payments the receipt or enjoyment of which the Executive shall
have effectively waived in writing prior to the date of payment of the Parachute Payments shall be taken into account; (ii)
no portion of the Parachute Payments shall be taken into account which in the opinion of the Accounting Firm does not
constitute a “parachute payment” within

the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code; (iii) the Parachute Payments shall be reduced only to the extent necessary so
that the Parachute Payments (other than those referred to in the immediately preceding clause (i) or (ii)) in their entirety
constitute reasonable compensation for services actually rendered within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4) of the Code or are
otherwise not subject to disallowance as deductions, in the opinion of the auditor or tax counsel referred to in such clause (ii);
and (iv) the value of any non-cash benefit or any deferred payment or benefit included in the Parachute Payments shall be
determined by the Company’s independent auditors based on Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code and the regulations for
applying those sections of the Code, or on substantial authority within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Employment Agreement.
CORBUS PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS, INC.
By:
/s/ Sean Moran
Name: Sean Moran
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Dated: November 24, 2021

Brake:
By:
Name:
Title:
Dated:
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/s/ Rachael Brake
Rachael Brake
Chief Scientific Officer
November 24, 2021

Exhibit 21.1
SUSIDIARIES OF CORBUS PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS, INC.
Name of Organization

Jurisdiction

Corbus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Delaware

Corbus International Limited

United Kingdom

Corbus Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty Ltd

Australia

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. on Form S3 (No. 333-237588) and Form S8 (Nos. 333200350, 333-201898, 333-210428, 333-216547, 333-223745, 333-230219 and 333-237240) of our report dated March 8, 2022, on our audits of the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for each of the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed on or about March
8, 2022.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
EISNERAMPER LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 8, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Yuval Cohen, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financing reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a)
b)
c)
d)

5.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)
b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 8, 2022
/s/ Yuval Cohen
Yuval Cohen
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sean M. Moran, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financing reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
a.
b.
c.
d.

5.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.
b.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: March 8, 2022
/s/ Sean Moran
Sean Moran
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
This Certification is being filed pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This Certification is included solely for the
purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and is not intended to be used for any other purpose. In connection with the accompanying
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021, each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an
officer of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. that to such officer’s knowledge:
(1) The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 8, 2022

By: /s/ Yuval Cohen
Yuval Cohen
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
This Certification is being filed pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This Certification is included solely for the
purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and is not intended to be used for any other purpose. In connection with the accompanying
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021, each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an
officer of Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. that to such officer’s knowledge:
(1) The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 8, 2022

By: /s/ Sean Moran
Sean Moran
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

